







ANNUAL REPORT • 2005



To our Shareholders, Employees and Partners Worldwide,

By many objective measures, there was much to be pleased about in 2005 for Gateway shareholders, employees and partners. Together, the Gateway team achieved the company's first annual profit since 2000 by bringing out a number of strong new products and services while continuing to drive down our cost structure.

While our return to profitability was something to celebrate, this wasn't the end of Gateway's drive to regain its strong position in the worldwide PC business – it was merely the end of the beginning. Without question, we accomplished much last year. But it's equally clear we still have a long way to go. It's also clear to management that we have to continue to invest in the business in the near term in order to realize our vision for long-term growth.

Gateway's Retail and International business units are growing and performing extremely well. Gateway's Professional and Direct units however have continued to struggle throughout the past five quarters. That's unacceptable to us, and we are taking steps to change this; steps that, to be blunt, are expected to take another three to four quarters to begin to pay off.

Between now and then, we are asking our key constituencies to be patient. We believe we have a clear vision of what Gateway can become, and what we need to do in order to get there.

At the highest level, in 2006 we plan to:

- Return Gateway Direct to its successful roots as a higher-end solution provider to PC enthusiasts, which will make it a true complement to our Retail business unit. Through this strategy, Direct will once again be more strategic to our supplier partners as a means of helping pull new technology through the supply chain.
- Refocus Professional to pursue profitable growth by targeting profitable customer segments. In addition, we need to continue improving sales processes, which will improve our efficiency and drive a more appropriate cost structure in Pro.
- Implement two key U.S.-based operational centers: a dedicated assembly facility and a new Gatewaystaffed technical support center.
 - Our previously announced assembly facility will not only help our Professional and Direct sales efforts in terms of improving the sales and delivery experience, but should drive significant bottom-line improvements by reducing our cost of goods sold through use of associated vendor-managed inventory sites.
 - We are exploring establishing a best practices tech support center staffed by Gateway employees to rebuild an important direct touch point with our customers and an equally important rapid feedback loop on customer reaction to new products and services.
- Complete implementation of our key IT systems projects.
- Establish a growth plan through first quarter of next year with a set of defined milestones that shareholders can track.

As I write this note to our shareholders, I have had only eight weeks as interim CEO. Despite the fact that I have been involved in the PC industry since 1991, many people have recently felt compelled to point out to me that the business has changed significantly since I first left the company as chief operating officer in 1997. It is true that the pace of decline in unit prices, bundling of PCs and peripherals, commoditization and convergence has hastened in a decade. But it's equally true that it's always been a dog-eat-dog business, highly competitive and dominated by a couple of major players. We thrived before by managing our cost structure closely while providing excellent products and services accompanied by superior customer care. That's the same formula we will follow again now, with adaptations as necessary to reflect today's times.

On a personal note, I want also to take this opportunity to thank our shareholders, employees, and partners for their support since I assumed the role of interim CEO in February. As you read this, your Board of Directors is undertaking a broad-based search to recruit a permanent CEO. We expect to complete the search and have our permanent CEO on board by the end of summer. As I plan to remain chairman of the Board, I will make myself available to help our new CEO get up to speed as quickly as possible, as we have no time to waste.

As I have said over and over again in the past two months, Gateway retains great strength and potential for substantial growth. Our brands remain strong and well-known, especially in the consumer space. During our heyday, we were widely recognized as having high-quality, high-value products and for being the customer's friend in the business when it came to technology. We have the potential to take that position again, and have it lead to sustained growth and profitability. And with the changes we're making, I am confident we can succeed.

Thank you to everyone for your continued patience, and your continued support.

Sincerely,

Asylen

Rick Snyder Chairman of the Board of Directors and interim Chief Executive Officer, Gateway, Inc.

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from

Commission file number 1-14500

to

GATEWAY, INC.

Incorporated in Delaware

I.R.S. Employer Number 42-1249184

7565 Irvine Center Drive, Irvine, CA 92618-2930

Telephone number: (949) 471-7000

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

<u>Title of each class</u> Common Stock, par value \$.01 per share Preferred Share Purchase Rights Name of each exchange on which registered

New York Stock Exchange New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes \boxtimes No \square .

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes \Box No \boxtimes .

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports); and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes \times No \square .

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of "accelerated filer and large accelerated filer" in Rule 12b(2) of the Exchange Act. (Check one).

Large accelerated filer 🗌 Accelerated filer 🗌 Non-accelerated filer

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes \square No \boxtimes .

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant on June 30, 2005, the last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter (based on the last sale price on the New York Stock Exchange as of such date) was approximately \$922,420,000.

As of March 13, 2006 there were 372,229,940 shares of Common Stock outstanding and no shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of Gateway's Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders subsequent to the date hereof are incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K. Such Definitive Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after the Registrant's year end of December 31, 2005.

GATEWAY, INC.

FORM 10-K For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2005

Table of Contents

Page

PART I		
ITEM 1.	BUSINESS	1
ITEM 1A.	RISK FACTORS	9
ITEM 1B.	UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS	16
ITEM 2.	PROPERTIES	17
ITEM 3.	LEGAL PROCEEDINGS	17
ITEM 4.	SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS	21
PART II		
ITEM 5.	MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES	22
ITEM 6.	SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA	24
ITEM 7.	MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	25
ITEM 7A.	QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK	42
ITEM 8.	CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA	43
ITEM 9.	CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE	78
ITEM 9A	CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES	78
ITEM 9B	OTHER INFORMATION	82
PART III		
ITEM 10.	DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT	82
ITEM 11.	EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	82
ITEM 12.	SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS	82
ITEM 13.	CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS	83
ITEM 14.	PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES	83
PART IV		
ITEM 15.	EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES	84
SIGNATUR	RES	87

Forward-Looking Statements—This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in Item 7, contains forward-looking statements based on Gateway's current expectations that are subject to various risks and uncertainties, as well as assumptions that, if they do not materialize or prove incorrect, could cause our future results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical fact are statements that are or could be deemed forward-looking statements, including without limitation any statements relating to future results of operations, plans, outlook or strategies, any statements relating to execution of restructuring plans or regarding pending claims or disputes and any statements relating to future economic or industry conditions. Factors that might cause such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in "Risk Factors" in Item 1A, or that are otherwise described from time to time in our reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission after this Annual Report. Gateway assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events that occur or circumstances that may arise after the date as of which they are made.

Throughout this Annual Report we refer to Gateway, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries as "Gateway," "the company," "we," "us," and "our."

This Annual Report contains the following trademarks and service marks of Gateway which are registered: Gateway, eMachines, and the "Black-and-White Spot" Design. These and any other product or brand names of Gateway or of any other company contained herein are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective owners.

PART I

Item 1. Business

General

Gateway directly and indirectly sells its desktop and notebook computers and servers ("PCs") and PC-related products and services that are enabled by or connect with PCs to third-party retailers, consumers, businesses, government agencies and educational institutions. Gateway offers its PCs under two brand names, Gateway and eMachines, and positions each of its products on the basis of relative value for money with eMachines systems being offered at lower price points and Gateway systems with higher-end chipsets and richer features at attractive prices that represent value. PC-related products and services ("Non-PC") consist of all products and services other than the PC, such as stand-alone monitors, peripherals, software, accessories, extended warranty services, training, Internet access, enterprise system and networking products and services. Gateway was the third largest PC company in the U.S. during calendar 2005 and among the top 10 worldwide, with an estimated U.S. market share of approximately 6.1% based on units shipped, according to the most recent data from International Data Corporation.

Our strategy is to profitably grow our core PC business by leveraging our low-cost model and driving growth in our targeted business segments: Direct, Professional and Retail (including International). We plan to continue to focus on value-based products and services that serve the needs of a broad customer base.

Gateway was incorporated as "Gateway 2000 Inc." in 1986 and we changed our name to "Gateway, Inc." in 1999. On March 11, 2004, Gateway completed its acquisition of eMachines, Inc., a privately-held computer company.

Business Segments

Gateway has three major business segments: Direct, Professional, and Retail. During the second quarter of 2004 and in connection with the acquisition of eMachines, Gateway realigned its historical operating segments,

Direct (previously Consumer) and Professional and created the Retail segment, which includes our International business unit for external reporting purposes. Further information on our business segments can be found in Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Direct

Our Direct business segment is focused on selling individually customized Gateway-branded products and services as well as complementary third-party products and services directly to consumers and small business customers. We market our Direct products through television and print advertising, e-mail, direct mail, internet advertising, and our own website at *www.gateway.com*. During the fourth quarter of 2005, we began a new advertising campaign with the intent to strengthen our brand image by focusing on our award winning, industry leading products, such as Gateway's next-generation convertible notebook, and our highly recognized trademarked "Black-and-White Spot" design.

We sell our Direct products and services in the U.S. primarily through two complementary sales channels on our *www.gateway.com* website and our U.S.-based call centers (1-800-GATEWAY). In addition, we facilitate select small business customers' order management requirements through customized websites. Customers who have questions or need assistance while shopping with Gateway through our websites can contact a Gateway sales representative on-line or by calling our call center.

We believe that our diverse line of award-winning products and services, our ability to individually customize PCs with a rich assortment of complementary third-party products and services, and our sales experience which helps our customers identify the best custom solution for their computing needs, which are the bases on which we compete.

Professional

Our Professional segment's sales and marketing activities focus on our core market customers: medium-to-large businesses, educational institutions (K-12 and higher education) and government agencies (federal, state and local). We conduct sales through our Professional telephone-based and field sales teams, complemented by local, regional and national value added resellers. We also facilitate Professional segment customers' order management requirements through customized websites.

Gateway's custom integration solutions program is designed to accommodate the needs of large professional customers who require specialized hardware, software and services that are not available as a part of our standard offerings. Our custom integration solutions program accelerates technology deployment for clients through integration of unique hardware and software and development of customized services to meet the individual requirements of professional customers.

Retail

We sell our products directly to a select group of major retailers, such as consumer electronics stores, computer superstores and warehouse clubs, in addition to selling select Gateway-branded products through television shopping retailers. Our eMachines-branded products are sold exclusively through the retail channel. We sell directly through Best Buy, Circuit City, CompUSA, Costco, Office Depot, Micro Center, Staples and Wal-Mart and many others in the United States. Sales to Best Buy represented 34% of net sales in 2005 and 23% of net sales in 2004. Gateway and eMachines products are now sold in more than 7,000 retail locations in the U.S. and Canada. The retail channel has become Gateway's largest distribution channel. We participate in cooperative advertising and marketing programs with key retail customers, for which we receive marketing development funds from key suppliers to partially pay for advertising that features their brands.

International

In recent years, Gateway has expanded its international sales after having largely exited the international market in 2001 to focus on North American operations. Prior to our acquisition of eMachines, our international sales were limited to Canada and Mexico while eMachines sold its products internationally in Japan and the United Kingdom. After the eMachines acquisition, we took advantage of each company's distribution channels and implemented common supply chain management techniques and service infrastructures to expand distribution within Canada, Japan, Mexico and the United Kingdom. Gateway and eMachines products are now sold in more than 2,000 retail locations internationally, including Canada, Japan, Mexico, the United Kingdom and France.

Substantially all of our international sales are through third-party retailers and distributors. We continue to evaluate opportunities to develop and grow our international business, currently focusing on Western Europe and Asia. Approximately 7% of our net sales in 2005 and approximately 6% of our net sales in 2004 came from sales to customers outside North America, with limited sales outside of North America in 2003 (excluding eMachines which was acquired March 11, 2004). Margins on sales of Gateway products in foreign countries and on sales of products that include components obtained from foreign suppliers can be adversely affected by foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations and by international trade regulations, including tariffs and antidumping penalties.

PC Products and Servers

We offer our customers a broad line of Gateway and eMachines-branded PCs and Gateway-branded servers. We market our PCs with recommended configurations, but our customers can also configure-to-order some of our Gateway-branded PCs with a choice of microprocessors, memory, storage and optical drives, as well as other options. The following are the key products within this class:

Desktop PCs. Gateway offers a series of desktop PC products, developed to serve targeted customer segments. We offer a range of standard models for consumers under the eMachines and Gateway brands and for professional customers under the Gateway brand, with each series having a number of recommended configurations with increasing levels of technology and features. In addition, Gateway provides an all-in-one desktop, the Profile Series, in configurations targeted at both the consumer and professional markets. Customers can purchase certain models of our Gateway-branded PCs that they customize for their particular needs. Desktops represented approximately 49% of net sales in 2005 and approximately 54% of net sales in 2004.

Notebook PCs. Gateway offers a series of notebook PC products to provide mobile computing capabilities for both consumer and professional customers who operate in a mobile environment. The systems are generally available with docking stations, wireless enablement and various multimedia applications. As with desktops, notebooks have a range of standard model series, with each series having a number of recommended configurations. The systems range from convertible tablets to high-performance desktop replacement class notebooks. Notebook PCs represented approximately 31% of net sales in 2005 and approximately 22% of net sales in 2004.

Servers and Storage. Gateway also offers Gateway-branded servers and storage products for professional and small business customers. Every Gateway server has an adaptable design and can be custom built with a variety of options to fit the customer's needs. Gateway servers can be ordered in tower-based or rack-mounted configurations, with Microsoft Windows[®] operating software. Servers and storage products represented approximately 2% of net sales in 2005 and 2004.

Non-PC Products and Services

Non-PC products and services consist of all products and services other than the PC, such as stand-alone monitors, peripherals, software, accessories, extended warranty services, training, Internet access, and enterprise

system and networking products and services. Non-PC products and services represented approximately 18% of net sales in 2005 and approximately 23% of net sales in 2004.

Peripherals, Stand-Alone Monitors, Software and Other PC-Related Products. We market stand-alone monitors, printers, projectors, computer memory, scanners, PC accessories, CD and DVD burners, storage devices, surge protectors, and other PC accessories that are manufactured by leading companies in their respective markets. Gateway also offers a complete line of thin film transistor and cathode ray tube monitors ranging in size from 15- to 21-inches. The monitors are sold with desktop PCs through Gateway's channels and are also available for stand-alone purchase. We offer a limited number of Non-PC products under the Gateway brand. In addition, we market a broad range of third-party software offerings, from entertainment and productivity applications for the consumer market to vertical applications for various segments of the commercial and institutional markets. Peripherals, software and other PC-related products are sold in our Direct and Professional segments, including at our website at *www.gateway.com*.

Consumer Services Support. In our Direct segment and to a limited extent our Retail segment, we offer value added, fee-based service and support consisting of extended service plans, including extended warranty and accidental damage programs sold on behalf of third party service providers, and learning and tutorial services. Technical support services are offered to customers in all segments.

Professional Services Support. In our Professional segment, our value added service and support offerings are designed to satisfy the needs of businesses throughout the technology lifecycle. Gateway utilizes a network of third-party providers who work with our professional sales force to deliver localized consultation and integration services to business, education and government customers in essentially all the top markets across the United States. For this segment, we offer:

- Technology planning services, such as on-site consultation and network design services;
- Implementation services, such as custom installation and imaging, asset tagging, and hardware and network installation;
- Productivity services, such as customized learning solutions, network and application support, and custom helpdesk solutions;
- · Maintenance services, such as on-site and advanced exchange services; and
- End of life services, such as data migration, deinstallation and asset recovery services.

Multi-Channel Delivery. We deliver customer service and support at the customer's location, at third-party locations and via telephone and the web. Gateway believes the availability of services through multiple channels benefits customers by providing them with a range of service options. Substantially all support services are provided by a variety of third-party vendors.

Financing Programs. We partner with third-party financing institutions that provide financing to our Direct and Professional customers for the purchase or lease of our products.

Cooperative Product Development

The PC industry is characterized by rapid technological advances. Our ability to compete successfully is heavily dependent upon our ability to ensure a continuing and timely flow of competitive products and technology to the marketplace. Our focus is primarily on coordinating and leveraging the development activities of a number of key technology partners, original design manufacturers and product or component providers. Our product development efforts are focused on designing and developing competitively priced PC systems and certain Non-PC products that adhere to industry standards and incorporate the technologies and features that we believe are most desired by our customers.

We rely on cooperative relationships with a range of suppliers and other technology developers for engineering, product development and production support in the fulfillment of our desktop and notebook computer and server product lines. Working with these companies, our engineers manage quality, integrate technologies and design product and system architecture. We believe that these relationships, together with market information obtained from our customer relationships, allow us to rapidly introduce and deliver appealing new products, software and services to the marketplace.

Manufacturing

Gateway's product needs are fulfilled through original design manufacturing and distribution relationships in Asia, Europe, Mexico and the United States to meet the needs of our key market segments. Our manufacturing and distribution supply base operates under Gateway-specific work instructions and quality metrics to assure product integrity and the functional specifications and quality of the Gateway product offering. In addition, our engineering and quality assurance teams help ensure that our products meet our specifications and applicable regulatory requirements.

To better serve our Professional and Direct customers, we plan to open a Gateway dedicated U.S. final assembly facility in 2006. We will assemble configure-to-order desktops, notebooks and servers according to customer specifications at this facility, as well as provide custom imaging services and government compliance certification. This new facility is expected to increase our ability to serve our Professional and Direct customers and improve our cost efficiency.

Our product related processes have been assessed and certified as meeting the requirements of the International Organization for Standardization ("ISO") 9001-2000. The ISO 9001-2000 certification recognizes Gateway's compliance with international standards for quality assurance. In addition to our internal processes, we work closely with our major original design manufacturers to be ISO 9001-2000 certified.

Patents, Trademarks and Licenses

Gateway, including AD Technologies LLC (formerly known as Amiga Development LLC), have approximately 400 U.S. patents and a number of related foreign patents, and Gateway has a significant number of pending U.S. and foreign patent applications. Gateway has a majority equity interest in AD Technologies LLC, a holding company for intellectual property, controlled by Gateway's former Chairman of the Board. A majority of the patents in our portfolio were issued in the last five years. Our patent strategy focuses on building a broad portfolio of patents in the areas of computer related and information processing technologies, consumer electronics and manufacturing processes for defensive purposes. Generally, our products incorporate industry standard technology rather than proprietary technology we develop. Trade secrets developed by us are protected through formal procedures that include employee agreements and confidentiality agreements with other entities.

We own and use a number of trademarks, brands and service marks on or in connection with our products and services, including Gateway, eMachines and our "Black-and-White Spot" design, among others. Many of these trademarks are registered in the United States and other countries, and numerous trademark applications are pending in the United States and other countries. We believe these trademarks have strong brand name recognition in the United States marketplace and in many countries throughout the world.

We also license technologies and software from third parties for integration into our products. Some of these technologies are industry standard technologies which are licensed by many of our competitors. In addition, new and existing companies are increasingly engaging in the business of acquiring or developing patents to assert offensively against companies such as us, and some of our direct and indirect competitors seek to license their technology. As a result, we may incur license costs that our competitors do not incur. We generally do not own

the software used on our PCs and have entered into software licensing arrangements with a number of software developers, including Microsoft Corporation for Windows[®] and Microsoft Office software products, among others. Software and materials developed by Gateway are protected by copyright in the United States and internationally.

Competition

The PC industry is characterized by a handful of large branded and numerous smaller branded and generic competitors, aggressive pricing, short product life cycles, and price sensitivity by customers. The level of pricing aggressiveness continues to be intense, particularly in the low-price end of the market. In addition, many of our current and potential partners, including original design manufacturers, design, manufacture and often market their products under their own or third-party brand names. Many of our competitors are larger and better funded than we are.

Our primary competitors in the PC area are Dell Inc., Hewlett-Packard Company, Apple Computer Inc., Lenovo Group Limited, Sony Corporation, and Toshiba Corporation. In particular regions and outside of the U. S., we experience competition from companies such as Acer Inc., Fujitsu Limited and Packard Bell. We also face competition from generically-branded or "white box" manufacturers.

We compete primarily on the basis of customer satisfaction, price, product value, technology, product offerings with innovative performance features, quality, reliability, brand recognition, customer service and support and by maintaining strategic supplier relationships that enable us to bring products to market quickly.

In recent years, we and many of our competitors have regularly lowered prices. We expect these competitive pressures to continue in 2006 and that average sales prices for PCs and Non-PC products will continue to decline.

Environment

Certain of our operations involve the use of substances regulated under various federal, state and international laws governing the environment, including those governing the discharge of pollutants into the soil, air and water, the management and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes, and the cleanup of contaminated sites. Certain of our products are subject to various federal, state and international laws governing chemical substances in products, including those regulating the manufacture and distribution of chemical substances and those restricting the presence of certain substances in electronics products. We also face increasing complexity in our product design, procurement and operations as we adjust to new and upcoming requirements relating to the composition of our products, including restrictions on the use of lead and other substances in electronics that will apply to products sold in the European Union after July 1, 2006. In addition, we are subject to costs and liabilities in connection with product take-back legislation in certain jurisdictions that impose financial responsibility on producers of electrical goods for specified collection, recycling, treatment and disposal of covered products. The liability for environmental remediation and other environmental costs is accrued when it is considered probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated. Gateway currently has an incentive program to encourage our PC customers to recycle or donate their old PCs and monitors, regardless of brand, and we are working with our original design manufacturers and suppliers to reduce the use of hazardous substances in our products. Environmental costs are presently not material to our operations or financial position; however, such costs may become material in the future as compliance obligations continue to increase.

Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately 1,800 employees, a reduction from approximately 1,900 employees as of December 31, 2004 and from 7,400 employees as of December 31, 2003, substantially all of whom are located in the United States. We believe we have generally good relationships with our employees.

Backlog

The backlog of unfilled orders was approximately \$73 million at year-end 2005 and approximately \$78 million at year-end 2004. We do not believe that backlog is a meaningful indicator of sales that can be expected for any period. There can be no assurance that the backlog at any point in time will translate into sales in any subsequent period, particularly in light of our policy, under certain circumstances to allow customers to cancel or reschedule orders.

Seasonality

Retail sales predominantly follow consumer seasonality patterns. Historically revenues in the Retail segment are seasonally higher during the second half of the year. In addition, Gateway's Professional sales are traditionally stronger in the second and third quarters. However, these patterns are subject to overall general economic market conditions, large bulk buys and technology transitions.

Available Information

You can access additional information about Gateway and our products and services at *www.gateway.com* and *www.emachines.com*. You can also access our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to these reports, free of charge, on our website at *www.gateway.com*, after we file the reports with or furnish them to the Securities and Exchange Commission. Gateway will also provide these reports in printed form to any stockholder who requests them from Gateway. The information on our website is not incorporated into this annual report.

The SEC also maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers, such as we, that file electronically with the SEC. The SEC's Internet website is located at *www.sec.gov*.

Corporate Governance

Our Board of Directors is elected by Gateway's stockholders and is responsible for directing the management of business and affairs of Gateway. Our Chief Executive Officer and senior management run Gateway's day-to-day business operations. Our Board has adopted formal Corporate Governance Guidelines which are accessible through *www.gateway.com* and will be provided in printed form to any stockholder who requests a copy from Gateway. The guidelines provide that the principal responsibilities of our Board, in addition to its general oversight responsibilities, include the: (a) selection, evaluation and compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and oversight of the selection and compensation of Gateway's senior executive management; (b) oversight of succession plans for our Chief Executive Officer and key executive positions; (c) review and evaluation and, as appropriate, approval of Gateway's financial and business performance, operations, key objectives, strategies, plans and actions; and (d) review of the processes in place to ensure the integrity of Gateway's financial, accounting and control systems and the accounting principles and practices used to prepare the financial statements.

Our current Board consists of seven directors, six of whom are independent directors under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange. Our other director is our Chairman of the Board, Richard D. Snyder, who assumed the role of interim Chief Executive Officer when Wayne R. Inouye resigned from such position on February 8, 2006. In addition, as required by New York Stock Exchange rules, our Board of Directors has affirmatively determined that each independent director has no material relationship with Gateway (directly or as a partner, stockholder, or officer of any organization that has a relationship with Gateway). The Board meets in regularly scheduled meetings as well as in special meetings. All independent directors meet without management present during each regularly scheduled Board meeting, with a designated independent Board member chairing that segment of the meeting.

Our Board has delegated a number of responsibilities to various committees of the Board. At the present time, the Board Committees are the Audit, Compensation, and Corporate Governance and Nominating Committees. The members of each committee are appointed by the Board. Currently, each committee consists entirely of independent directors. Each committee meets on a regularly scheduled basis and operates under a written charter approved by the Board, all of which are available at *www.gateway.com* and will be provided in printed form to any stockholder who requests a copy from Gateway.

Our independent Audit Committee represents the Board in its general oversight of Gateway's financial reporting, internal controls and audit functions. The Audit Committee is also directly responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of the work of Gateway's independent registered public accounting firm. For both 2004 and 2005, Deloitte & Touche LLP was appointed the independent registered public accounting firm of Gateway. This appointment was also ratified by Gateway's stockholders. The Audit Committee has again appointed Deloitte & Touche LLP as Gateway's independent registered public accounting firm for 2006, subject to stockholder approval. The Audit Committee also pre-approves any non-audit services by the independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee meets regularly in separate sessions with senior management, internal audit staff and Gateway's independent registered public accounting firm.

Our independent Compensation Committee reviews and approves salaries, bonuses and other compensation for our Chief Executive Officer and other senior executive management. In addition, the Compensation Committee administers our 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, including reviewing and granting equity awards to officers and other employees.

Our independent Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee reviews and reports to the Board concerning corporate governance matters, conducts an annual evaluation of the performance of the Board, and reviews and reassesses the adequacy of the Corporate Governance Guidelines. In addition, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee recommends to the Board the size and composition of the Board and establishes procedures for consideration of candidates for the Board and recommends specific candidates for election to the Board.

As part of our corporate governance practices, we maintain a Code of Ethics that is applicable to all employees, including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Principal Accounting Officer and Controller, and our Board of Directors. We provide ethics training to new employees when they are hired and to existing employees periodically. An Ethics Council, consisting of senior executive officers appointed by the Board, reviews reported ethical issues, including complaints through Gateway's confidential ethics hotline. The Council advises the Audit Committee with respect to ethical matters. The Audit Committee must evaluate actual or potential waivers of conflicts-of-interest for all executive officers and directors and make recommendations to the Board concerning any action to be taken. The Board conducts an annual review of the Code of Ethics. Our Code of Ethics is available at *www.gateway.com* and will be provided in printed form to any stockholder who requests it from Gateway.

In addition, stock ownership guidelines have been established for our directors and senior executive officers to better ensure that they each maintain an equity stake in Gateway, and by doing so appropriately link their interests with those of the other stockholders. The Board guidelines provide that, directors are required to hold Gateway common stock equal to the lesser of (a) the number of shares having a value of three (3) times the Board member's annual cash retainer, and (b) the number of unrestricted shares granted to the director during the preceding six (6) years. The executive officer guidelines provide that, absent unusual personal circumstances, Gateway's Chief Executive Officer and each Senior Vice President should retain 30 percent of all after tax profit shares from stock options exercised and stock grants (restricted or otherwise) for at least 3 years (from exercise or vesting date) *unless* the value of his or her ownership in Gateway securities exceeds five (5) times the base salary for the Chief Executive Officer or two and a half (2.5) times the base salary for Senior Vice Presidents.

We continue to evaluate our corporate governance practices in light of best practices and changing regulatory requirements and anticipate additional changes as necessary or appropriate. In 2005, we filed with the New York Stock Exchange an executed certification from our then Chief Executive Officer stating that he is not aware of any violation by Gateway of the New York Stock Exchange's corporate governance rules with respect to the 2004 fiscal year.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to other information contained in this Annual Report, the following factors could affect our future business, results of operations, cash flows or financial position, and could cause future results to differ materially from those expressed in any of the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report.

The PC industry is extremely competitive and pricing pressures have reduced our gross margins and challenge our ability to maintain profitability.

Consolidation in the PC industry has resulted in larger and stronger competitors in many of our markets and we continue to experience increased competition in the PC industry in certain of our business segments. We compete primarily on the basis of customer satisfaction, price, product value, technology, product offerings with innovative performance features, quality, reliability, brand recognition, customer service and support, and by maintaining strategic supplier relationships that enable us to bring products to market quickly. We expect these competitive pressures to continue into the foreseeable future, including the reduction of average unit prices in Retail. We also expect that average sales prices of our PCs will continue to decline, although this may be partially offset by an increased product mix of relatively higher priced notebook PCs, Gateway branded PCs in Retail and liquid crystal display monitors. If we continue to reduce PC prices in response to competition we may be unable to maintain or improve gross margins through cost reductions or offsetting sales of higher margin Non-PC products. Our overall gross margin as a percentage of sales has declined due to our shift in overall distribution to third party retail and competitive pressures. To the extent we are unable to maintain or grow our revenues and market share and maintain or improve our gross margins, our business prospects and financial condition would be adversely affected.

Reliance upon third-party patents and intellectual property licensing could limit our ability to innovate and exposes us to actual and potential litigation.

There is no assurance that we will continue to have access to existing or new third-party technology for use in our products. While it may be necessary in the future to seek or renew licenses relating to various aspects of our products and business methods, we believe that based upon past experience and industry practice, such licenses generally can be obtained on commercially reasonable terms. However, there is no assurance that the necessary licenses would be available on acceptable terms. If we or our suppliers are unable to obtain such licenses, we may be forced to market products without certain desirable technological features. We could also incur substantial costs to redesign our products around other parties' protected technology.

Because of technological changes in the PC industry and the convergence of PCs with Non-PC products, current extensive patent coverage, and the rapid rate of issuance of new patents, it is possible certain components of our products and business methods may unknowingly infringe upon existing patents of others. For example, we are a party to various lawsuits and claims, including assertions of patent infringements and intellectual property-related administrative proceedings that arise in connection with our business. Although intellectual property-related lawsuits and claims have not historically had a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, operating results or cash flows, we cannot predict the outcome of these matters with certainty. Some of these lawsuits allege substantial damages and also seek injunctive relief to stop us from selling products alleged to infringe patents of others. If such relief was granted or substantial damages were incurred, our business and results of operations would be materially adversely affected. In addition, responding to such claims, regardless of their merit, is time consuming, results in significant expenses, and diverts the attention of management and technical personnel.

We attempt to transfer the risk of inadvertent patent infringement to our original design manufacturers and suppliers via contract. We are not always successful in contractually transferring such risk to our original design manufacturers and suppliers, and even when we do so we may be unable to enforce their obligations or they may be unable to adequately defend any patent infringement claims against our PCs and Gateway-branded Non-PC products. If we are unable to impose upon our original design manufacturers and suppliers the costs of patent infringement claims, our future operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

Because one customer accounts for a substantial portion of our revenues, the loss of this customer would cause a significant decline in our revenues.

A single customer, Best Buy, accounted for approximately 34% of total revenues for 2005, up from 23% of total revenues for 2004, and is expected to continue to be a significant customer in the future. Although we work to expand and diversify our customer base, reductions or terminations of product purchases by, or pricing pressures from, this customer or other major third-party retailers without an offsetting increase in new sales to other customers, would result in a substantial decline in our revenue and operating results.

Failure to develop and maintain relationships with several key third-party retailers could adversely affect sales.

Our products are sold primarily through direct channels and third-party retail partners. Third-party retail sales have expanded significantly since early 2004. We expect a substantial portion of our future sales will be to a small number of key third-party retailers. Additionally, third-party retailer orders may vary considerably from quarter to quarter. If the financial condition of these retailers weakens or if they were to cease or significantly reduce the distribution of our products, Gateway's business and financial results could be adversely affected. If significant variability is experienced, Gateway's business and financial results for a particular quarter could be adversely affected. In addition, failure to foster and maintain strategic relationships with these retailers and find a balance between direct sales and third-party retail sales could have a significant adverse impact on our revenues and operating results.

If we fail to attract new customers, retain our existing customers and/or replace revenues associated with our higher-margin service revenues, our operating results will be adversely impacted.

The success of our business depends on increasing the overall number of customer transactions in a costeffective manner. To do this, we must attract new and repeat customers through our various marketing channels, including our website, our telephone call centers, our professional sales force and our third-party retail partners, and then convert these interactions into sales transactions. Our reduced marketing expenditures have contributed to reduced demand within our Direct and Professional segments and our ability to successfully bid on future public sector business could be negatively impacted if we fail to perform under any of our existing public sector contracts. Furthermore, some of our third-party retail partners sell or may sell private label PCs at competitive prices. These sales have the potential to adversely affect our market share. In addition, a portion of Gateway's revenue and profit is derived from higher-margin Internet access services and extended warranties sold in prior periods and recognized over time under our revenue recognition policy, which we expect to decline in the future. If we do not achieve increased transaction volume, or replace our higher margin service revenues with alternative sources of profit margin, our ability to grow and maintain profitability will be adversely impacted.

Information technology systems integration issues could disrupt our internal operations, which could have significant adverse effects on our profitability.

We are implementing a new enterprise resource planning system, as well as order capture and customer service applications, and continue to develop and modify certain of our other systems. We have experienced development and implementation delays with certain projects, and we may experience interruptions in availability of portions of our information technology infrastructure, additional delays in development and implementation, or unanticipated system errors. We may not be successful in implementing these new systems, and transitioning data and other aspects of the process could be expensive, time consuming and disruptive. Any disruptions that may occur in the implementation of these new systems or any future systems could adversely

affect our ability to report in an accurate and timely manner the results of our financial operations and otherwise efficiently operate our business, which could have significant adverse effects on our profitability.

We are dependent on manufacturing and services provided by a limited number of third parties and failure to properly manage these relationships could significantly impact our results of operations.

We are dependent upon third-party providers of manufacturing and support services. We currently outsource all of our manufacturing operations, a significant portion of our service and support functions, and some administrative and operational services to third-party providers under contract. One of the third-party providers of service and support functions is partly-owned by Gateway and controlled by a former executive officer of Gateway. Although we have partnered with certain vendors, we have no assurance that business interruptions will not occur or that these third parties will meet the needs of our business. If we are unable to properly manage our relationships with these third-party providers or accurately forecast our demand requirements for them, our revenues and gross margins may be adversely affected. Similarly, if our third-party providers do not comply with their contractual obligations, our results of operations could be adversely impacted.

We require a high volume of quality products and components for our PC and Non-PC offerings, substantially all of which are obtained from a limited number of original design manufacturers and suppliers. In some circumstances we maintain single or dual-source vendor relationships, such as with Microsoft for operating system products and Intel and AMD for PC microprocessors. There currently is a lawsuit between AMD and Intel, the outcome of which could impact our results of operations. If the supply of a key material product or component were delayed or curtailed, our ability to ship the related product in a timely and cost-effective manner could be adversely affected. We seek to mitigate a portion of these risks in some cases by maintaining insurance to protect ourselves against loss of profits due to a vendor's inability to perform due to an insurable property loss. In addition, we seek to mitigate such risks by having dual sources of supply where appropriate and by using reputable and reliable vendors. However, even where multiple vendors are available, we may source from a single vendor to take advantage of volume discounts, for product technical characteristics or quality reasons, or to maintain access to certain key components that are at times subject to industry-wide availability and pricing pressures. In cases where we need to switch to another original design manufacturer or supplier and alternative sources of supply are available, qualification of the sources and establishment of reliable new or additional production with such original design manufacturers or suppliers could result in delays and possible reductions in net sales. We also receive market development funding from a few of these suppliers. If the amount of market development funding were to significantly decline, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

To minimize some of these risks, we monitor the financial status of certain key original design manufacturers, suppliers and service providers and assess the likelihood of disruption to the supply of products, components, or services. Certain of our commercial partners currently are financially weak, and we have established contingency plans to mitigate our financial and operating exposure. However, such plans for any key commercial partner that experiences financial instability may not prevent delays or curtailments of deliveries of key products, components or services, or eliminate our financial exposure to future costs such as warranty claims or the write-off of receivables from the re-sale of component raw materials to select original design manufacturers, which could adversely affect our future operating results and financial condition.

In addition, industry consolidation impacts our supply chain and many of our competitors obtain products or components from the same original design manufacturers and suppliers that we utilize. Our competitors may obtain better pricing and other terms, more favorable allocations of products and components during periods of limited supply, and could limit our ability to engage in relationships with certain original design manufacturers and suppliers. In addition, certain of our original design manufacturers and suppliers could decide in the future to not continue conducting business with us. Any of these actions by our competitors, original design manufacturers or suppliers could adversely affect our future operating results and financial condition.

Our plans to open a final assembly facility exposes us to financial and operational risk.

To better serve our Professional and Direct customers, we plan to open a Gateway dedicated U.S. final assembly facility in 2006. We will assemble configure-to-order desktops, notebooks and servers according to customer specifications at this facility, as well as provide custom imaging services and government compliance certification. This new facility is expected to increase our ability to serve our Professional and Direct customers and improve our cost efficiency. The facility will, however, increase our fixed costs, require us to implement additional systems and controls, and require additional management oversight and expertise. Should any of these costs and requirements escalate, our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

Our reliance on original design manufacturers or suppliers of key products and components exposes us to potential product quality issues and unanticipated warranty costs that could affect the on-time delivery and performance of our products and services.

While outsourcing arrangements may lower our product and operating costs, they also reduce our direct control over production and distribution. If we are unable to ship our products in desired quantities and in a timely manner due to a delay or curtailment of the supply of material products or components, or product quality issues arise due to faulty products or components manufactured by original design manufacturers or suppliers, the market for our products or services could be adversely affected with a resulting reduction in revenues. Our estimated warranty and extended warranty costs are affected by ongoing product failure rates and specific product class failures. If product failure rates, material usage or service delivery costs exceed our estimates due to faulty products or components manufactured by original design manufacturers or suppliers, warranty expenses may increase. In many instances we rely on offshore suppliers, particularly from Asia, for product assembly and manufacturing, and risks associated with transportation, including timely delivery to our primary ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach, California, and other natural or human factors may disrupt the flow of product. If for any reason manufacturing or logistics in any of these locations or the subsequent transportation to the U.S. or other customer locations were disrupted by economic, business, environmental, political, medical, military or terrorist events, Gateway's operations and financial condition could be adversely affected. In addition, we may experience production and financial difficulties if any of our significant original design manufacturers or suppliers suffer financial instability. This includes our likely inability to obtain reimbursement for prepaid warranty costs from certain original design manufacturers, should their financial condition deteriorate. Should such original design manufacturers or suppliers fail to either produce or deliver products as scheduled or to provide prepaid warranty coverage, our operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.

Failure to develop and introduce new and technologically advanced products in an industry characterized by short product life cycles could adversely affect our growth and efforts to sustain profitability.

Our business model depends on bringing new and innovative products to market quickly. The success of our product introductions depends on many factors including the availability of new products, successful quality control and launch readiness efforts, our ability to successfully forecast product demand, training of sales and support personnel, and customer acceptance of new technology. In addition, the introduction of certain new technologies, such as the upcoming Microsoft Windows[®] VistaTM operating system, presents us with uncertainties regarding the speed of customer acceptance and the related forecasting of customer demand. If we are unable to successfully forecast demand for new products, we may not properly manage our inventory levels and may have increased exposure to supply shortages, product obsolescence and other supply-related risks.

Short product life cycles resulting from rapid changes in technology and consumer preferences and declining product prices characterize the PC industry and Non-PC products. Our internal engineering personnel work closely with product and component suppliers and other technology developers to evaluate the latest developments in PC and Non-PC products. There is no assurance that we will continue to have access to or the right to use new technology, or be successful incorporating such new technology in our products in a timely manner.

The failure to properly manage inventory could result in material losses.

By distributing many of our products directly to our customers prior to our acquisition of eMachines, we historically avoided the need to maintain high levels of finished goods inventory. This minimized costs and allowed us to respond more quickly to changing customer demands and reduced our exposure to the risk of finished product obsolescence. As we increase sales volume into third-party retail channels, managing our inventory effectively has become increasingly important. Third-party retailers may quickly increase orders during periods of product shortages, cancel orders if their inventory is too high, or delay orders in anticipation of new products. Orders also may be adjusted in response to the supply of our competitors' products and seasonal fluctuations in end-user demand. In addition, we maintain certain component products in inventory. If we are not successful in forecasting component or product demand, we could have excess or insufficient inventory of certain components or products and any excess inventory may result in reduced prices and inventory write- downs, which in turn could result in lower gross margins. A decrease in market demand or a decision to increase supply, among other factors, could result in higher finished goods and component inventory levels, and a decrease in value of this inventory could have a negative effect on our results of operations. Although we believe our inventory and related reserve provisions are adequate, given the rapid and unpredictable pace of product obsolescence in the PC industry, no assurance can be given that we will not incur significant additional inventory and related charges. In addition, by purchasing component parts on behalf of original design manufacturers, we have increased our credit risk with these original design manufacturers.

The failure to attract, retain and motivate key personnel could have a significant near-term adverse impact on our operations.

Our ability to attract, retain and motivate employees and maintain employee morale has been adversely impacted by a number of factors, including workforce reductions, the closure of facilities and a competitive PC business environment. We have experienced, and may continue to experience, turnover in senior management and in the general workforce. Most recently, our former Chief Executive Officer resigned on February 8, 2006 and our Chairman of the Board, Richard D. Snyder, assumed the role of interim Chief Executive Officer. Based on past experiences with other companies, these transitions, including the transition from an interim to a permanent Chief Executive Officer, may be a distraction to senior management, business operations, commercial partners and customers. Turnover, particularly among senior management, can also create distractions as we search for replacement personnel, which could result in significant recruiting, relocation, training and other costs, and can cause operational inefficiencies as replacement personnel become familiar with our business and operations. In addition, manpower in certain areas may be constrained, which could lead to disruptions over time. There can be no assurance that we will continue to successfully attract or retain the management we need, or be able to maintain an optimal workforce size. Any inability to attract, retain or motivate such personnel or address manpower constraints as needed could materially adversely affect our future operating results and financial condition.

We have outsourced operations in countries outside of the U.S. and changes in the political environment, economic policies and other factors within those countries or the U.S. could adversely affect our business.

We have outsourced a substantial portion of our manufacturing operations to countries in Asia and Eastern Europe and to Mexico. A change in these countries' economic liberalization and deregulation policies could adversely affect business and economic conditions in the affected country generally and could negatively impact the cost-saving benefits of our outsourced operations overseas. While our contract obligations are typically in U.S. dollars, changes in currency exchange rates could impact our suppliers and increase our prices. In particular, the recent change in the Chinese yuan to United States dollar exchange rate, or any future changes, could increase our costs for products and components sourced from China. Any political instability could also change the present satisfactory legal environment for us through the imposition of restrictions on foreign ownership, repatriation of funds, adverse labor laws, and the like. Further, risks associated with transportation and other natural or human factors, including disease epidemics, may disrupt operations in and the flow of products from certain countries. We also have outsourced workers in countries outside of the U.S. in technical support call

centers, repair centers, and refurbishment centers. These outsourced operations present us with similar economic and political risks. The political climate in the U.S. also could change so that it would not be practical for us to use international operational and manufacturing centers. This could adversely affect our ability to maintain or create low-cost operations outside the U.S.

Environmental laws and regulations and unforeseen costs could impact our future earnings.

Production and marketing of products in certain states and countries may subject Gateway to environmental and other regulations. We also could face significant costs and liabilities in connection with product take-back legislation, which provides customers the ability to return product at the end of its useful life and places financial and other responsibility for environmentally safe collection, recycling, treatment and disposal with Gateway. We also face increasing complexity in our product design and procurement and operations as we adjust to new and upcoming requirements relating to the materials composition of our products, including the restrictions on lead and certain other substances in electronics that will apply to specified electronics products put on the market in the European Union as of July 1, 2006 (Restriction of Hazardous Substances (ROHS)). The European Union has also finalized the Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment Directive, which makes producers of electrical goods, including computers and printers, financially responsible for specified collection, recycling, treatment and disposal of past and future covered products. There is substantial complexity associated with compliance with these new regulations and the costs of implementation are not easily quantifiable. Compliance also necessitates our reliance on the representations made by suppliers as to material composition; while such representations are believed to be accurate, we could face significant costs and liabilities if the representations prove to not be accurate. Furthermore, we must rely on our suppliers' ability to respond to environmental requirements with compliant products and documentation in a timely manner.

Similar laws and regulations have been or may be enacted in other states and countries. Other environmental regulations may require Gateway to reengineer its products to utilize components which are more environmentally compatible and such reengineering and component substitution may result in additional costs to Gateway. Although Gateway does not anticipate any material adverse effects based on the nature of our operations and the effect of such laws, there is no assurance that such existing laws or future laws will not have a material adverse effect on Gateway.

With the shift to third-party retail, we are increasingly subject to seasonality which can make it difficult to forecast results of operations and anticipate near term developments.

Gateway's revenues and operating margins vary among products, distribution channels and the seasonal buying habits of our customers. Historically revenues in the Retail segment are seasonally higher during the second half of the year, and Professional segment revenues are seasonally higher in the second and third quarters. Consequently, the overall operating margins of Gateway in any given period will depend, in part, on the product, geographic and channel mix reflected in that period's net sales, as well as seasonality factors related to the time of the year. In addition, we typically experience an increase in sales activity near quarter-end. Developments late in a quarter, such as lower-than-anticipated demand for Gateway's products or late arriving components and scheduling/production delays at our manufacturing or logistics partners, fluctuations in product, geographic and channel mix, and the effect of seasonality on our sales and operating margins can have significant adverse impacts on Gateway and our results of operations and financial condition for a given reporting period.

Expansion into international markets exposes us to increased risks.

Gateway has expanded sales of PCs and certain Non-PC products into international markets. While Gateway previously sold PCs in international markets and eMachines has been selling in international markets for several years, there can be no assurance that such markets will accept Gateway PCs and Non-PC products to the extent we expect. International sales are subject to certain inherent risks including unexpected changes in regulatory requirements and tariffs, including antidumping penalties, risks in hedging for foreign currency fluctuations for

non-U.S. dollar sales, difficulties in managing foreign operations, legal remedies that can affect accounts receivable collection and potentially adverse tax consequences. In addition, given that our products in international markets are sold primarily through a small number of third-party retail partners, Gateway's business and financial results could be adversely affected if the financial condition of any of these retailers weakens or if they were to cease or significantly reduce the distribution of our products. For those international sales denominated in U.S. dollars, any strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to the currencies of other countries into which we sell our products and services could make our products and services more expensive, thereby reducing the price-competitiveness of our products. Should any of these difficulties arise, our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

War, terrorist acts and other political and economic uncertainties may adversely affect our operating results.

War and the related political and economic uncertainties, terrorist attacks, national and international responses to terrorist attacks, and other acts of hostility could materially adversely affect demand for our products and disrupt our supply chain or customer fulfillment logistics or operations, resulting in an adverse impact on our future operating results and financial condition.

If we cannot sustain our recent profitability and we incur significant net losses or negative cash flows, the business could fail.

We experienced net losses in the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 of \$515 million and \$568 million, respectively. While we reported net income of \$6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, approximately \$40.5 million was attributable to the Marketing, Development and Settlement Agreement with Microsoft, and we cannot guarantee that our profitability will continue. Additional significant net losses would materially adversely affect Gateway's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our cash and marketable securities balances have declined since the first quarter of 2004 from historically higher levels due to the eMachines acquisition, restructuring our company, working capital usage in support of expanding our Retail business, and other operating, investing and financing activities. While our cash and marketable securities balances did not change materially from December 31, 2004 to December 31, 2005, we may be unable to generate positive cash flow, which would result in declining cash and marketable securities balances. While we believe we will have sufficient cash and financial flexibility to meet our operational cash needs, if we are unable to maintain sufficient liquidity, our future results of operations and financial condition would be adversely impacted.

Public perception regarding Internet security and online privacy could adversely affect our revenues and fraudulent customer activities perpetrated online could result in losses.

Customer concerns over the security of transactions conducted on the Internet or the privacy of user information may inhibit the growth of our web sales. To securely transmit confidential information, such as customer credit card numbers, we rely on encryption and authentication technology. Unanticipated events or developments could result in a compromise or breach of the systems we use to protect customer transaction data. Furthermore, our information systems infrastructure and that of our service providers may be vulnerable to viruses, other harmful code or harmful activity transmitted over the Internet. While we proactively search and protect against intrusions into our infrastructure, a virus, other harmful code or harmful activity could cause a service disruption.

Even though historical losses related to fraudulent customer activities have been minimal, we bear some of the financial risk from products or services purchased through fraudulent payment methods. We have implemented a number of anti-fraud measures, but a failure to adequately control fraudulent methods of payment could adversely affect our operations and financial results.

Failure to accurately estimate and monitor our rebate-redemption rates could significantly impact results of operations.

From time to time we offer product rebates on purchases of certain of our PCs and Non-PC products. We use historical data to assist us in determining the percentage of customers who will claim these product rebates. We must estimate future product rebate redemptions to price our products effectively. If we experience an unexpected increase in rebate redemption rates, then the effective average selling price of our products would be reduced below the level we anticipated and our net revenues and gross margins would decline, thereby adversely impacting our results of operations. Further, to the extent customers do not cash product rebate checks, we could be liable to pay unclaimed funds to certain states, including amounts attributable to prior periods.

A substantial portion of our services and support offerings, including customer care, is provided by thirdparty service providers and we could experience additional costs and/or declines in customer satisfaction levels if we are unable to properly monitor and manage such providers.

We have consolidated our service and support providers and rely on such providers to supply warranty repairs and other support offerings, including customer and tech-support services, to our customers. While such providers are required to maintain certain service levels, there can be no guarantee that such companies will provide our customers with the same high-level of service we otherwise would provide ourselves, which could result in additional corrective costs, lower customer satisfaction levels and declines in customer demand.

If we do not maintain our reputation and expand our name recognition, we may lose customers which would adversely impact our financial results.

Developing and maintaining awareness of our Gateway and eMachines brand names is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our PC and Non-PC offerings. Promotion and enhancement of our brand will depend largely on whether we cost-effectively provide reliable and desirable products and services to customers and the effectiveness of our marketing efforts. Currently, third-party retailers are often our first points of contact with consumers and these retailers provide much of our product advertising as we have reduced our internal spending on marketing. If these retailers reduce or cease advertising our products, we may need to increase our own sales and marketing expenses to create and maintain brand awareness among potential consumers. If customers do not perceive our products to be of high quality, our brand names and reputation could be harmed, which could adversely impact our financial results.

Recent changes in accounting for equity compensation will adversely affect earnings and could affect our ability to attract and retain key employees.

Historically, we have used stock options as a component of our employee compensation program in order to align employees' interests with those of our stockholders, encourage retention, and provide competitive compensation packages. In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS Number 123-R, which requires companies to record a charge to earnings for the fair value of employee stock option grants and other equity incentives, effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 31, 2005. Although we accelerated the vesting of all stock options that had exercise prices in excess of the market price on October 4, 2005, because these options did not provide sufficient incentive to our employees when compared with the potential future compensation expense that would have been attributable to these options, we expect that equity compensation will continue to be a component of our total compensation program. The accounting treatment for outstanding unvested equity awards will affect our future earnings and could limit Gateway's willingness to use equity-based compensation plans, which could affect our ability to attract and retain employees.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

The following are Gateway's principal administrative and sales offices, operational facilities and support centers in the following locations:

Facilities	Square Footage	Owned or Leased	Description / Property Use	Segment Use
Irvine, California	98,000	Leased	Corporate headquarters	All segments
Irvine, California	147,000	Leased	Warehouse and office space	All segments
Kansas City, Missouri and Kansas	70,000	Owned	Sales; customer support center	Direct
North Sioux City, South Dakota	220,000	Owned	Customer sales and support center; administration	All segments
North Sioux City, South Dakota	19,000	Leased	Records storage	All segments

We are actively seeking to sublease or terminate approximately 38 remaining retail locations throughout the United States, as a result of the closure of all of our retail stores in April 2004. We also continue to lease, sublease and actively market for sale, lease, or sublease office and distribution facilities in Lake Forest, San Diego and Poway, California; Lakewood, Colorado; Sioux City, Iowa; Kansas City, Missouri and North Sioux City and Sioux Falls, South Dakota.

We believe that our administrative and sales offices, operational facilities and support centers will be adequate for our business needs in the foreseeable future.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Gateway is a party to various lawsuits, claims, including assertions of patent infringements, investigations and administrative proceedings that arise in connection with its business, including those identified below. Gateway evaluates such matters on a case by case basis, and its policy is to vigorously contest any such claims it believes are without merit.

Hewlett-Packard Patent Litigation

Hewlett-Packard Development Company, L.P. v. Gateway, Inc. is a suit filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California on March 24, 2004. The complaint alleges that Gateway infringed six patents owned by Hewlett-Packard Development Company, L.P. ("HPDC"). On April 2, 2004, HPDC amended its complaint to allege the infringement of four additional patents. HPDC seeks damages, including treble damages, an injunction, prejudgment interest, costs and attorneys' fees. Gateway has answered the complaint denying the allegations and alleging numerous affirmative defenses. In addition, Gateway has also asserted counterclaims against HPDC and Hewlett-Packard Company ("HP") for patent infringement of five patents owned by Gateway and seeking damages, including treble damages, an injunction, prejudgment interest, costs and attorneys' fees. On June 16, 2004, Gateway amended its counterclaims to add three additional patents and to delete three other patents from its infringement claims. As a result of the actions described below in the Amiga Development LLC matter and the August 18th Gateway Declaratory Judgment matter, HP ultimately added four additional patents in the present case, seeking the same relief as outlined above. Markman hearings involving the 19 patents-in-suit began in January 2005, and were substantially completed by January 2006. In October 2005, Intel Corporation intervened to defend Gateway on the patents asserted by HPDC that cover solely Intel products. In January 2006, HP and Intel stipulated to Intel's withdrawal from the suit based on HP's agreement to not pursue any patent claims against Gateway based upon Gateway's resale of Intel products. Discovery has begun but is not yet completed. In January 2006, the court divided the case into six trials to be held approximately one month apart, with the first scheduled to begin August 28, 2006. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet in which both parties agreed to cross-license each other's patent portfolios for a period of seven years and also agreed to dismiss all claims in litigation against the other company. The parties expect to execute a definitive cross-license and settlement agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding and any related litigation between the parties, with the intent that such actions will be dismissed and terminated in connection with execution of the definitive agreement. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

HPDC and HP also filed a complaint with the United States International Trade Commission ("ITC") in Washington, D.C., entitled In re Certain Personal Computers, Server Computers, and Components Thereof against Gateway, Inc. in the United States International Trade Commission in Washington, D.C. on May 6, 2004. The ITC instituted the proceeding on June 7, 2004. The complaint alleges that Gateway products infringe seven patents obtained by HP from Compaq Computer. The complaint seeks an order excluding any infringing products from being imported and a cease and desist order enjoining sales of those products. Gateway has answered the complaint denying the allegations and alleging numerous affirmative defenses, and the parties are now completing the discovery process. HP has withdrawn three patents from the case, and withdrawn the assertion of a number of claims of the remaining patents. On August 8, 2005, the Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") issued an initial determination finding all but two of the patents invalid and/or not infringed. Of the remaining two patents, 15 of the 19 asserted claims were held invalid. The remaining four claims were found to be infringed. In August 2005, Gateway filed a petition for review with the full ITC. In December 2005, the ITC reversed the ALJ's findings that Gateway literally infringed the remaining four claims, and remanded the question of whether there might be infringement under the doctrine of equivalents to the ALJ for further consideration. The ITC affirmed the remaining findings by the ALJ that Gateway had no liability on the other asserted patents. Briefing before the ALJ on the remanded issues is underway, with a decision from the ALJ scheduled to be issued on or before March 31, 2006, and a final determination by the ITC scheduled to be issued on or before May 31, 2006. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet as described above. The parties expect to execute a definitive agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding as described above. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

HPDC also filed a complaint entitled *Hewlett-Packard Development Company, L.P. v. eMachines, Inc.* in the United States District Court for the Western District of Wisconsin on October 21, 2004, and amended its complaint on or about November 11, 2004. The original complaint alleges that eMachines has infringed three patents previously asserted by HPDC against Gateway in the ITC. The amended complaint asserts infringement of two additional patents. HPDC seeks damages, including treble damages, an injunction, prejudgment interest, costs and attorneys' fees, and moved for a preliminary injunction barring eMachines' sales based on assertions of infringement of one of the patents in suit, U.S. Patent No. 5,737,604. On December 1, 2004, the Court denied HPDC's motion for a preliminary injunction. In January 2005, HPDC withdrew two of the original asserted patents from the case. On February 17, 2005, the Court granted eMachines' motion to transfer the action to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas. No trial is yet scheduled. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet as described above. The parties expect to execute a definitive agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding as described above. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

On July 2, 2004, Gateway, Inc. filed a complaint with the ITC entitled *Certain Personal Computers, Monitors, and Components Thereof.* On August 3, 2004, the ITC initiated proceedings in response to Gateway's complaint. The complaint alleges that products imported into the United States by or for HP, including Compaq products, infringe one or more of three patents owned by Gateway. The complaint seeks a determination that HP has violated Section 337 of the Trade Act due to the infringement, and requests that the ITC issue an order excluding any infringing products from being imported, and enjoining sales of those products. HP has answered the complaint by denying the allegations and alleging numerous affirmative defenses, and the parties are in the discovery process. In February 2005, a Markman hearing was held and in March 2005 the Court issued an order interpreting the claims of the three asserted patents. Gateway has since withdrawn the assertion of two of the patents and is proceeding to trial on the remaining patent, which relates to multimedia PCs. The trial was held in late May 2005 before the same ALJ presiding over the HPDC and HP ITC action. Post-trial briefing was completed on June 24, 2005. On October 6, 2005, the ALJ issued an initial determination finding all claims of the asserted patent to be infringed. However, the ALJ determined all but one of the claims was invalid in view of prior art, that all claims were invalid for lack of enablement, and that the patent was unenforceable for inequitable conduct during prosecution. A Petition for Review by the full ITC was filed October 17, 2005. On December 1, 2005, the ITC agreed to undertake review of the ALJ's decision that the patent was invalid for lack of enablement, and remanded to the ALJ for further findings on the issue of inequitable conduct. The ITC affirmed the other findings of the ALJ. On January 12, 2006, the ALJ issued a supplemental opinion reaffirming his conclusion of inequitable conduct, and further briefing on this issue before the ITC has been completed. A decision from the ITC was scheduled to be issued on or before February 27, 2006, but the parties have asked the ITC to delay the issuance of that decision. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet as described above. The parties expect to execute a definitive agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding as described above. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

On July 2, 2004, *Amiga Development LLC v. Hewlett-Packard Co.* was filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas, by AD Technologies LLC (formerly known as Amiga Development LLC), a holding company for intellectual property, in which Gateway has a majority equity interest but which is controlled by Theodore W. Waitt, Gateway's founder and significant stockholder. The complaint originally filed by Amiga alleges that HP is infringing three patents owned by Amiga. On July 21, 2005, however, Gateway filed an Amended Complaint dropping one of the asserted patents and has since dropped assertions relating to another of the three originally filed patents. Discovery has commenced and is ongoing. A Markman hearing to interpret the claims of the remaining asserted patent has been held, but the court has yet to issue its ruling. Trial is scheduled to commence on May 1, 2006. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet as described above. The parties expect to execute a definitive agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding as described above. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

On August 18, 2004, Gateway filed a complaint entitled *Gateway, Inc. v. Hewlett-Packard Development Company, L.P.* in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California seeking a declaratory judgment that Gateway has not infringed four HPDC patents and that those four HPDC patents are invalid. HPDC filed counterclaims against Gateway alleging that Gateway has infringed these four patents. HPDC seeks damages, including treble damages, an injunction, prejudgment interest, costs and attorneys' fees. As noted above, the dispute over these four patents has been consolidated with the *HPDC v. Gateway* matter pending in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet as described above. The parties expect to execute a definitive agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding as described above. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

On June 6, 2005, HP and HPDC filed a complaint in Superior Court of California, Santa Clara County, against eMachines, Inc. alleging a breach of contract relating to a patent license between HP and eMachines. The suit claims the right to audit royalty payments made by eMachines under the license and the recovery of any royalty payments determined to be owed but not paid, plus the costs of the audit and interest. eMachines has filed an answer, and a Case Management Conference was held in October 2005. Discovery has commenced. No trial date has been set. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet as described above. The parties expect to execute a definitive agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding as described above. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

On July 6, 2005, HP and HPDC filed an additional complaint entitled *Certain Personal Computers, Monitors and Components Thereof* with the ITC requesting that it investigate HPDC's allegation that Gateway and eMachines infringe five patents owned by HPDC. On August 5, 2005, the ITC initiated the investigation. The answer has been filed and discovery is ongoing. A Markman hearing was conducted in January 2006. The hearing before the ALJ is scheduled for May 2006. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet as described above. The parties expect to execute a definitive agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding as described above. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

Other Litigation

Lucent Technologies, Inc. v. Gateway, Inc. is a suit filed on June 6, 2002 in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, and which was subsequently transferred to the United States District Court for the Southern District of California, asserting that Gateway infringes seven patents owned by Lucent Technologies, Inc. On or about February 26, 2003, Microsoft intervened in the action, seeking to challenge Lucent's allegations with respect to five of the seven patents. In addition, on April 8, 2003, Microsoft filed an action against Lucent in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California. The suit seeks declaratory judgment that Microsoft products do not infringe patents held by Lucent, including the five patents upon which Microsoft based its intervention in the action Lucent brought against Gateway. On February 20, 2003, Lucent also sued Dell Inc. in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware on six patents, all of which are included in Microsoft's declaratory judgment action, and several of which are asserted by Lucent against Gateway. The suit against Dell was subsequently transferred to the United States District Court for the Southern District of California, where all three actions have been consolidated for discovery purposes. Lucent subsequently filed amended complaints against Dell and Gateway, respectively, to assert now the same patents against each. Through its amendments, Lucent asserted one additional patent against Dell and four additional patents against Gateway. All of the patents added through amendment are at issue in the Microsoft declaratory judgment action. The Court began conducting a Markman hearing on the asserted patents in August 2003 and conducted over 30 days of hearings before concluding the Markman hearing in September 2005. In September 2005, the court also granted a summary judgment of invalidity with respect to one of the Lucent patents asserted against Gateway. Discovery is ongoing. The three actions, which have been consolidated for all purposes but trial, currently have a tentative trial date of December 2006.

Dvorchak v. eMachines, Inc., et al. is a shareholder class action against eMachines, Inc. and others filed in November 2001, in California State Superior Court, County of Orange, relating to a 2001 transaction in which eMachines, which was then a public company, was taken private. The action originally sought to enjoin eMachines' merger with Empire Acquisition Corp. (the Merger) to effectuate taking eMachines private. The court denied the requested injunction on December 27, 2001, allowing the consummation of the Merger. After the Merger, plaintiffs filed amended complaints seeking unspecified monetary damages and/or rescission relating to the negotiations for and terms of the Merger through allegations of breaches of fiduciary duties by eMachines, its board members prior to the Merger, and certain of its officers. The court granted class certification on August 25, 2003. Dispositive motions filed by the defendants were heard and denied by the Court in August 2004 and August 2005. The trial is currently scheduled to commence on April 3, 2006.

In accordance with SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for Contingencies," Gateway reserves for a legal liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. At least quarterly Gateway reviews and adjusts these reserves to reflect the impacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel and other information and events pertaining to a particular case. The ultimate outcome of such matters cannot presently be determined or estimated. Gateway's management believes that Gateway has sufficiently reserved for legal matters and that the ultimate resolution of pending matters will not have a material adverse impact on Gateway's consolidated financial position, operating results or cash flows. However, the results of legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty. Should Gateway fail to prevail in current legal matters or should one or more of these legal matters be resolved against Gateway, Gateway could be

required to pay substantial monetary damages or, if injunctive relief is granted, may be prohibited from selling one or more of its products and, in either case, its operating results and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Not applicable.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

Gateway common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol "GTW." The following table sets forth the quarterly high and low price per share for our common stock as quoted at the close of trading during such periods in 2005 and 2004:

	High	Low
2005:		
1st quarter	\$5.85	\$3.95
2nd quarter	\$4.16	\$2.85
3rd quarter	\$4.08	\$2.44
4th quarter	\$3.16	\$2.48
2004:		
1st quarter	\$5.83	\$4.05
2nd quarter	\$6.41	\$3.67
3rd quarter	\$4.95	\$3.78
4th quarter	\$6.92	\$4.87

Holders of Record

As of March 13, 2006, there were 4,879 holders of record of our common stock. There were no issued and outstanding shares of the Class A Common Stock as of such date.

Dividends

Gateway's management believes the best use of cash is to fund internal growth and for general corporate purposes. As a result, we have not declared any cash dividends on our common stock since it was first publicly registered and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. In addition, under our new credit agreement, we would be prohibited from paying dividends on our common stock in the event of default (as defined in the credit agreement), including the failure to maintain at least \$150 million of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents.

Prior to the retirement of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series A Preferred Stock") and our Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series C Preferred Stock") in December 2004, we were obligated to pay dividends on our Series A Preferred Stock at the annual rate of 2.92%, payable quarterly, and on our Series C Preferred Stock at the annual rate of 1.5%, payable semi-annually.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table sets forth information with respect to purchases by Gateway of its equity securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act during 2005:

Period	(a) Total Number of Shares of Common Stock Purchased	(b) Average Price Paid Per Share of Common Stock	(c) Total Number of Shares of Common Stock Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or Programs	(d) Maximum Number (or Approximate Dollar Value of Shares of Common Stock that May Yet Be Purchased Under the Plans or Programs
January 1-31, 2005	1,162,801	\$5.92	_	_
February 1-28, 2005	_	_	_	_
March 1-31, 2005	—	_		_
April 1-30, 2005	_	_	—	—
May 1-31, 2005	_	_	—	—
June 1-30, 2005	173,197	\$3.49	—	—
July 1-31, 2005	—	_		_
August 1-31, 2005	—	_		_
September 1-30, 2005	—	_		_
October 1-31, 2005	—	_		_
November 1-30, 2005	—	_		_
December 1-31, 2005	—	—	—	—
Total	1,335,998	\$5.60		

The 1,335,998 shares of common stock represents the value of taxes withheld on the aggregate vesting of 2,903,568 shares of restricted stock originally issued in connection with the eMachines acquisition in March 2004.

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following historical data was derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. This financial data as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 and for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto beginning on page 43 of this Annual Report and in conjunction with Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" beginning on page 25 of this Annual Report. The information below is not necessarily indicative of the results of future operations.

	For the years ended December 31,									
		2005		2004 (a)		2003		2002		2001
Consolidated Statements of Operations										
Data (in thousands, except per share										
data):										
Net sales	\$3,	854,061	\$3,	649,734	\$3	3,402,364	\$4	,171,325	\$ 5	,937,896
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of										
change in accounting principle	\$	6,161	\$ (567,618)	\$	(514,812)	\$ ((297,718)	\$(1	,007,211)
Net income (loss) (b) attributable to										
common shareholders	\$	6,161	\$ (475,476)	\$	(525,950)	\$ ((309,041)	\$(1	,031,062)
Income (loss) per share before cumulative										
effect of change in accounting principle:										
Basic	\$	0.02	\$	(1.31)	\$	(1.62)	\$	(0.95)	\$	(3.12)
Diluted	\$	0.02	\$	(1.45)	\$	(1.62)	\$	(0.95)	\$	(3.12)
Net income (loss) per common share:										
Basic	\$	0.02	\$	(1.31)	\$	(1.62)	\$	(0.95)	\$	(3.19)
Diluted	\$	0.02	\$	(1.45)	\$	(1.62)	\$	(0.95)	\$	(3.19)
				А	s of	f December 3	1,			
	2005		2	004 (a)	2003			2002		2001
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data (in										
thousands):										
Cash and marketable securities	\$	585,688	\$	588,330	\$1	1,051,456	\$1	,021,847	\$ 1	,166,054
Total assets	\$1,	921,066	\$1,	771,787	\$2	2,028,438	\$2	,509,407	\$ 2	,986,857

		\$1,921,000		\$1,//1,/0/		\$2,028,438		\$2,309,407		\$ 2,980,837	
Long-term obligations, net of current											
maturities	\$	300,000	\$	300,000	\$	—	\$		\$	—	
Series C redeemable convertible preferred											
stock	\$	—	\$	_	\$	197,720	\$	195,422	\$	193,109	
Stockholders' equity	\$	255,274	\$	245,037	\$	722,018	\$1	,246,518	\$	1,565,084	

(a) Results for 2004 reflect the inclusion of eMachines' activity subsequent to March 11, 2004.

(b) Net income (loss) includes certain restructuring, transformation, integration and other charges of \$13 million, \$478 million, \$192 million, \$99 million, and \$1.1 billion for 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes that appear elsewhere in this document.

This Annual Report includes forward-looking statements made based on current management expectations. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual outcomes may differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted. Factors that could cause future results to differ from Gateway's expectations include the factors described in Item 1A "Risk Factors" beginning on page 9 of this Annual Report or that are otherwise described from time to time in our reports filed with the Securities Exchange Commission after this Annual Report. We assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events that occur or circumstances that arise after the date as of which they are made.

This Annual Report contains certain non-GAAP financial information, including disclosure of the portion of our selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses, gross margins and net income (loss) relating to, or affected by, certain restructuring charges, transformation expenses and integration expenses. The transformation and integration expenses are other associated costs incurred pursuant to the restructuring plans (See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information). This non-GAAP financial information is provided as supplementary information and is not an alternative to GAAP. This non-GAAP financial information is used by management to analyze Gateway's baseline performance before charges and expenses that are considered by management to be outside of Gateway's core operating results, notwithstanding the fact that such restructuring charges and transformation expenses may be recurring. This non-GAAP information is among the primary indicators management uses as a basis for evaluating Gateway's financial performance as well as for forecasting of future periods. The presentation of this additional information is not meant to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for reported results determined in accordance with GAAP.

Management's discussion and analysis that follows is designed to provide information that will assist readers in understanding our consolidated financial statements, changes in certain items in those statements from year to year and the primary factors that caused those changes and how certain accounting principles, policies and estimates affect our financial statements.

Overview

Since its founding in 1985, Gateway has focused on marketing PCs and related products and providing personalized service at a price that represents value to consumers, businesses, government offices and educational institutions. Since the acquisition of eMachines on March 11, 2004, we have completely overhauled the distribution of our products to consumers and have significantly reduced our SG&A cost structure.

We manage our business through our three major business segments: Direct, Professional and Retail (which includes our International segment). Our strengths include our strong brand name recognition, our value-based product lines, and our ability to maneuver quickly and react to product development trends in the rapidly changing PC industry.

Some of the key developments and achievements for 2005 include:

- *Net income*—we posted net income of \$6 million or \$0.02 per share for the year ended December 31, 2005, after the effect of two significant, one-time charges for the February 2006 Hewlett-Packard agreement (\$17 million) and increasing a reserve for a sales, income, and franchise tax dispute related to prior years (\$27 million), following four consecutive years of net losses.
- Continued Cost Structure Improvements—SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales declined to 9.4% in 2005 from 24.9% (including 10.7 percentage points attributable to restructuring, transformation and integration charges) in 2004. We believe that one of the keys to achieving sustainable profitability is to

focus on cost levels and overall efficiency in our operation. Continued cost reductions are designed to allow us to leverage our low overhead structure to achieve growth across our business segments by providing excellent products with great value. Despite continued price and gross margin pressures, we believe our improved cost structure will provide significant operating leverage going forward if we achieve continued revenue growth.

- Notebook and Monitor Sales Growth—in 2005, we experienced sales momentum with our notebook products and flat panel liquid crystal display ("LCD") monitors. Notebook unit sales were up 84% in 2005 compared with 2004 and LCD sales were up 88% over 2004 sales.
- *Continued Retail and International Expansion*—in January 2005, we introduced our Gateway-branded products into more than 600 Circuit City retail stores in the United States. In July 2005, we also added 876 Staples locations. Retail partners in Japan, the United Kingdom, Mexico and France were also added during 2005. Gateway and eMachines products are now sold in more than 7,000 third-party retail stores throughout the United States and Canada and in more than 2,000 international retail locations, including Japan, Mexico, the United Kingdom and France. Overall net sales for the Retail segment increased 59% in 2005 compared with 2004. Based on the most recent estimates by The NPD Group, Gateway's U.S. retail desktop market share increased from 29.5% to 33.2% and U.S. retail market share for notebooks increased from 7.2% to 11.0%.
- Significant Professional Segment Wins—while net sales and market share have declined within the Professional segment on a year-over-year basis and gross margins have been under pressure, we have achieved significant Professional segment contract wins in the current year, including the U.S. Navy and Air Force, the State of California and the University of Arizona. Such wins do not necessarily represent guaranteed revenue and in some cases are dependent upon governmental budget appropriations. Gateway continues to focus on sales of services, software and peripherals to Professional customers to achieve satisfactory gross margins and to emphasize responsiveness to the Professional market in terms of quality, service and spare parts availability.
- New Products—in 2005, we announced several innovative, new products, including, our nextgeneration convertible notebook, a 21-inch wide LCD monitor and our quiet- and cool-running mini-BTX desktop. The convertible notebook features the power and mobility of a notebook combined with the flexibility and creativity of a tablet. The new convertible notebook was launched simultaneously through all our channels. We supported the launch of the convertible notebook with a comprehensive, brand-building advertising campaign that is designed to highlight the features of this innovative product and demonstrate its appeal to small businesses and educators as well as consumers. In January 2006, we announced our refreshed notebook line that features performance enhancements, thin and lightweight designs, long battery life, and advanced data, theft and Internet security. This new line is intended to appeal to professionals, small businesses and consumers alike.
- *Microsoft Agreement*—in April 2005, we entered into a Marketing, Development and Settlement Agreement with Microsoft that provides for an aggregate of \$150 million (including \$6 million paid directly to our outside legal counsel) in quarterly cash payments to us through 2008. As part of the agreement, we are required to use the remaining \$144 million to fund various marketing and promotional initiatives, including advertising, sales training and consulting, as well as the research, development, and testing of new Gateway products that run Microsoft products. We also released Microsoft from certain anti-trust claims as part of this agreement. Benefits received under this arrangement are recognized upon the later of qualifying spend or cash receipt. In 2005, we received and recognized \$40.5 million. Per the agreement, we expect to receive \$8.6 million quarterly through the end of 2008.

We continue to face a variety of challenges and opportunities inherent within the PC industry which is characterized by rapid change, evolving customer demands and intense competition. Key challenges include focus on increasing demand for our products in a highly competitive market, increasing revenue, lowering costs, managing our supply chain and maintaining and increasing gross margin percentages. See Item 1A "Risk Factors".

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains a discussion of Gateway's consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and Gateway's discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations requires Gateway's management to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.

Management believes the following are critical accounting policies whose application has a material impact on Gateway's financial presentation. That is, they are both important to the portrayal of Gateway's financial condition and results, and they require management to make judgments and estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain.

Revenue Recognition

Gateway recognizes revenue on PCs, servers and Non-PC products when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the sales price is fixed and determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenue from training services, previously offered through our store network, was recognized as the services were provided. Revenue from Internet services provided by third parties is recognized as the services are provided based on subscriber counts reported to us by the service providers. If the actual subscriber counts or the economics associated with these subscriber counts prove to be more or less than originally reported by the service providers, we may be required to adjust revenue. In the fourth quarter of 2002, America Online, Inc. ("AOL") unilaterally recomputed payments it had made in 2001 and the first half of 2002 and withheld the claimed overpayments from amounts currently owed to us. We disputed AOL's retroactive adjustment and reached a settlement in November 2004 for \$2.5 million related to the contested period and an additional \$1.6 million for subsequent periods through 2004. This was recognized as revenue in 2004. Revenue from the sale of other services rendered by third parties, such as installation services, is generally recognized when such services are performed.

Gateway offers its customers an option to purchase extended warranties. Revenue related to sales of extended warranties sold on behalf of third-parties is recognized at the time of sale, net of amounts due to the third-party. Revenue from sales of extended warranties where Gateway is the legal obligor is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the warranty service period.

Gateway records reductions in revenue in the current period for estimated future product returns and estimated rebate redemption rates related to current period sales. Management analyzes historical returns, current trends, changes in customer demand and acceptance of our products when evaluating the adequacy of the sales returns allowances in any accounting period. Management also analyzes historical rebate redemption rates, current trends and the interrelationship of these rates with the current rebate dollar amounts in evaluating rebate allowances. If actual returns exceed estimated returns or if actual rebate redemptions exceed estimates, we would be required to record additional reductions to revenue which would affect earnings in the period the adjustments are made. Gateway also records reductions to revenue for estimated commitments related to other customer and sales incentive programs. This includes, among other things, trade-ins and referral credits. Future market conditions and product transitions may require us to increase customer incentive programs that could result in incremental reductions of revenue at the time such programs are offered, which would affect earnings in the period the adjustments are made.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Gateway maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. The estimate is based on management's assessment of the collectibility of specific customer accounts and includes consideration of the creditworthiness and financial condition of those specific customers. We record an allowance to reduce the specific receivables to the amount that is reasonably believed to be collectible. We also record an allowance for all other trade receivables based on multiple factors including historical experience with bad debts, the general economic environment, the financial condition of our customers, and the aging of such receivables. If there is a deterioration of a major customer's financial condition or we become aware of additional information related to the credit worthiness of a major customer, or if future actual default rates on trade receivables in general differ from those currently anticipated, we may have to adjust our allowance for doubtful accounts, which would affect earnings in the period the adjustments are made.

Inventory Valuation

The business environment in which Gateway operates is subject to rapid changes in technology and customer demand. We record write-downs for components and products which have become obsolete or are in excess of anticipated demand or net realizable value. We perform an assessment of inventory each quarter, which includes a review of, among other factors, inventory on hand and forecast requirements, product life cycle (including end of life product) and development plans, component cost trends, product pricing and quality issues. Based on this analysis, we record an adjustment for excess and obsolete inventory. Gateway may be required to record additional write-downs if actual demand, component costs or product life cycles differ from estimates, which would affect earnings in the period the write-downs are made.

Receivables from Suppliers

Gateway purchases selected raw materials from component suppliers and resells the raw materials to original design manufacturers to incorporate into products being manufactured for Gateway. The receivable from these sales of the raw materials is recorded as "Receivables from suppliers" where Gateway does not have the contractual right to offset the receivable against a related payable. If substantial uncertainty regarding the collectibility of these receivables is noted, an appropriate reserve may be required, which would affect earnings in the period the uncertainty is identified.

Internal-use Software

Gateway capitalizes only those direct costs associated with the actual development or acquisition of computer software for internal use, including costs associated with the design, coding, installation and testing of the system. Costs associated with preliminary development, such as the evaluation and selection of alternatives, as well as training, maintenance and support are expensed as incurred. Gateway is currently migrating to a new enterprise resource planning system as well as new order-capture and back-end service and support systems. A significant change to the planned use of internal-use software could result in a material impairment charge or a change in the estimated depreciable life which could result in increased depreciation expense in the reporting period that the change was made.

Warranty Provision

Gateway provides standard warranties with the sale of products. The estimated cost of providing the product warranty is recorded at the time revenue is recognized. We maintain product quality programs and processes, including actively monitoring and evaluating the quality of suppliers. Estimated warranty costs are affected by ongoing product failure rates, specific product class failures outside of experience and material usage and service delivery costs incurred in correcting a product failure or in providing customer support. If actual product failure rates, material usage or service delivery costs differ from the estimates, revisions to the estimated warranty liability would be required and would affect earnings in the period the adjustments are made.

Restructuring

Gateway has engaged and may continue to engage in restructuring actions which require our management to make significant estimates related to realizable values of assets made redundant or obsolete, expenses for severance and other employee separation costs, lease cancellation and other exit costs, and estimates of future rental income that may be generated through the subleasing of excess facilities. Should the actual amounts differ from our estimates, the amount of the restructuring charges could be materially impacted. For a description of our restructuring actions, refer to our discussion of restructuring charges in the "Results of Operations" section.

Long-lived Asset Impairments

Gateway reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. This process requires management to make assumptions and estimates related to estimated future cash flows to be generated and used by an asset or asset group as well as the expected or future use of such assets and/or their estimated future useful lives. Actual results could differ from the assumptions and estimates used and a significant change to the planned use of an asset or asset group could result in a change of the useful life in a given reporting period.

Taxes on Earnings

Gateway records a tax provision or benefit for the anticipated tax consequences of our reported results of operations. The provision for (benefit from) income taxes is computed using the liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that we believe is more likely than not to be realized. We consider our ability to carryback historical losses, cumulative losses in recent years, forecasted earnings and future taxable income and feasible tax planning strategies in determining the need for and amount of a valuation allowance. If we determine that it is more likely than not that our net deferred tax assets will be realized, our valuation allowance would be reversed, resulting in a positive adjustment to earnings in the period such determination is made. Gateway expects to maintain a full valuation allowance on potential future tax benefits and generally to record no tax benefit until an appropriate level of profitability is sustained.

Litigation

Gateway is currently involved in certain legal proceedings (see Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). When a loss is considered probable in connection with litigation or governmental proceedings and the loss amount can be reasonably estimated within a range, we record the minimum estimated liability related to the claim if there is no best estimate in the range. As additional information becomes available, we assess the potential liability related to the legal proceedings and revise those estimates. Revisions in estimates of the potential liability could materially impact our results of operations in the period of adjustment.

Non-Amortized Intangible Assets Including Goodwill

On March 11, 2004, Gateway acquired eMachines, a privately-held PC company, in a transaction valued at approximately \$262 million. The acquisition combined Gateway's Professional and Consumer (now called "Direct") businesses, scale and cash availability with eMachines' low cost structure, profitability, PC market strength, third-party retail network, and international presence. These factors contributed to a purchase price in excess of the fair value of eMachines' net tangible and intangible assets acquired and, as a result, Gateway recorded goodwill of \$156 million. Gateway also recorded \$50 million in intangible assets related to the

eMachines tradename. These intangible assets are not amortized but are reviewed for impairment annually during the fourth quarter or whenever events or circumstances indicate an event of impairment may have occurred or exist. Our fourth quarter review process utilizes multiple methods including the income method, to estimate fair value based on a discounted future cash flow approach that relies on estimates about Gateway's future revenues (based on assumed market segment growth rates) and costs, discounted at appropriate rates based on Gateway's weighted average cost of capital. Future revenue and cost estimates are based on historical data, various internal estimates and a variety of external sources, and are developed as part of our routine long-range planning process. Our fourth quarter of 2005 assessment supported the conclusion that no non-amortized intangible asset, including goodwill, impairment existed as of December 31, 2005. A significant change in our Retail business would result in a material impairment of these assets.

Microsoft Agreement

Gateway receives funding on a quarterly basis through 2008 from Microsoft under a Marketing, Development and Settlement Agreement (the "Agreement"). The Agreement requires that we use a substantial majority of the \$144 million proceeds to fund various marketing and promotional initiatives, including advertising, sales training and consulting, as well as the research, development and testing of new Gateway products that run Microsoft products and releases Microsoft from all antitrust claims Gateway had made. Although the Agreement contains future marketing and development as well as historical legal components, the relative fair value of these components could not be comprehensively determined. As a result, these two components were not bifurcated for purposes of income statement presentation. We recognize the funding received under this arrangement as a reduction of operating expenses under the line item "Microsoft benefit" upon the later of qualifying spend or cash receipt. If the company fails to incur sufficient qualifying spend or if Microsoft fails to fund such spend on a timely basis, this could result in a material adverse impact to the financial results because Gateway would not be able to record the benefit.

Results of Operations

The following table summarizes Gateway's consolidated results of operations and net sales for the past three years (in thousands):

	2005		Percentage Change 2004		2004	Percentage Change		2003
Net sales	\$3	3,854,061	5.6%	\$3	3,649,734	7.3%	\$3	3,402,364
Gross profit	\$	322,438	5.0%	\$	307,072	(33.8)%	\$	463,564
Percentage of net sales		8.4%			8.4%			13.6%
Selling, general and administrative expenses	\$	363,578	(60.0)%	\$	909,050	(6.7)%	\$	974,139
Percentage of net sales		9.4%			24.9%			28.6%
Microsoft benefit	\$	40,500	100.0%		_	_		
Percentage of net sales		1.1%			_	_		—
Operating income (loss)*	\$	(640)	99.9%	\$	(601,978)	17.9%	\$	(510,575)
Percentage of net sales		(0.0)%	2		(16.5)%	0		(15.0)%
Net income (loss)	\$	6,161	101.1%	\$	(567,618)	10.3%	\$	(514,812)
Units shipped		4,476	26.8%		3,530	69.7%		2,079

* Includes \$13 million, \$478 million and \$192 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, of restructuring, transformation and integration charges. See the "Restructuring Activities" section below for additional information.

Net Sales

2005 vs. 2004

The \$204 million increase in 2005 net sales compared to 2004 was primarily due to growth in our Retail segment (\$873 million), which includes international, partially offset by net sales declines in the Direct segment (\$541 million) primarily resulting from the closure of our Gateway retail stores in April 2004 (which contributed \$391 million to net sales in 2004), in addition to less promotion and advertising of low-end opening price points in Direct and our move away from Gateway-branded consumer electronic products,, as well as declines in the Professional segment (\$128 million) primarily due to weaker performance in the business sector and a trend towards large consolidated discounted purchases in the public sector.

See "Segment Performance" below for further discussion of unit and net sales performance on a segment basis.

2004 vs. 2003

The 2004 increases in net sales and PC unit shipments are primarily due to the contribution of eMachines' PC unit sales subsequent to March 11, 2004 and expansion of the availability of Gateway products into third party retail offset by declines in Gateway PC sales resulting from the closure of our retail stores on April 9, 2004. The stores previously contributed, on average, approximately \$300 million in net sales per quarter. During the second half of 2004, we greatly expanded the availability of Gateway products through third party retail partners and expanded the availability of both Gateway and eMachines' products internationally. Unit sales growth significantly outpaced net sales growth due to the lower average selling price on eMachines' PCs as compared with Gateway PCs, with overall average selling prices declining to \$801 in 2004 compared to \$1,181 in 2003.

Assuming the acquisition of eMachines had occurred on January 1, 2003, pro forma net sales for 2004 would have been \$4.0 billion as compared with \$4.5 billion of pro forma net sales in 2003 (see Note 10 to the financial statements). The 2004 decline on a pro forma basis is primarily due to the closure of the Gateway retail stores in April 2004 partially offset by significant growth in eMachines' sales in 2004 as compared with 2003.

Major Product Groups

The following table summarizes Gateway's net sales by major product or service group for the past three years, with certain 2003 amounts recast to conform to 2004 and 2005 presentation (in thousands):

	2005	As %	2004	As %	2003	As %
Desktops	\$1,894,172	49.2%	\$1,982,141	54.3%	\$1,648,553	48.4%
Notebooks	1,191,898	30.9%	790,159	21.7%	754,857	22.2%
Servers and other	57,392	1.5%	54,474	1.5%	53,449	1.6%
Total personal computers (PC)	3,143,462	81.6%	2,826,774	77.5%	\$2,456,859	72.2%
Non-PC	710,599	18.4%	822,960	22.5%	945,505	27.8%
Consolidated net revenues	\$3,854,061		\$3,649,734		\$3,402,364	

As a percentage of total net sales, sales of notebook computers increased 9 percentage points during 2005 due to a market shift towards notebook computers and acceptance of our Gateway-branded notebook products in third-party retail. Sales of Non-PC products declined from 23% in 2004 to 18% in 2005. This decline was primarily due to the closure of Gateway's retail stores, offset in part by the sale of approximately \$46 million of excess Non-PC product inventory associated with the closing of the retail stores in the prior year, and due to our exit of the consumer electronics business.

Net sales of PCs increased in 2004 due to the addition of eMachines PC unit sales subsequent to March 11, 2004 offset by declines in Gateway PC sales due to the closure of the retail stores in April 2004 and lower average selling prices, as well as market share losses in the Professional and Direct segments.

Gross Profit

2005 vs. 2004

Gross profit was \$322 million in 2005 compared with \$307 million in 2004. This increase in gross profit is largely attributable to declines in restructuring, transformation and integration charges (\$86 million) and improvements in Retail segment gross profit (\$79 million) based on increased Retail unit volumes and sales revenues, and favorable resolution of a royalty cost uncertainty (\$6 million), partially offset by gross profit declines in the Direct segment (\$100 million) due to the closure of our Gateway retail stores in April 2004 (\$33 million) and the discontinuation of sale of Gateway-branded consumer electronics, gross profit declines in the Professional segment (\$50 million) primarily due to price competition. Additionally in 2005, gross profit across all segments was favorably impacted by a change in cost estimate of a certain royalty obligation (\$4 million), offset by the February 2006 Hewlett-Packard agreement related to patent infringement and royalties (\$17 million). As a percentage of net sales, gross profit for 2005 was 8.4% the same amount as 2004. Non-PC sales accounted for approximately 76% and 67% of gross profit during 2005 and 2004, respectively.

2004 vs. 2003

Gross profit was \$307 million in 2004 compared with \$464 million in 2003. This decline in gross profit is primarily due to the shift in sales mix from Gateway-owned retail stores in 2003 to third-party retail sales in 2004 and lower-priced eMachines-branded PCs, coupled with reduced 2004 sales of higher-margin Non-PC products. During 2004 and 2003, we recorded restructuring, transformation and integration charges of \$86 million and \$63 million respectively. As a percentage of net sales, gross profit for 2004 was 8.4%, compared with 13.6% in 2003. Non-PC sales accounted for approximately 67% and 80% of gross profit during 2004 and 2003, respectively, assuming no allocation for restructuring, transformation and integration charges.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

2005 vs. 2004

SG&A expenses were \$364 million in 2005 (approximately 9.4% of net sales) compared to \$909 million in 2004 (approximately 24.9% of net sales). The significant decrease in SG&A expense is attributable to a decrease in restructuring, transformation and integration charges (\$379 million), closure of our Gateway retail stores in April 2004 (\$60 million), reduced direct marketing costs partially related to the shift to third-party retail to reduce channel conflict (\$47 million), rationalization of IT expenses (\$32 million), and reductions in corporate overhead, headcount costs and other SG&A cost savings (\$64 million), partially offset by a reserve increase for a sales tax dispute related to prior years (\$25 million) and increased legal spending (\$12 million) during 2005.

2004 vs. 2003

SG&A expenses were \$909 million in 2004 compared to \$974 million in 2003. This included restructuring, transformation and integration charges of \$392 million and \$128 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. Excluding restructuring, transformation and integration charges, SG&A expenses totaled \$517 million and \$846 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively, a decline of approximately 39% in 2004. The decline in SG&A reflected the closure of our retail stores and other facilities (approximately \$55 million), rationalization of headcount costs (approximately \$88 million), lower depreciation on IT and fixed assets (approximately \$75 million) and reduced direct marketing costs associated with the shift to third-party retail and other cost-savings programs (approximately \$111 million).

Restructuring Activities

We have engaged in several restructuring efforts, including actions related to the closure of our Gateway retail stores, outsourcing of certain processes, workforce reductions and plant closures. We have also incurred costs in connection with certain transformation efforts and our integration with eMachines in 2004. See also Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. The following table summarizes restructuring, transformation and other charges recorded by Gateway, by income statement classification, for the past three years (in thousands):

	2005	2004	2003
Restructuring:			
Cost of goods sold	\$ —	\$ 74,735	\$ 60,858
Selling, general and administrative	13,555	336,888	95,937
Total	\$13,555	\$411,623	\$156,795
Transformation and Integration:			
Cost of goods sold	\$ (86)	\$ 11,251	\$ 2,393
Selling, general and administrative	(411)	54,816	32,557
Total	<u>\$ (497)</u>	\$ 66,067	\$ 34,950

During the first quarter of 2004, Gateway approved a restructuring plan to, among other things, close its remaining 188 retail stores, reduce its workforce, consolidate facilities and outsource certain activities. This was in addition to previous restructuring plans that were adopted in 2003, 2002 and 2001. All of our significant restructuring actions are now substantially complete. At December 31, 2005, approximate future cash outlays for all restructuring plans, primarily representing lease liabilities on closed facilities, are \$6.2 million, net of anticipated sublease recoveries and asset dispositions.

Microsoft Agreement

In April 2005, Gateway entered into a Marketing, Development and Settlement Agreement with Microsoft Corporation that provides for Microsoft to make aggregate payments to Gateway of \$150 million (including \$6 million paid directly to our outside legal counsel) on a quarterly basis through the end of 2008. As part of the agreement, Gateway is required to use the remaining \$144 million to fund various marketing and promotional initiatives including advertising, sales training and consulting, as well as the research, development, and testing of new Gateway products that run Microsoft products. In 2005 we received and recognized \$40.5 million. Per the agreement, we expect to receive in cash \$8.6 million quarterly through the end of 2008.

Hewlett-Packard Agreement

On February 23, 2006, Gateway and Hewlett-Packard ("H-P") signed a Binding Term Sheet in which both parties agreed to cross-license each other's patent portfolios for a period of seven years and also agreed to dismiss all claims in litigation against the other company. The Binding Term Sheet provides that the parties will enter into a definitive cross-license and settlement agreement and that Gateway will pay H-P \$25 million when the definitive agreement is executed (expected in March 2006) with a second and final payment of \$22 million due one year later (expected March 2007). Of the \$47 million of total consideration, Gateway attributed \$16.7 million to resolving, without admission of fault, allegations of past patent portfolio infringement, recognizing such cost as a component of cost of goods sold in 2005. The remaining \$30.3 million will be attributed to the value of the future seven year cross-licensing agreement. Gateway will begin recognizing the cost associated with the future cross-licensing agreement in cost of goods sold, beginning in 2006.

Operating Income (Loss)

2005 vs. 2004

Operating loss for 2005 totaled \$1 million compared with a loss of \$602 million in 2004. This reflects restructuring, transformation and other special charges discussed in the "Restructuring Activities" section above of \$13 million and \$478 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively. In addition to the significant decline in restructuring, transformation and other special charges, the improvement in 2005 operating income reflects \$40.5 million of benefits related to the April 2005 agreement with Microsoft discussed in the "Microsoft Agreement" section above, as well as the continued positive impact of 2004 initiatives including focus on overall SG&A cost savings, offset by a reserve increase for a prior years sales tax dispute (\$25 million) and the February 2006 Hewlett-Packard agreement related to patent infringement and royalties (\$17 million).

2004 vs. 2003

Operating loss for 2004 totaled \$602 million compared with \$511 million in 2003. This reflects restructuring, transformation and other special charges discussed in the "Restructuring Activities" section above of \$478 million and \$192 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. In addition to these substantial restructuring charges, the operating loss for 2004 also reflects gross margin percentage and dollar reductions, primarily due to the greater mix of third-party retail sales against a declining but still significant fixed cost base. The operating loss for 2003 resulted from declines in net sales compared to our fixed cost base and significant restructuring charges. Excluding such charges, operating loss declined by \$195 million in 2004 from 2003. The significant improvement in operating loss on this basis reflects the impact of the store closures, head count reductions, IT cost rationalization, marketing efficiencies and continued focus on overall SG&A cost savings throughout 2004.

Other Income, Net

The following table presents the components of other income, net for the periods indicated (in thousands):

	2005	2004	2003
Interest income	\$10,560	\$14,257	\$21,247
Gain (loss) on sales of investments	1,392	(44)	(2,342)
Gain on extinguishment of liabilities	1,229	6,886	
Interest expense	(6,116)	(823)	(996)
Amortization of debt issuance costs	(1,622)	_	
Other, net	1,348	(29)	1,419
Total	\$ 6,791	\$20,247	\$19,328

Other income, net includes primarily interest income and expense and gains and losses from the sale of investments, foreign exchange transactions and gain from the extinguishments of liabilities. Other income decreased \$13 million in 2005 primarily due to an increase in interest expense, including the amortization of debt issuance costs, as a result of the issuance of \$300 million in senior convertible notes in December 2004 and utilization of the revolving credit facility in 2005, a decrease in interest income and a decrease on gain on extinguishment of liabilities. Based on our current level of indebtedness, we expect interest expense to remain at 2005 levels which will continue to reduce other income, net.

Other income, net was \$20 million in 2004 as compared with \$19 million in 2003. The slight increase in other income, net, for 2004 compared to 2003 is primarily due to a \$7 million gain on the sale of certain extended service liabilities in the fourth quarter of 2004 offset by year-over-year declines in investment income due to the net liquidation of \$491 million of marketable securities throughout 2004.

Income Taxes

In 2005, we recorded a net tax benefit primarily representing the reversal of previously accrued tax liabilities resulting from certain tax authority settlements partially offset by \$1.8 million increase in reserve for a state income and franchise tax dispute. The reversal of the previously accrued tax liabilities represents an agreement between Gateway and the Appeals Office of the Internal Revenue Service with respect to one of the issues under audit. In the fourth quarter of 2005, the benefit recorded from this agreement is \$8.3 million. The agreement is still subject to review of the Joint Committee on Taxation. Gateway believes the review of the Joint Committee will not adversely impact the recognition of the benefit recorded for this agreement.

Segment Performance

During the second quarter of 2004 and in connection with the acquisition of eMachines, we formed a new operating segment, Retail, and realigned our historical operating segments, Direct (previously Consumer) and Professional. Management also realigned the methodology used to allocate certain corporate overhead expenses to the operating segments. Our segment sales and operations are delineated by operating segment as follows:

- **Direct**—includes consumer and small business sales generated via Gateway's web and phone centers as well as the contribution of Gateway retail stores through their date of closing on April 9, 2004 and certain ongoing revenue streams therefrom;
- **Professional**—includes sales to customers in education (K-12 and higher education), government (federal, state and local), medium-to-large business and third-party resellers;
- **Retail**—includes sales through third-party retail channels, including eMachines-branded products subsequent to the eMachines acquisition in March 2004, Gateway-branded products sold at retail beginning in the third quarter of 2004, and Gateway-only sales to certain third-party channel customers in 2003;
- International—includes international sales and is currently aggregated within the Retail segment for external reporting purposes as it meets the aggregation criteria of SFAS 131, *Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.*

Revenues from these segments are derived from sales of PC and Non-PC products and services. We evaluate segment performance based on sales and operating income (loss), and do not include segment assets or other income and expense items for management reporting purposes. Segment operating income (loss) includes selling, general and administrative expenses and other overhead charges directly attributable to the segment and excludes expenses managed outside the reporting segment, including corporate selling, general and administrative expenses, the Microsoft benefit, depreciation and amortization, and the restructuring, transformation and integration charges discussed in "Restructuring Activities" above.

	2005	Increase (Decrease)	2004	Increase (Decrease)	2003
Units:					
Direct	253	(48.4)%	490	(52.5)%	1,031
Professional	749	(7.9)%	813	(6.2)%	867
Retail (including International)	3,474	56.0%	2,227	1,130.4%	181
Total units	4,476	26.8%	3,530	69.8%	2,079
Net Sales:					
Direct	\$ 508,449	(51.6)%	\$1,049,526	(47.3)%	\$1,991,053
Professional	986,943	(11.4)%	1,114,493	(7.1)%	1,199,886
Retail (including International)	2,358,669	58.8%	1,485,715	602.7%	211,425
Consolidated net revenues	\$3,854,061	5.6%	\$3,649,734	7.3%	\$3,402,364
Operating income (loss):					
Direct	\$ 41,601	65.9%	\$ 25,070	125.4%	\$ (98,546)
Professional	16,937	(71.0)%	58,356	(25.6)%	78,397
Retail (including International)	120,536	179.3%	43,161	409.4%	8,473
Segment operating income					
(loss)	\$ 179,074	41.5%	\$ 126,587	1,184.2%	\$ (11,676)
Non-segment expenses	(220,214)	(69.8)%	(728,565)	46.0%	(498,899)
Microsoft benefit	\$ 40,500		_		_
Consolidated operating income (loss)	\$ (640)	(99.9)%	\$ (601,978)	17.9%	\$ (510,575)

The following table presents key segment performance indicators for the past three years, with 2003 information recast for consistency with current presentation (in thousands):

Direct

The Direct segment generated net sales of \$508 million on PC unit sales of 253,000 in 2005 compared with net sales of \$1.05 billion on PC unit sales of 490,000 in 2004. The decline in net sales was primarily due to the closure of the Gateway-owned retail stores in April 2004 (\$312 million), lower promotion and advertising of products with lower price points and our move away from Gateway-branded consumer electronic products. The Direct segment net sales declined in 2004 as compared with 2003 due to the closure of our retail stores in April 2004, slightly offset by store excess inventory sales primarily in the second and third quarters of 2004. The stores previously contributed an average of approximately \$300 million in net sales per quarter.

The improvement in the Direct segment operating income in 2005 was driven from cost reductions associated with the closure of Gateway's retail stores in April 2004, which more than offset lost profit margins from Gateway-owned retail stores, the February 2006 Hewlett-Packard agreement, and reductions in the Direct segment SG&A expenses. The Direct segment operating income improved substantially in 2004 compared with 2003 due primarily to the closure of the retail stores and reduced marketing costs and other selling, general and administrative expenses.

Professional

The Professional segment generated net sales of \$987 million on PC unit sales of 749,000 in 2005 compared with \$1.1 billion on PC unit sales of 813,000 in 2004. The net sales decreases are primarily due to weaker performance in the business sector, declining average unit prices and a trend towards large consolidated discounted purchases in the public sector. Despite the decrease in the Professional segment, we won a number of key contracts with federal and state agencies, universities and high profile businesses. Recent wins include contracts with the U.S. Navy and Air Force, the State of California and the University of Arizona. Such wins do not necessarily represent guaranteed revenue and in some cases are dependent upon governmental budget

appropriations. Professional segment unit and net sales declines in 2004 compared with 2003 were primarily due to market share loss within the government and business sectors due to intense price competition, partially offset by market share gains in the education market.

Professional segment operating income was \$17 million in 2005 compared with \$58 million in 2004. This decrease is attributable to lower volume and price competition as highlighted by the trend in the Professional segment toward large consolidated discounted purchases, and the February 2006 Hewlett-Packard agreement. Gateway continues to focus on sales of services, software and peripherals to Professional customers to achieve satisfactory gross margins and to emphasize responsiveness to the Professional market in terms of quality, service and spare parts availability. The 2004 decline in professional segment operating income compared with 2003 was primarily the result of declining net sales and margins compared to the segment's fixed cost base.

Retail (including International)

The Retail segment generated net sales of \$2.4 billion on PC unit sales of 3,474,000 in 2005 as compared with \$1.5 billion on PC unit sales of 2,227,000 in 2004. The net sales increases are primarily due to market share gains in notebooks and our increased presence in the international market with Gateway-branded products. In addition, the number of sites at which domestic third-party retailers sell Gateway and eMachines products has increased from approximately 6,000 in 2004 to over 7,000 in 2005.

The Retail segment was created in the second quarter of 2004 as a result of the eMachines' acquisition. The 2004 results reflect the inclusion of eMachines' sales within this segment subsequent to March 11, 2004, and the growth of these sales in third-party retail in 2004, the expansion of Gateway-branded products into third-party retail channels during the second half of 2004, and the expansion of eMachines' and Gateway products internationally. Results for 2003 reflect modest sales of Gateway products to third-party channel customers.

Non-Segment Expenses

Costs excluded from our operating segments primarily consist of corporate selling, general and administrative expenses, the Microsoft benefit, and depreciation and amortization that are managed on a corporate-wide basis, including a reserve increase for a sales tax dispute related to prior years (\$25 million) and restructuring, transformation and integration charges of \$13 million, \$478 million and \$192 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. See "Restructuring Activities" above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2005, Gateway had approximately \$586 million in cash and marketable securities as compared with \$588 million at the end of 2004.

The following table presents selected financial statistics and information related to cash as of December 31 for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

	For each of th	ne quarters endin	g December 31
	2005	2004	2003
Cash and marketable securities	\$585,688	\$588,330	\$1,051,456
Days of sales in accounts receivable (a)	28	30	22
Days inventory on hand (b)	19	19	14
Days in accounts payable (c)	(67)	(51)	(51)
Cash conversion cycle before days in supplier receivables	(20)	(2)	(15)
Days in supplier receivables (d)	19	8	9
Cash conversion cycle (e)	(1)	6	(6)

- (a) Days of sales in accounts receivable measures the average number of days receivables are outstanding and is calculated by dividing accounts receivable (net of allowances for doubtful accounts) by the most recent quarterly net sales divided by the number of days in the quarter.
- (b) Days inventory on hand measures the average number of days of inventory from product procurement to sale and is calculated by dividing inventory by the most recent quarterly cost of goods sold divided by the number of days in the quarter.
- (c) Days in accounts payable measures the average number of days our accounts payable balances are outstanding and is calculated by dividing accounts payable by the most recent quarterly cost of goods sold divided by the number of days in the quarter.
- (d) Gateway purchases selected raw materials from component suppliers and, where possible, in lieu of a consignment arrangement, resells the raw materials to original design manufacturers to incorporate into products being manufactured for Gateway. The receivable from the sale of the raw materials to the original design manufacturer is recorded in receivables from suppliers when Gateway does not have contractual rights of offset between its payables and receivables from its original design manufacturers. Supplier receivables amounted to \$214 million, \$79 million and \$74 million at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Days in supplier receivables measures the average number of days supplier receivables are outstanding and is calculated by dividing supplier receivables by the most recent quarterly cost of goods sold divided by the number of days in the quarter. Increase in days is due to the increase of suppliers receivables of \$135 million over 2004 year end balance due to one additional original design manufacturer.
- (e) The cash conversion cycle is the sum of days in accounts receivable and inventory on hand and in supplier receivables less days in accounts payable and effectively measures the number of days from raw material purchase to cash collection on customer sales.

Gateway used \$25 million in cash in support of operating activities in 2005, including \$77 million of net loss adjusted for non-cash items. Other significant factors affecting cash used in operations include a net increase in accounts receivable, inventory and other assets of \$238 million offset by a net increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities of \$130 million. The increase in accounts receivable was driven by an increased mix of Retail sales. The increase in inventory was driven primarily by the increased level of finished products for Retail as well as an increase in component inventories, while accounts payable increased in connection with new supply and manufacturing agreements. The increase in days in accounts payable of 16 days from 2004 to 2005 was due to changed supplier terms and conditions. Other assets increased due to the increased sale of raw materials to original design manufacturers to incorporate into products being manufactured for Gateway. We used approximately \$45 million in cash for capital expenditures and \$40 million to purchase marketable securities, offset by proceeds from sales of marketable securities of \$190 million.

Gateway used \$434 million in cash in support of operations during 2004, including \$297 million of net loss adjusted for non-cash items. Other significant factors affecting cash used in operations include a net increase in accounts receivable of \$59 million (after giving effect for the \$120 million in accounts receivable assumed through acquisition of eMachines) due to the shift in our business model from our former retail stores to third party retail and decreases in current and other liabilities of \$209 million (including settlement of most of the \$277 million in current liabilities assumed in connection with the eMachines' acquisition), partially offset by declines in inventory and other assets of \$104 million (after giving effect for the \$153 million in inventory and other assets of eMachines). From an investing perspective, we generated proceeds of approximately \$485 million through the liquidation of marketable securities and the sale of an idled facility and used \$41 million in acquisition of eMachines, \$22 million to settle a shareholder note payable and approximately \$35 million in acquisition of capital assets. From a financing perspective, we generated a net \$291 million through a \$300 million convertible debt offering, \$50 million through borrowings against our credit facility, and \$12 million through employee stock option exercises while using \$264 million to redeem the Series A and C Preferred Stock held by AOL and \$9 million to pay preferred stock dividends.

Gateway generated \$73 million in cash from operating activities in 2003, reflecting a \$287 million income tax refund partially offset by \$258 million of net loss adjusted for non-cash items. Other significant factors affecting cash provided by operations include a net increase in accounts receivable, inventory and other assets of \$30 million (excluding the \$287 million income tax refund) offset by a net increase in accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities of \$74 million. The increase in accounts receivable was driven by an increased mix of professional sales. The increase in inventory was driven by the increased level of products stocked in the retail store network as well as transitional inventory for outsourcing of operational fulfillment processes, while accounts payable increased in connection with new supply and manufacturing agreements. We used approximately \$73 million in cash for capital expenditures and \$530 million to purchase marketable securities, offset by proceeds from sales of marketable securities of \$408 million, while generating \$20 million in proceeds from a note receivable. We also used \$9 million to pay preferred dividends and generated \$2 million through stock option exercises.

Debt

In October 2004, we entered into a credit agreement with a major financial institution that provides for a borrowing base under a revolving credit facility of up to an aggregate of \$200 million. The agreement contains usual and customary covenants for an arrangement of its type, including an obligation that we maintain at all times \$150 million of unrestricted cash and marketable securities. The agreement expires on October 31, 2009, at which time all amounts then outstanding will be due and payable. As of December 31, 2005, we had borrowings outstanding under this credit agreement of \$50 million bearing interest at 6.25%. We also utilized the credit agreement to support \$47 million of stand-by letters of credit.

In December 2004, we completed the sale of \$300 million of senior convertible notes through a private placement to institutional investors, including \$150 million at 1.5% per year due December 31, 2009 and \$150 million at 2.0% per year due December 2011. Additional information regarding our convertible debt can be found in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Restructuring Obligations

We have approximately \$26 million in remaining cash outlays (approximately \$6.2 million on a net basis after anticipated sublease recoveries and asset dispositions) to be made in connection with our restructuring activities. These amounts primarily represent ongoing lease obligations associated with closed facilities and are included in the Operating lease category in the Contractual Obligations table below. See also Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We believe that our current sources of working capital provide adequate flexibility for our financial needs for at least the next twelve months. However, any projections of future financial needs and sources of working capital are subject to uncertainty. See "Forward Looking Statements" and Item 1A "Risk Factors" for events that could affect our estimates of future financial needs and sources of working capital.

Contractual Obligations

The cash impact of our contractual obligations associated with operating leases, royalty and licensing agreements, purchase obligations and announced restructurings is as follows:

	Payments due by Period (in thousands)								
	Total	Less than 1 Year	2-3 Years	4-5 Years	More than 5 Years				
Operating leases (1)	\$ 40,883	\$ 10,071	\$20,133	\$ 8,521	\$ 2,158				
Royalty/Licensing agreements (2)	78,970	45,585	27,026	5,652	707				
Debt, including estimated interest obligations (3)	388,979	8,375	16,750	210,854	153,000				
Estimated purchase obligations (4)	114,467	114,467							
Total	\$623,299	\$178,498	\$63,909	\$225,027	\$155,865				

- Represents lease obligations, net of anticipated sublease cash receipts, including amounts that have been accrued in connection with certain restructuring actions. See Notes 5 and 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
- (2) Includes \$47 million payment due to Hewlett-Packard pursuant to the February 2006 Binding Term Sheet. See Note 16 to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.
- (3) The \$50 million in borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit facility at December 31, 2005 are due in 2009 and are included in current liabilities in the consolidated financial statements.
- (4) Purchase obligations include agreements to purchase goods or services (such as minimum levels of outsourced support services) that are enforceable, legally binding and specify all significant terms, including: the quantity to be purchased, the price to be paid and the timing of the purchase. These figures exclude agreements or amounts that are cancelable without penalty. The materials purchase obligation portion of this amount represents approximately six weeks of supply in our manufacturing channel.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Other

We do not participate in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as special purpose entities ("SPEs") or variable interest entities ("VIEs"), which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other limited purposes.

During the normal course of business, we make certain indemnities, commitments and guarantees under which we may be required to make payments in relation to certain transactions. These include: (i) intellectual property indemnities to our customers and licensees in connection with the use, sales and/or license of our products, (ii) indemnities to vendors and service providers pertaining to claims based on the negligence or willful misconduct of Gateway and (iii) indemnities involving the accuracy of representations and warranties in certain contracts. In addition, we have made contractual commitments to several employees providing for payments upon the occurrence of certain prescribed events. The majority of these indemnities, commitments and guarantees do not provide for any limitation of the maximum potential for future payments Gateway could be obligated to make. We have not recorded any liability for these indemnities, commitments and other guarantees in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard ("SFAS") No. 151, "Inventory Costs—An Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, Inventory Pricing" to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material or spoilage that may be incurred. Among other things, SFAS 151 requires that these items be recognized as charges to expense in the periods incurred and clarifies that fixed production overhead costs be allocated to inventory based on "normal" production capacity. Unallocated overhead costs associated with abnormally low or high production in a given period should be charged to expense in that period. SFAS 151 is effective for Gateway on January 1, 2006 and management does not believe adoption of this statement will have a material impact on Gateway's consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123-R, "Share-Based Payment" to replace SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation" and APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees." SFAS 123-R requires, among other things, that all share-based payments to employees, including grants of stock options, be measured at the grant-date fair value and recognized as expense in the financial statements. Unless observable market prices exist, the grant-date fair value is estimated using an appropriate option-pricing model as determined by management. SFAS 123-R requires management to make certain assumptions about employee exercise habits and forfeiture rates in determining fair value and to select an appropriate amortization methodology for recognizing compensation expense. SFAS 123-R is effective for Gateway on January 1, 2006. The Statement indicates that the modified prospective method of adoption is elective. Under this method, compensation expense will be recorded in the financial statements for 1) all awards granted after January 1, 2006 and the 2) future vesting of awards outstanding as of January 1, 2006. Companies may also elect to restate their previously issued financial statements to provide consistency across all periods presented under a modified retrospective method. Management believes the adoption of SFAS 123-R will have a material impact on Gateway's consolidated results of operations and earnings per share. Gateway has adopted the Black-Scholes methodology for valuing options prices which will be applied prospectively beginning January 1, 2006.

In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, "Share-Based Payment" ("SAB 107"). SAB 107 provides the SEC's view on the interaction between SFAS 123-R and certain SEC rules and regulations. Specifically, SAB 107 provides guidance on share-based payment transactions with non-employees, valuation methods, accounting for certain redeemable financial instruments issued under share-based payment arrangements, the classification of compensation expense, non-GAAP financial measures, capitalization of compensation costs related to share-based payment arrangements, the accounting for income tax effects of share-based payment arrangements upon adoption of SFAS 123-R, the modification of employee share options prior to adoption of SFAS 123-R. The adoption of SAB 107 will not have a material impact on our implementation of SFAS 123-R.

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation ("FIN") No. 47, "Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143." FIN 47 clarifies that liabilities associated with asset-retirement obligations whose timing or method of settlement is conditional upon future events should be recorded at fair value as soon as fair value can be reasonably estimated and provides guidance on whether fair value is considered reasonably estimable. Gateway adopted FIN 47 during the first quarter of 2005 and such adoption did not materially impact Gateway's consolidated results of operations or financial position.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, "Accounting Changes and Error Corrections" which replaces Accounting Principles Board Opinion ("APB") No. 20 "Accounting Changes" and SFAS No. 3, "Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements—an Amendment of APB Opinion No. 28" and changes the requirements for the accounting for, and reporting of, a change in accounting principle. SFAS 154 requires retrospective application to prior period financial statements (to the extent practicable) of changes in accounting principle instead of recognition of the cumulative effect of the change in net income in the period of the change as required by APB No. 20. SFAS 154 also requires that a change in depreciation or amortization be accounted for as a change in accounting estimate affected by a change in accounting principle. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes made by Gateway after January 1, 2006. Management continues to evaluate the effect that adoption of SFAS 154 will have on Gateway's consolidated results of operations and financial position.

In September 2005, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") on Issue No. 04-13, "Accounting for Purchases and Sales of Inventory with the Same Counterparty" (EITF 04-13). EITF 04-13 concludes that two or more legally separate exchange transactions with the same counterparty should be combined and considered as a single arrangement for purposes of applying APB Opinion No. 29, "Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions," when the transactions were entered into "in contemplation" of one another. The consensus contains several indicators to be considered in assessing whether two transactions are entered into in contemplation of one another. If, based on considered a single arrangement, an exchange within the same line of business involving (a) the transfer of raw materials or WIP inventory in exchange for the receipt of finished goods inventory should not be recognized at fair value. Instead they should be transferred at cost with any profit recognized being deferred until sold to end customer. EITF 04-13 should be applied to transactions completed in reporting periods following adoption. Gateway will adopt EITF 04-13 beginning on April 1, 2006. The adoption will not have a significant impact on the company's financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

In November 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position ("FSP") Nos. FAS 115-1 and 124-1, "The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments." This FSP addressees the determination as to when an investment is considered impaired, whether the impairment is 'other-than-temporary', and the measurement of an impairment loss. The investment is impaired if the fair value is less than cost. The impairment is 'other-than-temporary' for equity securities and debt securities that can contractually be prepaid or otherwise settled in such a way that the investor would not recover substantially all of its cost. If 'other-than-temporary', an impairment loss shall be recognized in earnings equal to the difference between the investment's cost and its fair value. The guidance in this FSP is effective in reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company will review FSP Nos. FAS 115-1 and 124-1, but does not expect the adoption of this FSP to have a material impact on its operating results or financial position.

Reclassification

During the first quarter of 2005, Gateway reclassified restricted cash that had previously been included in cash and cash equivalents into other assets, net. Prior period information has been adjusted for consistency with current presentation. This includes a \$55 million decrease in cash and cash equivalents and an offsetting \$55 million increase in other assets, net as of December 31, 2004 from amounts previously reported in our Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2004. The statement of cash flows has also been adjusted accordingly, resulting in increases (decreases) to cash flows from investing activities of \$(17.6) and \$7.3 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are generally not subject to material market risk with respect to our investments classified as marketable securities as such investments are readily marketable, liquid and do not fluctuate substantially from stated value. Regarding long-term investments, Gateway holds and may continue to consider investments in minority interests in companies having operations or technology in areas within Gateway's strategic focus. Adverse changes in market conditions such as occurred in the years starting in 2000, and poor operating results of certain of these underlying investments, have resulted and may in the future result in Gateway incurring losses or an inability to recover the original carrying value of our investments. As of December 31, 2005, we held long term investments of approximately \$3 million.

In October 2004, Gateway entered into a credit agreement with a major financial institution to provide for a revolving credit facility of up to an aggregate of \$200 million. Borrowings under this agreement bear interest at variable-term LIBOR or prime rates, at Gateway's election. As of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2005, Gateway had \$50 million in borrowings outstanding under this agreement. The interest rate as of December 31, 2005 was 6.25%. This interest rate adjusts with changes in the Prime rate. We also utilized the credit agreement to support \$47 million of stand-by letters of credit.

Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

Financial Statements:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms	44
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003	46
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2005 and 2004	47
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003	48
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2005,	
2004 and 2003	49
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	50

Financial Statement Schedule:

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts		78
---	--	----

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Gateway, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Gateway, Inc. and subsidiaries ("the Company") as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows, and stockholders' equity for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. Our audit also included the accompanying financial statement schedule for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. These financial statements and the financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Gateway, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 14, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management's assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Costa Mesa, California March 14, 2006

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Gateway, Inc.

In our opinion, the consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and stockholders' equity for the year ended December 31, 2003 (appearing on pages 46 and 48-49) present fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations and cash flows of Gateway, Inc. and its subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule (Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts) for the year ended December 31, 2003 presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audit. We conducted our audit of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

San Diego, California January 30, 2004, except for Note 12 which is as of December 15, 2004

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

	2005	2004	2003
Net sales	\$3,854,061	\$3,649,734	\$3,402,364
Cost of goods sold	3,531,623	3,342,662	2,938,800
Gross profit	322,438	307,072	463,564
Selling, general and administrative expenses	363,578	909,050	974,139
Microsoft benefit	40,500		
Operating income (loss)	(640)	(601,978)	(510,575)
Other income, net	6,791	20,247	19,328
Income (loss) before income taxes	6,151	(581,731)	(491,247)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	(10)	(14,113)	23,565
Net income (loss)	\$ 6,161	\$ (567,618)	\$ (514,812)
Preferred stock dividends and accretion	—	(7,991)	(11,138)
Gain on redemption of preferred stock		100,133	
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders	\$ 6,161	\$ (475,476)	\$ (525,950)
Net income (loss) per common share:			
Basic	\$ 0.02	\$ (1.31)	\$ (1.62)
Diluted (Note 1)	\$ 0.02	\$ (1.45)	\$ (1.62)
Weighted average shares outstanding:			
Basic	371,661	363,708	324,160
Diluted (Note 1)	372,167	391,115	324,160

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2005 and 2004

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

	2005	2004
ASSETS		
Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents Marketable securities Accounts receivable, net of allowance for uncollectible accounts of \$2,252 and \$3,582 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively	\$ 422,488 163,200 345,288	\$ 327,793 260,537 342,121
Inventory: Components and subassemblies Finished goods	71,163 148,181	60,965 135,359
Total inventory Receivables from suppliers Other	219,344 213,901 209,851	196,324 78,678 138,985
Total current assets Property, plant and equipment, at cost Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization	1,574,072 484,535 (401,379)	1,344,438 493,856 (391,199)
Property, plant and equipment, net Intangible assets, at cost Less: Accumulated amortization	83,156 99,000 (59,538)	102,657 99,000 (53,208)
Intangible assets, net Goodwill and non-amortizable intangible assets Restricted cash Long-term investments Deferred debt issue costs Other assets, net	39,462 205,219 3,754 3,159 7,600 4,643	45,792 205,219 55,179 3,792 9,559 5,151
	\$1,921,065	\$1,771,787
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Current liabilities: Revolving credit facility . Accounts payable Accrued expenses Warranty Restructuring (Note 14) Other accrued liabilities Accrued royalties Deferred revenue . Income taxes payable Other current liabilities Total current liabilities Senior convertible notes Deferred revenue . Warranty Warranty . Deferred tax liabilities . Total liabilities . Deferred tax liabilities . Other long-term liabilities . Total liabilities . Deferred tax liabilities . Total liabilities . Other long-term liabilities . Total liabilit	\$ 50,000 761,895 178,066 34,615 25,897 10,533 68,216 57,834 113,918 3,993 1,304,967 300,000 33,226 2,425 19,840 5,334 1,665,792	\$ 50,000 532,329 154,326 17,033 78,519 22,034 41,796 102,076 114,090 10,449 1,122,652 300,000 77,670 2,258 19,840 4,330 1,526,750
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5) Stockholders' equity: Common stock, \$.01 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized; 377,239 and 374,941 shares issued in 2005 and 2004, respectively Additional paid-in capital Common stock in treasury, at cost, 4,061 shares for 2005 Deferred stock-based compensation Accumulated deficit Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) Net stockholders' equity	3,773 971,761 (23,253) (6,352) (687,886) (2,770) 255,273 \$1,921,065	3,749 965,114 (15,764) (14,439) (694,047) <u>424</u> <u>245,037</u> <u>\$1,771,787</u>

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

(in thousands)

	2005	2004	2003
Cash flows from operating activities:	* * * * * *		*/ * / • • • •
Net income (loss)	\$ 6,161	\$(567,618)	\$(514,812)
(used in) operating activities:			
Write-down of long-lived assets	16,101	156,710	66,397
Depreciation and amortization	38,816	112,225	163,973
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable	5,529	11,198	11,297
Stock-based compensation	13,663	13,617	
Deferred income taxes	 519	46	6,000 808
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment		2,500	6.052
Other, net	1,874	643	1,941
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of the			
eMachines' acquisition:	(0, (0, ()	(50.01.0)	
Accounts receivable	(8,696)	(59,316)	(23,633)
Inventory	(23,020) (205,825)	63,512 40,793	(25,375) 306,258
Accounts payable	222,595	(94,685)	137,716
Accrued liabilities	(24,721)	(32,284)	(95,117)
Accrued royalties	26,420	(19,289)	(8,196)
Other liabilities	(94,143)	(62,250)	39,382
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	(24,727)	(434,198)	72,691
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Purchases of available-for-sale securities	(40,427)	(113,199)	(530,323)
Sales of available-for-sale securities Purchases of property, plant and equipment	189,874 (44,993)	586,176 (34,467)	408,402 (72,978)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment	13,875	12,086	(12,978)
Cash paid in acquisition of eMachines, net of cash acquired		(41,350)	
Payment of shareholder note payable		(22,448)	
Proceeds from principal payments of notes receivable			20,045
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	118,329	386,798	(174,854)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Payment of preferred dividends	1 002	(8,840)	(8,840)
Proceeds from stock option exercises Proceeds from the issuance of senior convertible notes, net	1,093	11,668 290,862	1,794
Proceeds from revolving credit facility, net		50,000	_
Purchase of Series A and C preferred stock		(264,253)	
Purchase of treasury stock		(15,764)	
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	1,093	63,673	(7,046)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	94,695	16,273	(109,209)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year	327,793	311,520	420,729
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	\$ 422,488	\$ 327,793	\$ 311,520

See Note 11 for supplemental disclosure of additional cash flow information, including certain non-cash investing and financing activities.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

(in thousands)

					(III this	(usunds)			Retained	Accumulated	
		ries A red Stock	Commo	on Stock	Treasu	iry Stock	Additional Paid-In Capital	Deferred Stock-Based Compensation	Earnings (Accumulated Deficit)	Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)	Net Equity
		Amount				Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount
Balance, January 1, 2003	50	\$ 200,000	324,072	\$3,240		\$ _	\$732,760	\$ —	\$ 307,379	\$ 3,139	\$1,246,518
Net loss Foreign currency translation Net unrealized loss on available for sale securities, net of tax									(514,812)	355 (699)	(514,812) 355 (699)
Total comprehensive loss Issuance of stock through											(515,156)
option exercises, including tax benefit of \$127 Dividends declared and accretion of redeemable			320	4			1,790		(11.100)		1,794
preferred stock Balance, December 31, 2003	50	\$ 200,000	324 392	\$3,244		<u> </u>	\$734,550	\$	(11,138) $\overline{(218,571)}$	\$ 2,795	(11,138) \$ 722,018
Net loss		÷ 200,000		φ <u></u>		ф 	<u> </u>	Ψ	$\frac{(210,371)}{(567,618)}$	φ 2,795 	(567,618)
Foreign currency translation Net unrealized loss on available for sale securities, net of									(507,018)	(1,643)	(1,643)
										(728)	(728)
Total comprehensive loss Issuance of stock in acquisition of eMachines			42,281	423			190,266				(569,989) 190,689
Issuance of restricted stock in acquisition of eMachines			5,307	53			27,491	(27,544)			
Issuance of stock through option exercises, including			*					(27,344)			
tax benefit of \$656 Redemption of Series A			2,959	29			12,295				12,324
preferred stock	(50)	(200,000))		2,725	(15,764)					(200,000) (15,764)
Gain on redemption of Series A and C preferred stock					2,725	(15,701)			100,133		100,133
Dividends declared and accretion of redeemable preferred stock									(7,991)		(7,991)
Compensation expense on stock options and restricted											
stock				<u>+2 5 (0</u>			512	13,105		<u></u>	13,617
Balance, December 31, 2004	_	\$	374,941	\$3,749	2,725	\$(15,764)	\$965,114	\$(14,439)	\$(694,047)	\$ 424	\$ 245,037
Net income (loss) Foreign currency translation Net unrealized loss on available									6,161	517	6,161 517
for sale securities, net of tax										(3,711)	(3,711)
Total comprehensive income Issuance of stock through option exercises, including											2,967
tax benefit of \$227 Acquisition of treasury stock Compensation expense on stock			2,298	24	1,336	(7,489)	6,647	(5,351)			1,320 (7,489)
options and restricted stock								13,438			13,438
Balance, December 31, 2005	_	\$	377,239	\$3,773	4,061	\$(23,253)	\$971,761	\$ (6,352)	\$(687,806)	\$(2,770)	\$ 255,273

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Gateway directly and indirectly sells its desktop and notebook computers and servers ("PCs"), PC-related products and services that are enabled by or connect with PCs to third-party retailers, consumers, businesses, government agencies and educational institutions. PC-related products and services ("Non-PC") consist of all products and services other than the PC, such as stand-alone monitors, peripherals, software, accessories, extended warranty services, training, Internet access, enterprise system and networking products and services.

On March 11, 2004, Gateway completed its acquisition of eMachines, Inc., a privately-held computer company. These consolidated financial statements include eMachines' results of operations subsequent to March 11, 2004 (see Note 10). On April 9, 2004, Gateway closed its remaining 188 retail stores to pursue wider distribution of its products through third-party retail partners (domestic and international) in addition to continued direct-sales of products to consumers and businesses via Gateway's sales force, website and phone centers.

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of Gateway are as follows:

(a) Basis of Presentation:

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Gateway and its subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(b) Use of Estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates include the fair values ascribed to severable contract elements, provisions for sales returns, bad debts in accounts receivable, excess and/or obsolete inventory, product warranty costs, customer incentive programs including rebates, restructuring activities, deferred tax assets, and litigation matters.

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Gateway considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The carrying amount of these investments approximates fair value because of their short maturities.

During the first quarter of 2005, Gateway reclassified restricted cash that had previously been included in cash and cash equivalents into other assets, net. Prior period information has been adjusted for consistency with current presentation. This includes a \$55 million decrease in cash and cash equivalents and an offsetting \$55 million increase in other assets, net as of December 31, 2004 from amounts previously reported in our Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2004. The statement of cash flows has also been adjusted accordingly, resulting in increases (decreases) to cash flows from investing activities of \$(17.6) and \$7.3 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(d) Marketable Securities:

Marketable securities consist of investments in mutual funds and equity securities with readily determinable fair values, commercial paper and debt securities and are classified as available for sale and carried at fair market value based on quoted market prices. Unrealized gains and losses are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. The specific identification method is used to determine the cost basis in computing realized gains or losses on dispositions of marketable securities.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Gateway regularly monitors and evaluates the realizable value of its investments. When assessing investments for other-than-temporary declines in value, Gateway considers such factors as, among other things, how significant the decline in value is as a percentage of the original cost, how long the market value of the investment has been below original cost, Gateway's ability and intent to continue holding the investment, the regulatory, economic or technological environment of the investee, performance of the investee's stock price in relation to the stock price of its competitors and the market in general, analyst recommendations and forecasts and the outlook for the overall industry in which the investee operates. If events and circumstances indicate that an other-than-temporary decline in the value of an investment has occurred, Gateway records an impairment charge to income in that period.

Included in marketable securities as of December 31, 2005 are unrealized losses of approximately \$1.7 million related to securities. No single security's unrealized loss position is considered significant as a percentage of its cost and management believes Gateway has the ability and intent to hold the underlying securities to maturity and for this reason, no other-than-temporary impairment charge was recorded during 2005.

(e) Inventory:

Inventory, which is comprised of component parts, both owned and consigned, subassemblies and finished goods, including refurbished PCs, is valued at the lower of first-in, first-out (FIFO) cost or market. Component parts and subassemblies consist of raw materials and products other than the PC such as stand-alone monitors, peripherals, software not included with the PC, and accessories. Gateway performs an assessment of its inventories quarterly, reviewing the amounts of inventory on hand and under commitment against its latest forecasted demand requirements to determine whether excess or obsolescence write-downs are required.

Inventory-in-transit balances were approximately \$67 million and \$61 million as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

(f) Internal-use Software:

Gateway capitalizes only those direct costs associated with the actual development or acquisition of computer software for internal use, including costs associated with the design, coding, installation and testing of the system. Costs associated with preliminary development, such as the evaluation and selection of alternatives, as well as training, maintenance and support are expensed as incurred. Gateway is currently migrating to a new enterprise resource planning system as well as new order-capture and back-end service and support systems. A significant change to the planned use of internal-use software could result in a material impairment charge in the reporting period that the change was made.

(g) Property, Plant and Equipment:

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the assets' estimated useful lives, as follows:

	Estimated Useful Life (Years)
Office and Production Equipment	1-7
Furniture and Fixtures	7-10
Internal-use Software	3-5
Vehicles	3
Leasehold Improvements	Lesser of 10 or Lease Life
Buildings	35

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Upon sale or retirement of property, plant and equipment, the related costs and accumulated depreciation or amortization are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is included in the determination of net income (loss).

As part of Gateway's 2003 and 2004 restructuring efforts, the estimated useful lives of certain assets were shortened. These revisions to estimated useful lives resulted in additional depreciation expense of \$5.0 million (\$.01 per share), \$30.6 million (\$.08 per share) and \$21.7 million (\$.07 per share) for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(h) Intangible Assets and Goodwill:

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, generally four to ten years. Intangible assets with indefinite lives such as tradenames and goodwill are not amortized. Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate an event of impairment may exist. During 2004, Gateway revised the estimated useful lives of certain intangible assets based on planned changes in the asset's use, resulting in additional amortization expense of \$1.1 million in 2005 and \$3.3 million in 2004 (see Note 14). Non-amortizable intangible assets, including goodwill, are reviewed for impairment annually during the fourth quarter (based on the discounted cash flow model under the income approach) or whenever events or circumstances indicate an event of impairment may exist. Management's fourth quarter 2005 analysis concluded that no condition of non-amortizable intangible asset impairment existed as of December 31, 2005.

Intangible assets with finite lives acquired through the acquisition of eMachines, including customer-related assets, were assigned useful lives of ten years. Amortization expense related to these assets approximates \$4.8 million annually.

Total intangible asset amortization expense was \$6.3 million (including the \$1.1 million in accelerated amortization), \$16.6 million (including the \$3.3 million in accelerated amortization), and \$9.3 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(i) Long-lived Assets:

Gateway reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An asset is considered to be impaired when the sum of the undiscounted net future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition does not exceed its carrying amount. The amount of impairment loss, if any, is measured as the difference between the net book value of the asset and its estimated fair value based on appraised or other estimated values. See Note 14 for further discussion on asset impairment charges taken in 2005, 2004 and 2003.

(j) Royalties:

Gateway has royalty-bearing license agreements that allow Gateway to sell certain hardware and software which are protected by patent, copyright or license. Royalty costs are accrued and included in cost of goods sold when products are shipped or amortized over the period of benefit when the license terms are not specifically related to the units shipped.

(k) Warranty:

Gateway provides standard warranties with the sale of its products. The estimated cost of providing the product warranty is recorded at the time revenue is recognized. Gateway maintains product quality programs and processes including monitoring and evaluating the quality of its suppliers. Estimated warranty costs are affected by ongoing product failure rates, specific product class failures outside of experience and material usage and

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

service delivery costs incurred in correcting a product failure or in providing customer support. A summary of changes in Gateway's accrued warranty liability, which is included in both current liabilities and non-current liabilities, is as follows (in thousands):

	2005	2004
Accrued warranty, beginning of the year	\$ 19,291	\$ 26,897
Accruals for warranties issued during the year	58,746	55,378
Settlements made	(40,997)	(62,984)
Accrued warranty, end of the year	\$ 37,040	\$ 19,291

(l) Trade Payables Program:

Gateway has an accelerated supplier payment program through which certain suppliers may elect to receive advance payment from a designated finance company on invoices due to them by Gateway. Any difference between the original amount due to the supplier for the goods and/or services received and the amount ultimately required to be repaid by Gateway to the finance company, including fees and interest, is recorded as interest expense (or income, if applicable) for the period. Included in accounts payable is approximately \$30 million that was advanced to suppliers and outstanding to the finance company as of December 31, 2005.

(m) Deferred Stock-Based Compensation:

Gateway issued 5.3 million shares of restricted stock valued at approximately \$27 million to certain executives in connection with its acquisition of eMachines. This amount was recorded as deferred stock-based compensation and is being amortized to compensation expense in accordance with the vesting schedule. Approximately 2.5 million shares vested on January 1, 2005. During the second quarter of 2005, vesting on approximately 0.4 million shares was accelerated for a departing executive, resulting in an additional compensation charge of \$1.3 million. The remaining 2.1 million and 0.3 million shares vest on January 1, 2006 and 2007, respectively. Deferred stock based compensation was \$6.4 million as of December 31, 2005.

(n) Revenue Recognition:

Gateway recognizes revenue on PCs, servers and Non-PC products when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the sales price is fixed and determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenue from training services, previously offered through our store network, was recognized as the services were provided. Revenue from Internet services provided by third parties is recognized as the services are provided based on subscriber counts reported to us by the service providers. If the actual subscriber counts or the economics associated with these subscriber counts prove to be more or less than originally reported by the service providers, we may be required to adjust revenue. In the fourth quarter of 2002, America Online, Inc. ("AOL") unilaterally recomputed payments it had made in 2001 and the first half of 2002 and withheld the claimed overpayments from amounts currently owed to us. We disputed AOL's retroactive adjustment and reached a settlement in November 2004 for \$2.5 million related to the contested period and an additional \$1.6 million for subsequent periods through 2004. This was recognized as revenue in 2004. Revenue from the sale of other services rendered by third parties, such as installation services, is generally recognized when such services are performed.

Gateway records reductions in revenue in the current period for estimated future product returns and estimated rebate redemption rates related to current period sales. Management analyzes historical returns, current trends, changes in customer demand and acceptance of our products when evaluating the adequacy of the sales returns allowances in any accounting period. Management also analyzes historical rebate redemption rates, current trends and the interrelationship of these rates with the current rebate dollar amounts in evaluating rebate allowances. If actual returns exceed estimated returns or if actual rebate redemptions exceed estimates, we would

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

be required to record additional reductions to revenue which would affect earnings in the period the adjustments are made. Gateway also records reductions to revenue for estimated commitments related to other customer and sales incentive programs. This includes, among other things, trade-ins and referral credits. Future market conditions and product transitions may require us to increase customer incentive programs that could result in incremental reductions of revenue at the time such programs are offered, which would affect earnings in the period the adjustments are made. Gateway recorded the following amounts against revenue for rebates for 2005, 2004 and 2003 of \$69 million, \$105 million and \$12 million, respectively. Gateway recorded the following amounts against revenue for returns for 2005, 2004 and 2003 of \$186 million, \$226 million and \$109 million, respectively.

Gateway offers its customers an option to purchase extended warranties. Revenue related to sales of extended warranties sold on behalf of third-parties is recognized at the time of sale, net of amounts due to the third-party. Revenue from sales of extended warranties where Gateway is the legal obligor is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the warranty service period. Gateway expects that deferred revenue, and the revenue stream associated with it, will continue to decline in future quarters. A schedule of additions to extended warranty deferred revenue which is included in other liabilities and other long-term liabilities and recognition of extended warranty revenue for the periods presented is as follows (in thousands):

	2005	2004
Extended warranty deferred revenue, beginning of the period	\$ 178,381	\$ 216,790
Additions to extended warranty deferred revenue	23,193	93,839
Extended warranty revenue recognized	(113,768)	(132,248)
Extended warranty deferred revenue, end of the period	\$ 87,806	\$ 178,381

Terms of the contract were retroactive and applicable to extended service plans sold after October 1, 2004. Included in other income, net for 2005 and 2004 were \$1.2 million and \$6.9 million gains, respectively, on the extinguishment of extended service plan liabilities in connection with the retroactive application of this contract.

(o) Shipping and Handling:

Shipping and handling costs are included in costs of sales for all periods presented. Shipping and handling costs charged to customers is recorded as revenue in the period the related product sales revenue is recognized.

(p) Advertising Costs:

Advertising costs are charged to expense as incurred and are included within selling, general and administrative expenses. Advertising expenses were approximately \$57 million, \$79 million and \$188 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(q) Income Taxes:

The provision or benefit for income taxes is computed using the liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Other current liabilities include tax liabilities related to current or future federal, state or foreign tax audits. See Note 6.

(r) Net Income (Loss) Per Share:

Basic income (loss) per common share is computed using net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted income

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

(loss) per common share (if applicable) is computed using net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders, as adjusted, and the combination of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and all potentially dilutive common shares outstanding during the period unless the inclusion of such shares is anti-dilutive.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted income (loss) per share for 2005, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

	2005	2004	2003
Basic net income (loss) per share calculation:			
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders—basic	\$ 6,161	\$(475,476)	\$(525,950)
Weighted average shares outstanding—basic	371,661	363,708	324,160
Basic net income (loss per) share	\$ 0.02	\$ (1.31)	\$ (1.62)
Diluted net income (loss) per share calculation:			
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders—basic	\$ 6,161	\$(475,476)	\$(525,950)
Preferred stock dividends and accretion	—	7,991	
Gain on redemption of preferred stock		(100,133)	
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders—diluted	\$ 6,161	\$(567,618)	\$(525,950)
Weighted average shares outstanding—basic	371,661	363,708	324,160
Series A preferred stock	—	21,631	
Series C preferred stock		5,776	
Stock options	506		
Weighted average shares outstanding—diluted	372,167	391,115	324,160
Diluted net income (loss) per share	\$ 0.02	\$ (1.45)	\$ (1.62)

The 2004 gain on redemption of the Series A and C preferred stock is included in net income attributable to common shareholders in accordance with EITF Topic D-42 but excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share under the "if-converted" method of SFAS 128, "Earnings Per Share". Diluted shares for 2004 and 2003 excludes 3,145, and 1,989 weighted average incremental shares, respectively, related to employee and director stock options despite their exercise prices being below the average market price of Gateway common stock as their effect on loss per share is anti-dilutive. Diluted shares also excludes 881 weighted average incremental shares related to the senior convertible notes in 2005 and 2004, respectively, and 28,177 weighted average incremental shares in 2003 and 2002 related to the Series A and C Preferred Stock under the if-converted method as their effect is anti-dilutive. Gateway has also excluded from diluted loss per share 51,509 shares, 52,112 shares and 47,082 shares for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, related to employee and director stock options and non-employee warrants which have exercise prices greater than the average market price of the common shares for those periods.

(s) Stock-based Compensation:

Gateway's Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the accelerated vesting of all unvested options held by current employees, directors and officers which had exercise prices greater than \$2.84 per share on October 4, 2005. Because these options had exercise prices significantly in excess of Gateway's stock price of \$2.84 on the date of approval, Gateway believed that these options did not provide sufficient incentive to the employees when compared with the potential future compensation expense that would have been attributable to these options. The acceleration resulted in the recognition of an additional \$54 million pro-forma

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

pre tax stock based compensation in 2005. In accordance with current accounting guidance, this acceleration eliminates the future compensation expense Gateway would otherwise recognize in its statement of operations with respect to these options with the implementation of SFAS 123-R in 2006.

On October 4, 2005, 2.0 million shares of restricted stock were granted to employees. These shares vest in four equal annual installments. A deferred compensation liability of \$5.6 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2005 balance sheet in association with this restricted stock grant.

Gateway measures compensation expense for its employee and non-employee director stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method. Compensation charges related to other non-employee stock-based compensation are measured using fair value methods. The fair value of options was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions for the periods indicated:

	For the Year Ended December 31,			
	2005	2004	2003	
Dividend yield	—	_	_	
Risk-free interest rate	4%	4%	4%	
Expected volatility	67%	80%	71%	
Expected option term (after vesting)	3.5 years	3.5 years	3.5 years	

Had compensation expense for employee and director stock options been determined based on the fair value of the options on the date of the grant based on the assumptions outlined in Note 8 and applying graded vesting, net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share for 2005, 2004 and 2003 would have resulted in the following pro forma amounts (in thousands, except per share amounts):

	2005	2004	2003
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders—as reported	\$ 6,161	\$(475,476)	\$(525,950)
Add: compensation expense included in net income, net of related tax effects Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined	13,438	13,617	
under fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects	(74,278)	(46,937)	(27,439)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders—pro forma	\$(54,679)	\$(508,796)	\$(553,389)
Basic net income (loss) per share—as reported	\$ 0.02	<u>(1.31)</u>	\$ (1.62)
Basic net income (loss) per share—pro forma	<u>\$ (0.15)</u>	\$ (1.40)	\$ (1.71)
Diluted net income (loss) per share—as reported	\$ 0.02	<u>(1.45)</u>	\$ (1.62)
Diluted net income (loss) per share—pro forma	<u>\$ (0.15</u>)	<u>\$ (1.54</u>)	\$ (1.71)

(t) Treasury Stock:

Gateway has repurchased shares of its common stock which are held in treasury. This includes 2.7 million shares repurchased during the fourth quarter of 2004 in connection with the repurchase of the Series A and Series C preferred stock from America Online, Inc. In March 2004, Gateway issued 5.3 million shares of restricted stock to certain executives in connection with its acquisition of eMachines. In January 2005, approximately 2.5 million of these shares vested and the executives surrendered their restricted stock certificates for fully vested, unrestricted shares and cash. Gateway issued 1.4 million shares of unrestricted stock (subject to certain

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

limitations on disposition) and provided cash for the remaining 1.1 million shares to assist the executives in meeting certain tax liabilities associated with such vesting. During the second quarter of 2005, vesting on approximately 0.4 million restricted shares was accelerated for a departing executive. Approximately 0.2 million shares of this 0.4 million shares were held-back and issued as cash to assist the executive in meeting certain tax liabilities associated with vesting. All shares held-back to cover tax liabilities are valued at their fair market value on the vesting date and are included in treasury stock. Treasury stock is accounted for under the cost method and is available for issuance. Gateway purchased treasury stock in the amount of \$7.5 million and \$15.1 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively.

(u) Foreign Currency:

Gateway considers the U.S. dollar to be its functional currency for certain of its international operations and the local currency for all others. For subsidiaries where the local currency is the functional currency, the assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Gains and losses from translation are included in accumulated other comprehensive income. Gains and losses resulting from remeasuring monetary asset and liability accounts that are denominated in currencies other than a subsidiary's functional currency are included in other income, net and are not significant.

(v) Segment Data:

Gateway reports segment data based on the internal reporting that is used by senior management for making operating decisions and assessing performance. During the second quarter of 2004 and in connection with the acquisition of eMachines, Gateway reorganized its internal reporting structure and created two new segments, Retail and International. Gateway's operating segments are Direct (previously Consumer), Professional, Retail and International. The International segment currently meets the aggregation criteria of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information" and is included in the Retail segment for external reporting purposes. See Note 12.

(w) New Accounting Pronouncements:

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard ("SFAS") No. 151, "Inventory Costs—An Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, Inventory Pricing" to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material or spoilage that may be incurred. Among other things, SFAS 151 requires that these items be recognized as charges to expense in the periods incurred and clarifies that fixed production overhead costs be allocated to inventory based on "normal" production capacity. Unallocated overhead costs associated with abnormally low or high production in a given period should be charged to expense in that period. SFAS 151 is effective for Gateway on January 1, 2006 and management does not believe adoption of this statement will have a material impact on Gateway's consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123-R, "Share-Based Payment" to replace SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation" and APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees." SFAS 123-R requires, among other things, that all share-based payments to employees, including grants of stock options, be measured at the grant-date fair value and recognized as expense in the financial statements. Unless observable market prices exist, the grant-date fair value is estimated using an appropriate option-pricing model as determined by management. SFAS 123-R requires management to make certain assumptions about employee exercise habits and forfeiture rates in determining fair value and to select an appropriate amortization methodology for recognizing compensation expense. SFAS 123-R is effective for Gateway on January 1, 2006. The Statement indicates that the modified prospective method of adoption is elective. Under this method, compensation expense will be recorded in the financial statements for 1) all awards

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

granted after January 1, 2006 and the 2) future vesting of awards outstanding as of January 1, 2006. Companies may also elect to restate their previously issued financial statements to provide consistency across all periods presented under a modified retrospective method. Management believes the adoption of SFAS 123-R will have a material impact on Gateway's consolidated results of operations and earnings per share. Gateway has adopted the Black-Scholes methodology for valuing options prices which will be applied prospectively beginning January 1, 2006.

In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, "Share-Based Payment" ("SAB 107"). SAB 107 provides the SEC's view on the interaction between SFAS 123-R and certain SEC rules and regulations. Specifically, SAB 107 provides guidance on share-based payment transactions with non-employees, valuation methods, accounting for certain redeemable financial instruments issued under share-based payment arrangements, the classification of compensation expense, non-GAAP financial measures, capitalization of compensation costs related to share-based payment arrangements, the accounting for income tax effects of share-based payment arrangements upon adoption of SFAS 123-R, the modification of employee share options prior to adoption of SFAS 123-R. The adoption of SAB 107 will not have a material impact on our implementation of SFAS 123-R.

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation ("FIN") No. 47, "Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143." FIN 47 clarifies that liabilities associated with asset-retirement obligations whose timing or method of settlement is conditional upon future events should be recorded at fair value as soon as fair value can be reasonably estimated and provides guidance on whether fair value is considered reasonably estimable. Gateway adopted FIN 47 during the first quarter of 2005 and such adoption did not materially impact Gateway's consolidated results of operations or financial position.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, "Accounting Changes and Error Corrections" which replaces Accounting Principles Board Opinion ("APB") No. 20 "Accounting Changes" and SFAS No. 3, "Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements—an Amendment of APB Opinion No. 28" and changes the requirements for the accounting for, and reporting of, a change in accounting principle. SFAS 154 requires retrospective application to prior period financial statements (to the extent practicable) of changes in accounting principle instead of recognition of the cumulative effect of the change in net income in the period of the change as required by APB No. 20. SFAS 154 also requires that a change in depreciation or amortization be accounted for as a change in accounting estimate affected by a change in accounting principle. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes made by Gateway after January 1, 2006. Management continues to evaluate the effect that adoption of SFAS 154 will have on Gateway's consolidated results of operations and financial position.

In September 2005, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") on Issue No. 04-13, "Accounting for Purchases and Sales of Inventory with the Same Counterparty" (EITF 04-13). EITF 04-13 concludes that two or more legally separate exchange transactions with the same counterparty should be combined and considered as a single arrangement for purposes of applying APB Opinion No. 29, "Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions," when the transactions were entered into "in contemplation" of one another. The consensus contains several indicators to be considered in assessing whether two transactions are entered into in contemplation of one another. If, based on considered a single arrangement, an exchange within the same line of business involving (a) the transfer of raw materials or WIP inventory in exchange for the receipt of finished goods inventory should not be recognized at fair value. Instead they should be transferred at cost with any profit recognized being deferred until sold to end customer. EITF 04-13 should be applied to transactions completed in reporting periods following adoption. Gateway will adopt EITF 04-13 beginning on April 1, 2006. The adoption will not have a significant impact on the company's financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

In November 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position ("FSP") Nos. FAS 115-1 and 124-1, "The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments." This FSP addressees the determination as to when an investment is considered impaired, whether the impairment is 'other-than-temporary', and the measurement of an impairment loss. The investment is impaired if the fair value is less than cost. The impairment is 'other-than-temporary' for equity securities and debt securities that can contractually be prepaid or otherwise settled in such a way that the investor would not recover substantially all of its cost. If 'other-than-temporary', an impairment loss shall be recognized in earnings equal to the difference between the investment's cost and its fair value. The guidance in this FSP is effective in reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company will review FSP Nos. FAS 115-1 and 124-1, but does not expect the adoption of this FSP to have a material impact on its operating results or financial position.

2. Selected Balance Sheet Information (in thousands except where otherwise noted):

Gateway purchases selected raw materials from component suppliers and, where possible, in lieu of a consignment arrangement, resells the raw materials to original design manufacturers to incorporate into products being manufactured for Gateway. The receivable for the sale of the raw materials is recorded as Receivables from suppliers, when Gateway does not have the contractual right to net the receivable against the payable; thus, such arrangements have the effect of increasing other current assets and decreasing inventory. In 2005, we changed from a consignment arrangement to buy/sell terms with one key original design manufacturer increasing the Receivables from suppliers balance by \$85 million. The remainder of the increase in Receivables from suppliers is attributable to Gateway's increase in sales of component parts to original design manufacturers.

	2005	2004
Receivables from suppliers	\$ 213,901	\$ 78,678
Other current assets:		
Prepaid expenses	67,162	\$ 58,270
Assets held for sale	9,162	34,312
Other	133,527	46,403
	\$ 209,851	\$ 138,985
Property, plant and equipment, net:		
Land	\$ 1,904	\$ 9,889
Leasehold improvements	6,344	8,788
Buildings	40,149	58,113
Construction in progress	23,103	3,168
Internal-use software	248,325	247,686
Office and production equipment	152,350	152,710
Furniture and fixtures	12,047	13,121
Vehicles	313	381
	484,535	493,856
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization	(401,379)	(391,199)
Property, plant and equipment, net	\$ 83,156	\$ 102,657
Accumulated other comprehensive income:		
Foreign currency translation	\$ (1,025)	\$ (1,543)
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes	(1,745)	^(1,943) 1,967
	\$ (2,770)	\$ 424

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

3. Financing Arrangements:

On October 30, 2004, Gateway entered into a credit agreement with a major financial institution to provide for a revolving credit facility of up to an aggregate of \$200 million. Borrowings under this agreement bear interest, at Gateway's election, based on LIBOR or the prime rate and are secured by substantially all of Gateway's accounts receivable, inventory and certain deposit accounts into which accounts receivable payments are initially deposited. The agreement contains usual and customary covenants for an arrangement of its type, including an obligation of Gateway to maintain at all times \$150 million of unrestricted cash and marketable securities. The agreement expires on October 31, 2009, at which time all amounts then outstanding will be due and payable. Gateway had borrowings outstanding under this credit agreement of \$50 million, bearing interest at 6.25% as of December 31, 2005. In addition, the credit facility supported \$47 million in stand-by letters of credit. As of February 22, 2006, we had repaid the \$50 million borrowing and reduced the letters of credit outstanding under this agreement to \$32 million.

In December 2004, Gateway completed the sale of \$300 million of senior convertible notes through a private placement to institutional investors, including \$150 million of 1.50% senior convertible notes due December 31, 2009 and \$150 million of 2.00% senior convertible notes due December 31, 2011. The notes are direct, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of Gateway and rank equal in priority to Gateway's existing and future unsecured indebtedness and senior in right of payment to any future subordinated indebtedness. Each \$1,000 note is initially convertible into 115.8749 shares of Gateway common stock based on an initial conversion price of \$8.63, or approximately 34.8 million shares in aggregate, at anytime prior to the close of business on the business day immediately prior to scheduled maturity. Gateway may settle a conversion election in cash, common shares or a combination of both. Note holders who elect to convert upon the occurrence of any transaction or event in connection with which 90% or more of Gateway's common stock is exchanged for, converted into, acquired for or constitutes solely the right to receive, consideration which is not at least 90% common stock that is listed on a United States national securities exchange or approved for trading on the NASDAQ National Market may be entitled to receive additional shares of Gateway common stock based on established formulas. Gateway may not redeem the notes prior to maturity but note holders may require Gateway to repurchase all or a portion of the notes at 100% of principal plus accrued and unpaid interest upon occurrence of certain defined designated events. Interest is payable semi-annually each June 30 and December 31.

Gateway recorded interest expense of \$6.1 million, \$0.8 million and \$1.0 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

4. Marketable Securities and Long-Term Investments:

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the carrying value of Gateway's marketable securities and long-term investments is as follows (in thousands):

	2005					
	Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses—Less Than 1 Year	Gross Unrealized Losses—More than 1 Year	Other than Temporary Charges	Carrying Value
State and municipal securities	\$ 10,950	\$—	\$ —	\$	\$—	\$ 10,950
Mortgage-backed securities	29,071	1	(16)	(345)		28,492
U.S. Government and agencies	74,306	1	(127)	(745)		73,344
Corporate debt securities	52,787	6	(35)	(492)		50,414
Publicly traded equity securities						
Total marketable securities	\$167,114	\$ 8	<u>\$(178)</u>	\$(1,583)	<u>\$</u>	\$163,200
Long-term investments, at cost	\$ 3,159	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$ </u>	\$ <u> </u>	\$ 3,159

		2004				
	Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses—Less Than 1 Year	Gross Unrealized Losses—More than 1 Year	Other than Temporary Charges	Carrying Value
State and municipal securities	\$ 22,906	\$ —	\$ (11)	\$ —	\$—	\$ 22,895
Mortgage-backed securities	53,432	3	(436)	(88)		52,911
U.S. Government and agencies	79,636	2	(840)	(58)		78,740
Corporate debt securities	90,719	4	(432)	(101)		90,190
Publicly traded equity securities	11,950	3,851				15,801
Total marketable securities	\$258,643	\$3,860	\$(1,719)	<u>\$(247)</u>	<u>\$</u>	\$260,537
Long-term investments, at cost	\$ 3,792	<u>\$ </u>	<u>\$ </u>	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$</u>	\$ 3,792

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Unrealized losses in mortgage-backed, U.S. government and agency and corporate debt securities are largely due to recent interest rate increases. Management continues to monitor its marketable security portfolio but does not believe the unrealized losses as of December 31, 2005 are other-than-temporary. As a result, no other-than-temporary impairment charges were recorded in 2005 or 2004. Gateway recorded pre-tax other-than-temporary impairment charges of \$3 million in 2003 and there were no other-than-temporary impairment charges recorded in 2004. The following table summarizes debt maturities, excluding mortgage-backed securities which are not due on a single maturity date, at December 31, 2005 (in thousands):

	Amortized Cost	Carrying Value
Less than one year	\$101,305	\$ 98,640
Due in 2-3 years	36,738	36,068
Due in 4-5 years		—
Due after 5 years		
	\$138,043	\$134,708

At December 31, 2005, Gateway held approximately \$16 million in auction rate securities. Gateway held no auction rate securities at December 31, 2004.

5. Commitments, Contingencies and Concentrations:

Commitments

Gateway leases certain operating facilities and equipment under noncancelable operating leases expiring at various dates through 2010. Rent expense excluding closed facilities under restructuring plans was approximately \$3 million, \$11 million, and \$42 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Gateway also subleases certain closed facilities.

Gateway has entered into licensing and royalty agreements that allow it to use certain hardware and software intellectual properties in its products. Total royalty expense in many cases is based on the number of units sold and actual amounts to be paid will be greater than the minimum amount stated in the table below.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Future minimum lease expense and sublease income under terms of noncancelable operating lease and sublease agreements, including lease and sublease amounts associated with closed facilities which are included in restructuring liabilities, and minimum royalty expense under royalty agreements as of December 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31:	Lease Obligations	Sublease Income	Net Leases	Royalty Agreements
2006	\$ 24,378	\$14,306	\$10,071	\$24,189
2007	24,044	13,798	10,246	6,525
2008	22,364	12,476	9,888	7,152
2009	18,066	12,758	5,307	7,152
2010	16,371	13,157	3,214	7,152
Thereafter	18,435	16,276	2,158	10,078
Total	\$123,658	\$82,774	\$40,884	\$62,248

Certain of Gateway's operating lease commitments have been accrued for in connection with its restructuring actions. See Note 14 for further information.

Contingencies

Gateway had stand-by letters of credit and guarantees outstanding at December 31, 2005, amounting to \$47 million. Beginning in the second quarter of 2005, these letters of credit and guarantees are primarily secured by Gateway's letter of credit line under its revolving credit facility.

Gateway is a party to various lawsuits, claims, including assertions of patent infringements, investigations and administrative proceedings that arise in connection with its business, including those identified below. Gateway evaluates such matters on a case by case basis, and its policy is to vigorously contest any such claims it believes are without merit.

Hewlett-Packard Patent Litigation

Hewlett-Packard Development Company, L.P. v. Gateway, Inc. is a suit filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California on March 24, 2004. The complaint alleges that Gateway infringed six patents owned by Hewlett-Packard Development Company, L.P. ("HPDC"). On April 2, 2004, HPDC amended its complaint to allege the infringement of four additional patents. HPDC seeks damages, including treble damages, an injunction, prejudgment interest, costs and attorneys' fees. Gateway has answered the complaint denying the allegations and alleging numerous affirmative defenses. In addition, Gateway has also asserted counterclaims against HPDC and Hewlett-Packard Company ("HP") for patent infringement of five patents owned by Gateway and seeking damages, including treble damages, an injunction, prejudgment interest, costs and attorneys' fees. On June 16, 2004, Gateway amended its counterclaims to add three additional patents and to delete three other patents from its infringement claims. As a result of the actions described below in the Amiga Development LLC matter and the August 18th Gateway Declaratory Judgment matter, HP ultimately added four additional patents in the present case, seeking the same relief as outlined above. Markman hearings involving the 19 patents-in-suit began in January 2005, and were substantially completed by January 2006. In October 2005, Intel Corporation intervened to defend Gateway on the patents asserted by HPDC that cover solely Intel products. In January 2006, HP and Intel stipulated to Intel's withdrawal from the suit based on HP's agreement to not pursue any patent claims against Gateway based upon Gateway's resale of Intel products. Discovery has begun but is not yet completed. In January 2006, the court divided the case into six trials to be held approximately one month apart, with the first scheduled to begin August 28, 2006. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet in which both parties agreed to cross-license

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

each other's patent portfolios for a period of seven years and also agreed to dismiss all claims in litigation against the other company. The parties expect to execute a definitive cross-license and settlement agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding and any related litigation between the parties, with the intent that such actions will be dismissed and terminated in connection with execution of the definitive agreement. See Note 16 for further discussion.

HPDC and HP also filed a complaint with the United States International Trade Commission ("ITC") in Washington, D.C., entitled In re Certain Personal Computers, Server Computers, and Components Thereof against Gateway, Inc. in the United States International Trade Commission in Washington, D.C. on May 6, 2004. The ITC instituted the proceeding on June 7, 2004. The complaint alleges that Gateway products infringe seven patents obtained by HP from Compaq Computer. The complaint seeks an order excluding any infringing products from being imported and a cease and desist order enjoining sales of those products. Gateway has answered the complaint denying the allegations and alleging numerous affirmative defenses, and the parties are now completing the discovery process. HP has withdrawn three patents from the case, and withdrawn the assertion of a number of claims of the remaining patents. On August 8, 2005, the Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") issued an initial determination finding all but two of the patents invalid and/or not infringed. Of the remaining two patents, 15 of the 19 asserted claims were held invalid. The remaining four claims were found to be infringed. In August 2005, Gateway filed a petition for review with the full ITC. In December 2005, the ITC reversed the ALJ's findings that Gateway literally infringed the remaining four claims, and remanded the question of whether there might be infringement under the doctrine of equivalents to the ALJ for further consideration. The ITC affirmed the remaining findings by the ALJ that Gateway had no liability on the other asserted patents. Briefing before the ALJ on the remanded issues is underway, with a decision from the ALJ scheduled to be issued on or before March 31, 2006, and a final determination by the ITC scheduled to be issued on or before May 31, 2006. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet as described above. The parties expect to execute a definitive agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding as described above. See Note 16 for further discussion.

HPDC also filed a complaint entitled *Hewlett-Packard Development Company, L.P. v. eMachines, Inc.* in the United States District Court for the Western District of Wisconsin on October 21, 2004, and amended its complaint on or about November 11, 2004. The original complaint alleges that eMachines has infringed three patents previously asserted by HPDC against Gateway in the ITC. The amended complaint asserts infringement of two additional patents. HPDC seeks damages, including treble damages, an injunction, prejudgment interest, costs and attorneys' fees, and moved for a preliminary injunction barring eMachines' sales based on assertions of infringement of one of the patents in suit, U.S. Patent No. 5,737,604. On December 1, 2004, the Court denied HPDC's motion for a preliminary injunction. In January 2005, HPDC withdrew two of the original asserted patents from the case. On February 17, 2005, the Court granted eMachines' motion to transfer the action to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas. No trial is yet scheduled. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet as described above. The parties expect to execute a definitive agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding as described above. See Note 16 for further discussion.

On July 2, 2004, Gateway, Inc. filed a complaint with the ITC entitled *Certain Personal Computers, Monitors, and Components Thereof.* On August 3, 2004, the ITC initiated proceedings in response to Gateway's complaint. The complaint alleges that products imported into the United States by or for HP, including Compaq products, infringe one or more of three patents owned by Gateway. The complaint seeks a determination that HP has violated Section 337 of the Trade Act due to the infringement, and requests that the ITC issue an order excluding any infringing products from being imported, and enjoining sales of those products. HP has answered the complaint by denying the allegations and alleging numerous affirmative defenses, and the parties are in the

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

discovery process. In February 2005, a Markman hearing was held and in March 2005 the Court issued an order interpreting the claims of the three asserted patents. Gateway has since withdrawn the assertion of two of the patents and is proceeding to trial on the remaining patent, which relates to multimedia PCs. The trial was held in late May 2005 before the same ALJ presiding over the HPDC and HP ITC action. Post-trial briefing was completed on June 24, 2005. On October 6, 2005, the ALJ issued an initial determination finding all claims of the asserted patent to be infringed. However, the ALJ determined all but one of the claims was invalid in view of prior art, that all claims were invalid for lack of enablement, and that the patent was unenforceable for inequitable conduct during prosecution. A Petition for Review by the full ITC was filed October 17, 2005. On December 1, 2005, the ITC agreed to undertake review of the ALJ's decision that the patent was invalid for lack of enablement, and remanded to the ALJ for further findings on the issue of inequitable conduct. The ITC affirmed the other findings of the ALJ. On January 12, 2006, the ALJ issued a supplemental opinion reaffirming his conclusion of inequitable conduct, and further briefing on this issue before the ITC has been completed. A decision from the ITC was scheduled to be issued on or before February 27, 2006, but the parties have asked the ITC to delay the issuance of that decision. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet as described above. The parties expect to execute a definitive agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding as described above. See Note 16 for further discussion.

On July 2, 2004, *Amiga Development LLC v. Hewlett-Packard Co.* was filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas, by AD Technologies LLC (formerly known as Amiga Development LLC), a holding company for intellectual property, in which Gateway has a majority equity interest but which is controlled by Theodore W. Waitt, Gateway's founder and significant stockholder. The complaint originally filed by Amiga alleges that HP is infringing three patents owned by Amiga. On July 21, 2005, however, Gateway filed an Amended Complaint dropping one of the asserted patents and has since dropped assertions relating to another of the three originally filed patents. Discovery has commenced and is ongoing. A Markman hearing to interpret the claims of the remaining asserted patent has been held, but the court has yet to issue its ruling. Trial is scheduled to commence on May 1, 2006. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet as described above. The parties expect to execute a definitive agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding as described above. See Note 16 for further discussion.

On August 18, 2004, Gateway filed a complaint entitled *Gateway, Inc. v. Hewlett-Packard Development Company, L.P.* in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California seeking a declaratory judgment that Gateway has not infringed four HPDC patents and that those four HPDC patents are invalid. HPDC filed counterclaims against Gateway alleging that Gateway has infringed these four patents. HPDC seeks damages, including treble damages, an injunction, prejudgment interest, costs and attorneys' fees. As noted above, the dispute over these four patents has been consolidated with the *HPDC v. Gateway* matter pending in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet as described above. The parties expect to execute a definitive agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding as described above. See Note 16 for further discussion.

On June 6, 2005, HP and HPDC filed a complaint in Superior Court of California, Santa Clara County, against eMachines, Inc. alleging a breach of contract relating to a patent license between HP and eMachines. The suit claims the right to audit royalty payments made by eMachines under the license and the recovery of any royalty payments determined to be owed but not paid, plus the costs of the audit and interest. eMachines has filed an answer, and a Case Management Conference was held in October 2005. Discovery has commenced. No trial date has been set. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet as

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

described above. The parties expect to execute a definitive agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding as described above. See Note 16 for further discussion.

On July 6, 2005, HP and HPDC filed an additional complaint entitled *Certain Personal Computers, Monitors and Components Thereof* with the ITC requesting that it investigate HPDC's allegation that Gateway and eMachines infringe five patents owned by HPDC. On August 5, 2005, the ITC initiated the investigation. The answer has been filed and discovery is ongoing. A Markman hearing was conducted in January 2006. The hearing before the ALJ is scheduled for May 2006. On February 23, 2006, in a joint mediation session, the parties signed a Binding Term Sheet as described above. The parties expect to execute a definitive agreement in March 2006, and have agreed in the interim to take all actions necessary to stay this proceeding as described above. See Note 16 for further discussion.

Other Litigation

Lucent Technologies, Inc. v. Gateway, Inc. is a suit filed on June 6, 2002 in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, and which was subsequently transferred to the United States District Court for the Southern District of California, asserting that Gateway infringes seven patents owned by Lucent Technologies, Inc. On or about February 26, 2003, Microsoft intervened in the action, seeking to challenge Lucent's allegations with respect to five of the seven patents. In addition, on April 8, 2003, Microsoft filed an action against Lucent in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California. The suit seeks declaratory judgment that Microsoft products do not infringe patents held by Lucent, including the five patents upon which Microsoft based its intervention in the action Lucent brought against Gateway. On February 20, 2003, Lucent also sued Dell Inc. in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware on six patents, all of which are included in Microsoft's declaratory judgment action, and several of which are asserted by Lucent against Gateway. The suit against Dell was subsequently transferred to the United States District Court for the Southern District of California, where all three actions have been consolidated for discovery purposes. Lucent subsequently filed amended complaints against Dell and Gateway, respectively, to assert now the same patents against each. Through its amendments, Lucent asserted one additional patent against Dell and four additional patents against Gateway. All of the patents added through amendment are at issue in the Microsoft declaratory judgment action. The Court began conducting a Markman hearing on the asserted patents in August 2003 and conducted over 30 days of hearings before concluding the Markman hearing in September 2005. In September 2005, the court also granted a summary judgment of invalidity with respect to one of the Lucent patents asserted against Gateway. Discovery is ongoing. The three actions, which have been consolidated for all purposes but trial, currently have a tentative trial date of December 2006.

Dvorchak v. eMachines, Inc., et al. is a shareholder class action against eMachines, Inc. and others filed in November 2001, in California State Superior Court, County of Orange, relating to a 2001 transaction in which eMachines, which was then a public company, was taken private. The action originally sought to enjoin eMachines' merger with Empire Acquisition Corp. (the Merger) to effectuate taking eMachines private. The court denied the requested injunction on December 27, 2001, allowing the consummation of the Merger. After the Merger, plaintiffs filed amended complaints seeking unspecified monetary damages and/or rescission relating to the negotiations for and terms of the Merger through allegations of breaches of fiduciary duties by eMachines, its board members prior to the Merger, and certain of its officers. The court granted class certification on August 25, 2003. Dispositive motions filed by the defendants were heard and denied by the Court in August 2004 and August 2005. The trial is currently scheduled to commence on April 3, 2006.

In accordance with SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for Contingencies," Gateway reserves for a legal liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. At least quarterly Gateway reviews and adjusts these reserves to reflect the impacts of negotiations, settlements,

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

rulings, advice of legal counsel and other information and events pertaining to a particular case. The ultimate outcome of such matters cannot presently be determined or estimated. Gateway's management believes that Gateway has sufficiently reserved for legal matters and that the ultimate resolution of pending matters will not have a material adverse impact on Gateway's consolidated financial position, operating results or cash flows. However, the results of legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty. Should Gateway fail to prevail in current legal matters or should one or more of these legal matters be resolved against Gateway, Gateway could be required to pay substantial monetary damages or, if injunctive relief is granted, may be prohibited from selling one or more of its products and, in either case, its operating results and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

Concentrations

Gateway depends on many third-party suppliers, service providers and manufacturers for key products and components contained in its products and service solutions offerings. For some of these products and components, Gateway may only use a single source supplier, in part due to the lack of alternative sources of supply or to obtain favorable pricing. If the supply of a key product or component were to be delayed or curtailed, Gateway's ability to ship the related product or solution in desired quantities and in a timely manner could be adversely affected which, in turn would adversely affect Gateway's results of operations. In cases where alternative sources of supply are available, qualification of the sources and establishment of reliable alternate suppliers could result in delays and possibly adversely affect results of operations. To minimize the risks associated with supplier concentration, we monitor the financial status of certain key suppliers, assess the likelihood of disruption to the supply of products or components, and establish a plan to migrate to an alternative sourplier, if necessary. Certain of our commercial partners currently are financially weak, and we have established contingency plans to mitigate our financial and operating exposure. However, such plans for any key original design manufacturer or supplier that experiences financial instability may not prevent delays or curtailments of deliveries of key products or components. Any delays could adversely affect Gateway's results of operations and financial condition.

Gateway's retail segment sells its products to a limited number of third-party retailers. One retailer, Best Buy, accounted for 37% and 30% of accounts receivable, net as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and 34% and 23% of consolidated net sales in 2005 and 2004, respectively. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of net sales in 2003.

Similarly, Gateway depends on third-party suppliers of its solutions offerings, including financing and internet access. Should any of these sources discontinue the provision of services sold through Gateway or be less willing to offer their services to Gateway for any reason, then this would lead to a reduction in net sales if Gateway is unable to find alternative sources of these services.

Guarantees

During the normal course of business, Gateway makes certain indemnities, commitments and guarantees under which it may be required to make payments in relation to certain transactions. These include: (i) intellectual property indemnities to its customers and licensees in connection with the use, sales and/or license of its products, (ii) indemnities to vendors and service providers pertaining to claims based on the negligence or willful misconduct of Gateway and (iii) indemnities involving the accuracy of representations and warranties in certain contracts. The majority of these indemnities, commitments and guarantees do not provide for any limitation of the maximum potential for future payments Gateway could be obligated to make. In addition, Gateway has made contractual commitments to several employees providing for payments upon the occurrence of certain prescribed events. Gateway has not recorded any liability for these indemnities, commitments and other guarantees.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

6. Income Taxes:

The components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

	2005	2004	2003
Current	\$(10)	\$(14,113)	\$17,565
Deferred			6,000
Provision (Benefit) for income taxes	<u>\$(10)</u>	<u>\$(14,113</u>)	\$23,565

A reconciliation of the provision (benefit) for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the federal statutory income tax rate to income (loss) before income taxes is as follows (in thousands):

	2005	2004	2003
Federal income tax at statutory rate	\$ 2,153	\$(203,665)	\$(171,936)
Increase (decrease) in valuation allowance	(523)	215,514	175,227
State income tax, net of federal benefit	298	(11,638)	(9,825)
Adjustment to prior year State benefit	_		13,570
Change in tax accrual	(185)	(14,113)	3,995
Other, net	(1,753)	(211)	12,534
Provision (Benefit) for income taxes	<u>\$ (10)</u>	\$ (14,113)	\$ 23,565

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities result from temporary differences in the following accounts (in thousands):

	2005	2004
Deferred tax assets:		
Inventory	\$ 8,278	\$ 7,051
Accounts receivable	4,595	6,353
Accrued liabilities	74,085	56,155
Operating loss carryforwards	364,559	396,853
Property, plant and equipment	23,201	15,583
Investments	92,337	94,166
Other	13,617	13,617
Total deferred tax assets	580,672	589,778
Deferred tax liabilities:		
Intangible assets	(43,715)	(47,139)
Prepaid expenses	(3,939)	(12,419)
Property, plant & equipment		—
Other	(36,033)	(32,712)
Total deferred tax liabilities	(83,687)	(92,270)
Valuation allowance	(516,825)	(517,348)
Net deferred tax liabilities	\$ (19,840)	\$ (19,840)

Gateway has federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately \$840 million and \$1.6 billion at the end of 2005, respectively. The federal net operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2023 and the state net operating loss carryforwards expire between 2006 and 2024, depending on each state's law.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Gateway is subject to ongoing audits from various taxing authorities in the jurisdictions in which it does business and believes it has adequately provided for income tax issues not yet resolved. As of December 31, 2005, approximately \$114 million had been accrued to provide for such matters. Based on a consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances, the Company does not believe the ultimate resolution of tax issues for all open tax periods will have a materially adverse effect upon its future results of operations or financial condition.

Gateway has a valuation allowance of approximately \$517 million as of December 31, 2005 for net deferred tax assets because of the uncertainty regarding their realization. Gateway expects to maintain a full valuation allowance on future tax benefits until an appropriate level of profitability is sustained. Until an appropriate level of profitability is sustained, Gateway does not expect to recognize any significant tax benefits from future results of operations.

The company has reached an agreement with the Appeals Office of the Internal Revenue Service with respect to one of the issues under audit. In the fourth quarter of 2005, the benefit recorded from this agreement is \$8.3 million. The agreement is still subject to review of the Joint Committee on Taxation. The company believes the review of the Joint Committee will not adversely impact the recognition of the benefit recorded for this agreement.

7. Preferred Stock and Preferred Share Purchase Rights Plan:

Gateway has 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized for issuance in one or more series, at a par value of \$.01 per share. In conjunction with the distribution of Preferred Share Purchase Rights, Gateway's Board of Directors designated 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock as Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock and reserved such shares for issuance upon exercise of the Preferred Share Purchase Rights. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004 no shares of Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock were outstanding.

On January 19, 2000, the Board of Directors implemented a Preferred Share Purchase Rights Plan (Rights Plan) to protect stockholders' rights in the event of a proposed non-consensual takeover of Gateway believed not to be in the stockholders' best interests. Under the Rights Plan, Gateway declared a dividend of one preferred share purchase right (a Right) for each share of Gateway's common stock outstanding. Pursuant to the Rights Plan, each Right entitles the registered holder to purchase from Gateway a one one-thousandth share of Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock, \$0.01 par value per share, at a purchase price of \$350. In general, with certain exceptions, the Rights are exercisable only if a person or group (an Acquiring Person) acquires beneficial ownership of 15% or more of Gateway's outstanding shares of common stock. Upon exercise, holders, other than the Acquiring Person, will have the right, subject to termination, to receive Gateway's common stock or other securities, cash or other assets having a market value, as defined, equal to twice such purchase price. The Rights, which expire on January 18, 2010, are redeemable in whole, but not in part, at Gateway's option for a price of \$0.001 per Right.

During 1999, Gateway entered into a strategic relationship with America Online, Inc. ("AOL") to leverage certain of the companies' sales and distribution channels and capabilities. Under this agreement, Gateway sold \$200 million of common stock to AOL, issued 50,000 shares of non-voting Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series C Preferred Stock") and issued 50,000 shares of non-voting Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series A Preferred Stock") in exchange for \$600 million in cash and shares of AOL.

On December 22, 2004, Gateway repurchased from AOL all of the outstanding Series A and Series C Preferred Stock plus 2.7 million shares of common stock for \$315.6 million. Consideration included \$280 million in cash to AOL and the application of a \$35.6 million credit towards amounts due to Gateway from AOL. The Company recognized a \$100.1 million gain available for common shareholders on the repurchase of the preferred

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

stock. This gain was included in net income attributable to common shareholders in accordance with EITF Topic D-42 but excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share under the "if-converted" method of SFAS 128, "Earnings Per Shares." As of December 31, 2004, the Series A and C preferred shares were cancelled and the 2.7 million shares of common stock are held in treasury.

8. Stock Option Plans, Employee Stock Purchase Plan and Warrants:

Gateway maintains various stock option plans for its employees. Employee options are generally granted at the fair market value of the related common stock at the date of grant. These options generally vest over a fouryear period from the date of grant. In addition, these options generally expire, if not exercised, ten years from the date of grant. Gateway also maintains option plans for non-employee directors. Option grants to non-employee directors generally have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the related common stock on the date of grant. These options generally vest over one to three-year periods and generally expire, if not exercised, ten years from the date of grant.

Gateway's Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the accelerated vesting of all unvested options held by current employees, directors and officers which had exercise prices greater than \$2.84 per share on October 4, 2005. Because these options had exercise prices significantly in excess of Gateway's stock price of \$2.84 on the date of approval, Gateway believed that these options did not provide sufficient incentive to the employees when compared with the potential future compensation expense that would have been attributable to these options. The acceleration resulted in the recognition of an additional \$54 million pro-forma pre-tax stock based compensation in 2005. In accordance with current accounting guidance, this acceleration eliminates the future compensation expense Gateway would otherwise recognize in its statement of operations with respect to these options once SFAS 123-R becomes effective in 2006.

On October 4, 2005, 2.0 million shares of restricted stock were granted to employees. These shares vest in four equal annual installments. A deferred compensation liability of \$5.6 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2005 balance sheet in association with this restricted stock grant.

For all of Gateway's stock option plans, options for 51,226,000 shares, 21,933,000 shares and 26,110,000 shares of common stock were exercisable as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, with a weighted-average exercise price of \$9.76, \$20.53 and \$24.64, respectively. There were 24,489,000 shares, 21,113,000 shares and 28,470,000 shares of common stock reserved and available for future grant under Gateway's stock option plans as of those dates, respectively.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The following table summarizes activity under the stock option plans for the 2005, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

	Common Stock	Weighted-Average Exercise Price
Outstanding, January 1, 2003	53,438	\$18.68
Granted	12,996	2.88
Exercised	(320)	5.21
Forfeited	(13,384)	16.43
Outstanding, December 31, 2003	52,730	\$15.29
Granted	35,092	5.07
Exercised	(2,959)	3.94
Forfeited	(21,258)	14.18
Outstanding, December 31, 2004	63,605	\$10.50
Granted	11,140	3.49
Exercised	(380)	2.88
Forfeited	(16,624)	11.53
Outstanding, December 31, 2005	57,741	\$ 8.91

The following table summarizes information about Gateway's Common Stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2005 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

		Options Outstanding Options Exercisal		Options Exercisable	
Range of Exercise Prices	Number Outstanding	Weighted-Average Remaining Contractual Life	Weighted-Average Exercise Price	Number Exercisable	Weighted-Average Exercise Price
\$ 0.00-\$ 8.25	45,569	5.68	\$ 4.62	39,066	\$ 5.03
\$ 8.25-\$16.50	4,670	3.95	5.01	4,658	11.74
\$16.50-\$24.75	3,292	3.90	5.82	3,292	19.96
\$24.75-\$33.00	2,279	3.15	31.24	2,279	31.23
\$33.00-\$41.25	27	2.79	35.37	27	35.37
\$41.25-\$49.50	308	3.88	44.74	308	44.75
\$49.50-\$57.75	850	3.86	55.27	850	55.27
\$57.75-\$66.00	14	4.19	62.33	14	62.33
\$66.00-\$74.25	732	4.26	67.38	732	67.38
Totals	57,741	5.28	8.91	51,226	9.76

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The weighted-average fair value per share of options granted during 2005, 2004 and 2003 was \$3.49, \$3.65 and \$1.96, respectively, based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of these options was estimated on the date of grant, with the following weighted-average assumptions used under the Black-Scholes option pricing model:

	For the Year Ended December 31,			
	2005	2004	2003	
Dividend yield	_	_	_	
Risk-free interest rate	4%	4%	4%	
Expected volatility	67%	80%	71%	
Expected option term (after vesting)	3.5 years	3.5 years	3.5 years	

Gateway offered eligible employees the opportunity to acquire shares under an employee stock purchase plan. Under the plan, shares of Gateway's common stock may be purchased at 100% of fair market value around the last business day of each month. Employees could purchase shares having a value up to 20% of their salary, subject to certain statutory limits. Total shares purchased for participating employees under the plan were 38,740 shares, 65,894 shares and 290,227 shares for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The plan was terminated effective December 31, 2005.

Gateway issued warrants to purchase 850,191 shares of common stock at \$5.97 per share in exchange for certain consulting services during 2002. These warrants are outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2005 and expire on April 5, 2006. Prior to 2002, Gateway had issued warrants to purchase 624,750 shares of common stock at \$8.92 per share. These warrants expired on September 4, 2005.

9. Retirement Savings Plan:

Gateway has a 401(k) defined contribution plan, which covers employees who have attained 18 years of age. Employees are eligible to participate on the first day of employment and may contribute up to 50% of their compensation to the plan in any plan year, subject to certain tax limitations. Participants receive a 50% matching employer contribution of up to 6% of their annual eligible compensation which vests over two years. Gateway made matching contributions of \$2.8 million, \$3.6 million and \$5.9 million during 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

10. Acquisition:

On March 11, 2004, Gateway completed its acquisition of eMachines, Inc., a privately-held PC company. The acquisition combined Gateway's Professional and Consumer (now called "Direct") businesses, scale and cash availability with eMachines' low cost structure, profitability, PC market strength, third-party retail network, and international presence. These factors contributed to a purchase price in excess of the fair value of eMachines' net tangible and intangible assets acquired and, as a result, Gateway recorded goodwill in connection with this transaction.

The total purchase price of \$262 million consisted of \$41 million of cash, approximately \$215 million in common stock and direct transaction costs of approximately \$6 million. The consideration included approximately 5.3 million shares of restricted common stock issued to certain members of eMachines' management and contingent upon continued employment of five of these executives through 2005 and two of these executives through 2006. The value of the common stock was determined based on the average market price of Gateway's common stock over the 2-day period prior to and 2-day period following January 30, 2004,

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

the date the acquisition was announced. The value assigned to the restricted shares was approximately \$27 million and will continue to be amortized to operating expense through 2006. The unamortized balance as of December 31, 2005 associated with the restricted shares is shown as Deferred Stock-Based Compensation in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

The purchase price was allocated to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the fair value of eMachines' assets and liabilities as follows (in thousands):

Cash acquired	\$ 3,589
Tangible assets acquired	304,524
Amortizable intangible assets (customer relationships)	48,450
Indefinite-lived intangible assets (trademarks/tradenames)	49,600
Goodwill	155,619
Liabilities assumed	(300,064)
Total consideration	\$ 261,718

The amortizable intangible assets consisting of customer-related intangible assets were assigned an estimated useful life of 10 years which will create approximately \$4.8 million in additional amortization expense annually through 2014. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired and is not tax deductible. Goodwill will not be amortized and will be tested for impairment at least annually or whenever events or circumstances indicate an event of impairment may exist.

Goodwill has been assigned to the Retail reporting segment which is consistent with the segment presentation of eMachines' activities.

The results of operations of eMachines have been included in Gateway's consolidated statements of operations since the completion of the acquisition on March 11, 2004. The following unaudited pro forma information presents a summary of the results of operations of Gateway assuming the acquisition of eMachines occurred on January 1, 2003 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

	2004	2003
Net sales	\$3,984,264	\$4,482,708
Net loss attributable to common stockholders	\$ (463,139)	\$ (531,531)
Basic loss per share	\$ (1.24)	\$ (1.43)
Diluted loss per share	\$ (1.39)	\$ (1.43)

11. Supplemental Cash Flow Information (in thousands):

	2005	2004		2003
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:				
Cash paid during the period for interest	\$6,858	\$ 476	\$	1,255
Cash received during the period for income taxes	\$2,257	\$ 2,144	\$28	86,791
Supplemental disclosure of non cash investing and financing activities:				
Value of common stock issued in acquisition of eMachines	\$ —	\$214,623	\$	
Accretion of Series C preferred stock	\$ —	\$ 2,280	\$	2,298
Value of restricted shares not converted to unrestricted shares upon				
vesting	\$7,489			
Preferred stock surrendered in payment of receivable due from AOL	\$ —	\$ 35,614	\$	

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

12. Segment Data:

For 2003 and the first quarter of 2004, Gateway managed its business by customer class, Consumer and Professional. During the second quarter of 2004 and in connection with the acquisition of eMachines, we formed a new operating segment, Retail, and realigned the Company's historical operating segments, Direct (previously Consumer) and Professional. Management also realigned the methodology used to allocate certain corporate overhead expenses to the operating segments. Gateway's segment sales and operations are delineated by operating segment as follows:

- Direct—includes consumer and small business sales generated via Gateway's web and phone centers as
 well as the contribution of Gateway retail stores through their date of closing on April 9, 2004 and
 certain ongoing revenue streams therefrom;
- **Professional**—includes sales to customers in education (K-12 and higher education), government (federal, state and local), medium-to-large business and third-party resellers;
- Retail—includes sales through third-party retail channels, including eMachines-branded products subsequent to the eMachines acquisition in March 2004, Gateway-branded products sold at retail beginning in the third quarter of 2004 and Gateway-only sales to certain third-party channel customers in 2003;
- International—includes international sales and is currently aggregated within the Retail segment for external reporting purposes as it meets the aggregation criteria of SFAS 131, *Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.*

Revenues from these segments are derived from sales of PC and Non-PC products and services. Gateway evaluates the performance of its segments based on sales and operating income (loss), and does not include segment assets or other income and expense items for management reporting purposes. Segment operating income (loss) includes selling, general and administrative expenses and other overhead charges directly attributable to the segment and excludes certain expenses managed outside the reporting segment, including corporate selling, general and administrative expenses, the Microsoft benefit, depreciation and amortization, and the restructuring, transformation and integration charges discussed in Note 14.

Certain amounts may be reclassed between segments or non-segment operations from time to time as necessary, such as the realignment of segments and allocation of certain corporate overhead expenses to segments in the second quarter of 2004. When this occurs, previously reported amounts are reclassed to conform to current presentation.

The following table presents revenue and operating income information by segment, with 2003 amounts restated for consistency with current presentation (in thousands):

	2	005		2004		2003
Net Sales:						
Direct	\$ 50	08,449	\$1	,049,526	\$1	,991,053
Professional	98	86,943	1	,114,493	1	,199,886
Retail (including International)	2,35	58,669	1	,485,715		211,425
Consolidated net revenues	\$3,854,061)61 \$3,649,734		\$3,402,364	
Operating income (loss):						
Direct	\$ 4	41,601	\$	25,070	\$	(98,546)
Professional		16,937		58,356		78,397
Retail (including International)	12	20,536		43,161		8,473
Segment operating income (loss)	\$ 17	79,074	\$	126,587	\$	(11,676)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The following table presents a reconciliation of segment operating income (loss) to consolidated income (loss) before income taxes, with 2003 amounts restated for consistency with current presentation (in thousands):

	2005	2004	2003
Segment operating income (loss)	\$ 179,074	\$ 126,587	\$ (11,676)
Non-segment operating expenses:			
Restructuring and other charges:			
Cost of goods sold	86	(85,986)	(63,251)
Selling, general and administrative expenses	(13,144)	(391,704)	(128,494)
Other non segment operating expenses	(207,155)	(250,875)	(307,154)
Microsoft benefit	40,500		
Other income (loss), net	6,791	20,247	19,328
Consolidated income (loss) before income taxes	\$ 6,151	<u>\$(581,731</u>)	\$(491,247)

The following table presents net sales by major group of products and services, with 2003 amounts restated for consistency with current presentation (in thousands):

	2005	2004	2003
Desktops	\$1,894,172	\$1,982,141	\$1,648,553
Notebooks	1,191,898	790,159	754,857
Servers and other	57,392	54,474	53,449
Total personal computers (PC)	3,143,462	2,826,774	2,456,859
Non-PC	710,599	822,960	945,505
Consolidated net revenues	\$3,854,061	\$3,649,734	\$3,402,364

The North America region had long-lived assets of \$83 million, \$103 million and \$365 million as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Best Buy accounted for approximately 37% and 30% of accounts receivable, net, as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and 34% and 23% of consolidated net sales for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. No single customer accounted for more than ten percent of accounts receivable, net or consolidated net revenues as of and for the year ended December 31, 2003.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

13. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited):

The following tables contain selected unaudited consolidated quarterly financial data for Gateway for the periods indicated (in thousands, except per share data):

	1st Quarter	2nd Quarter	3rd Quarter	4th Quarter
Year Ended December 31, 2005:				
Net sales	\$ 837,781	\$ 873,112	\$1,018,973	\$1,124,194
Gross profit	80,365	87,414	84,693	69,966
Operating (loss) income	(7,761)	17,620	18,765	(29,263)
Net (loss) income	(5,186)	17,188	15,061	(20,902)
Basic net (loss) income per share	(0.01)	0.05	0.04	(0.06)
Diluted net (loss) income per share	(0.01)	0.05	0.04	(0.05)
Basic weighted average shares outstanding	371,152	371,198	371,166	373,115
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding	371,152	406,568	406,354	409,250
	1st Quarter	2nd Quarter	3rd Quarter	4th Quarter
			Stu Quarter	4th Quarter
Year Ended December 31, 2004:				
Net sales	\$ 868,383	\$ 837,592	\$ 915,132	\$1,028,627
Gross profit	108,329	16,058	92,094	90,591
Operating loss	(187,695)	(337,491)	(61,674)	(15,118)
Net loss	(168,743)	(335,791)	(56,476)	(6,599)
Preferred stock dividends and accretion, net of gain on				
redemption of preferred stock	(2,789)	(2,790)	(2,792)	100,513
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders	(171,532)	(338,581)	(59,268)	93,914
Basic net income (loss) per share	(0.51)	(0.91)	(0.16)	0.25
Diluted net income (loss) per share	(0.51)	(0.91)	(0.16)	(0.02)
Basic weighted average shares outstanding	335,399	372,436	372,940	373,844
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding	335,399	372,436	372,940	398,958

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

14. Restructuring and Other Special Charges:

Gateway recorded \$13 million in net restructuring, transformation and integration charges during 2005. A summary of such charges and the status of all restructuring plans with remaining accrued and unpaid balances follow.

First Quarter 2004 Plan ("Q1 2004 Plan"):

During the first quarter of 2004, Gateway approved a restructuring plan to, among other things, close its remaining 188 retail stores, reduce its workforce and consolidate facilities. Charges of \$19 million in selling, general and administrative expenses were recorded in 2005, relating to this plan. Adjustments of \$7 million and \$2 million were recorded in 2005 primarily related to better than expected recovery on Gateway retail store lease buyouts and changes in certain health care expense assumptions, respectively. The following table summarizes the status of the Q1 2004 Plan as of December 31, 2005 (in millions):

	Accrued December 31, 2004	Charges	Cash Settlements	Non-Cash Settlements	Adjustments	Accrued December 31, 2005
Employee severance	\$ 5	\$ 1	\$ (4)	\$ —	\$ (2)	\$ —
Facilities/capital/operating assets	46	18	(25)	(17)	(7)	15
Contract termination fees	7		(7)			
Total	\$58	\$ 19	\$(36)	\$ (17)	<u>\$ (9)</u>	\$ 15

Prior Restructuring Plans:

Gateway adopted restructuring plans in 2003, 2002 and 2001 to, among other things, reduce its workforce and close certain facilities, including a first quarter 2003 plan to close 76 retail stores. Approximately \$6 million related to lease liabilities was paid during 2005. Adjustments related to better than expected recovery on facility sales, further asset write-downs and changes in certain health care assumptions were recorded during 2005. The following table summarizes the status of these restructuring plans as of December 31, 2005 (in millions):

	Accrued December 31, 2004	Cash Settlements	Adjustments	Accrued December 31, 2005
Employee severance	\$ 2	\$ —	\$(2)	\$ —
Facilities/capital assets	19	(6)	(2)	11
Total	\$21	<u>\$ (6)</u>	<u>\$(4)</u>	\$ 11

Approximate future cash outlays for all restructuring plans, representing primarily lease liabilities on closed facilities, are expected to be \$26 million (approximately \$6.2 million on a net basis after including anticipated sublease recoveries and asset dispositions).

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The following table outlines the anticipated future cash outlays, including amounts included in the lease payment tables provided in Note 5, associated with all restructuring plans (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31:

2006	\$ 3,399
2007	(6,893)
2008	3,463
2009	2,668
2010	2,323
Thereafter	1,258
Total accrued restructuring liability	\$ 6,218

15. Related Party Transactions:

Through its acquisition of eMachines, Gateway acquired preferred stock in Alorica, Inc. that is convertible into approximately 17% of the common stock of Alorica, a company that provides reverse logistics, product registration, technical support, parts sales, PC refurbishing and other related services to Gateway and its customers. Between April 2004 and May 2005, the majority common stock shareholder of Alorica, Andy Lee, was employed as Gateway's Senior Vice President of Information Technology/Web. Gateway implemented additional procedures to provide for independent senior management review of any commercial relationships between Gateway and Alorica. Gateway paid approximately \$54.3 million, \$42.5 million and \$0.5 million for the services described above during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

16. Subsequent Events:

Hewlett-Packard

On February 23, 2006, Gateway and Hewlett-Packard ("H-P") signed a Binding Term Sheet in which both parties agreed to cross-license each other's patent portfolios for a period of seven years and also agreed to dismiss all claims in litigation against the other company. The Binding Term Sheet provides that the parties will enter into a definitive cross-license and settlement agreement and that Gateway will pay H-P \$25 million when the definitive agreement is executed (expected in March 2006) with a second and final payment of \$22 million due one year later (expected March 2007). Of the \$47 million of total consideration, Gateway attributed \$16.7 million to resolving, without admission of fault, allegations of past patent portfolio infringement, recognizing such cost as a component of cost of goods sold in 2005. The remaining \$30.3 million will be attributed to the value of the future seven year cross-licensing agreement. Gateway will begin recognizing the cost associated with the future cross-licensing agreement in cost of goods sold, beginning in 2006.

Sales, Income and Franchise Tax Reserves

Gateway believes it is probable that a liability had been incurred as of December 31, 2005, in a sales, income and franchise tax dispute as a result of a court decision in a similar and non-related party case in February 2006. Accordingly, Gateway has recorded a reserve of \$25 million in selling, general and administrative expense and \$2 million in income tax expense related to Gateway's estimate of prior years tax liability plus interest for this dispute.

SCHEDULE II-VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005

(in thousands)

	Balance at Beginning of Period	Additions Charged to Expense	Deductions from Allowance	Balance at End of Period
<i>Year ended December 31, 2003:</i> Allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable	\$5,120	\$11,297	\$(10,809)	\$5,608
<i>Year ended December 31, 2004:</i> Allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable	\$5,608	\$11,198	\$(13,224)	\$3,582
Year ended December 31, 2005: Allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable	\$3,582	\$ 5,529	<u>\$ (6,859</u>)	\$2,252

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On March 4, 2004, Gateway was notified by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Gateway's independent accountant at that time, that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP declined to stand for re-election for the year ended December 31, 2004. The reports of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP on Gateway's financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles. In connection with its audits of Gateway's financial statements for those years and through March 4, 2004, there had been no disagreements with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP would have caused PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to make reference thereto in its report on Gateway's financial statements for such years.

On April 7, 2004, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors appointed and engaged Deloitte & Touche LLP as Gateway's independent registered public accounting firm to audit Gateway's financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004. During the two fiscal years leading up to and through April 7, 2004, Gateway had not consulted with Deloitte & Touche LLP regarding either (i) the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on Gateway's financial statements or (ii) any matter that was either the subject of a disagreement or a reportable event (as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Form 8-K). For both 2004 and 2005, Deloitte & Touche LLP was appointed as Gateway's independent registered public accounting firm. This appointment was also ratified by Gateway's stockholders. The Audit Committee has again appointed Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of Gateway for 2006, subject to stockholder approval.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer ("CEO") and chief financial officer ("CFO"), we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report (the "Evaluation Date").

The evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures was performed in conjunction with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors and included a review of whether there were any significant deficiencies in the design or operation of such controls and procedures, material weaknesses in such controls and procedures, any corrective actions taken with regard to such deficiencies and weaknesses and any fraud involving management or other employees with a significant role in such controls and procedures.

Based on this evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that as of the Evaluation Date our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that the information relating to Gateway, including our consolidated subsidiaries, required to be disclosed in our Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") reports (i) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and (ii) is accumulated and communicated to Gateway's management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our CEO and CFO, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting based on the framework in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO"). Based on our evaluation under the framework in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework*, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2005. As a result of such evaluation, there were no significant changes in our internal controls over financial reporting identified during the most recent fiscal year that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Our management's assessment of the design and effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Gateway, Inc.

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying *Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting*, appearing in Item 9a, that Gateway, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework* issued by the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005 of the Company and our report dated March 14, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and the financial statement schedule.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Costa Mesa, California March 14, 2006

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information regarding our directors and executive officers is to be incorporated by reference from Gateway's 2006 Proxy Statement, which is to be filed with the Securities Exchange Commission not later than April 30, 2006 (120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K).

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information regarding the compensation of our directors and executive officers is to be incorporated by reference from Gateway's 2006 Proxy Statement, which is to be filed with the Securities Exchange Commission not later than April 30, 2006 (120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K).

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information regarding ownership of our common stock by certain persons is to be incorporated by reference from Gateway's 2006 Proxy Statement, which is to be filed with the Securities Exchange Commission not later than April 30, 2006 (120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K).

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table summarizes information, as of December 31, 2005, relating to equity compensation plans of Gateway pursuant to which grants of options, warrants or other rights to acquire shares may be granted from time to time.

Plan category	(a) Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights (in millions)	(b) Weighted-average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights	(c) Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (in millions, excluding securities reflected in column(a))
Equity compensation plans approved by security			
holders(1)	47.2	\$9.22	24.5
Equity compensation plans not approved by security			
holders(2)(3)	10.5	\$7.51	
Total	57.7	\$8.91	24.5

 These plans are Gateway's 1993 Stock Option Plan, 1993 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, 1996 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, 1996 Long-Term Incentive Equity Plan and 2000 Equity Incentive Plan.

(2) Gateway's sole equity compensation plan not previously submitted to stockholders for approval is our 2000 Employee Equity Incentive Plan, which was only used as an interim vehicle prior to the submission of our 2000 Equity Incentive Plan for stockholder approval. The 2000 Employee Equity Incentive Plan, which covered approximately 800,000 common stock shares at a weighted average exercise price of \$56.67, was terminated upon receiving such stockholder approval. (3) Includes a stock option grant to purchase 10 million shares of Gateway common stock, issued at a per share exercise price of \$5.19. This stock option was granted to Wayne R. Inouye in connection with him joining Gateway as our Chief Executive Officer upon Gateway's acquisition of eMachines on March 11, 2004. The vesting of this stock option grant was accelerated, along with all other stock options that had exercise prices in excess of the market price on October 4, 2005. Mr. Inouye resigned as Gateway's Chief Executive Officer and President on February 8, 2006.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Information regarding relationships or transactions between our affiliates and us is to be incorporated by reference from Gateway's 2006 Proxy Statement, which is to be filed with the Securities Exchange Commission not later than April 30, 2006 (120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K).

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information regarding principal accountant fees and services is to be incorporated by reference from Gateway's 2006 Proxy Statement, which is to be filed with the Securities Exchange Commission not later than April 30, 2006 (120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K).

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this Report:

(1) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule. See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule at Item 8 on Page 43 of this Report.

(2) Exhibits. Exhibits identified below as on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission are incorporated herein by reference as exhibits hereto.

Exhibit		Incorporated by Reference		
Number	Exhibit Description	Form	Exhibit(s)	Filing Date
2.1	Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of January 30, 2004, by and among Gateway, Inc., Gateway Sub, LLC, Gateway Sub II, LLC and EM Holdings, Inc.	8-K	2.1	February 3, 2004
3.1	Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Gateway, Inc., as amended	10-K	3.1	February 12, 2002
3.2	Amended and Restated Bylaws of Gateway, Inc.	8-K	3.2	October 31, 2005
3.3	Rights Agreement, dated as of January 19, 2000, between Gateway, Inc. and UMB Bank, N.A., as Rights Agent, including all exhibits thereto.	8-A	1.0	February 4, 2000
4.1	Registration Agreement dated February 22, 1991 between Gateway, Inc., Theodore W. Waitt and Norman W. Waitt, Jr. as the sole trustee and sole beneficiary of the Norman W. Waitt, Jr. S Corp. Trust, together with Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Agreement dated as of October 19, 1993*	S-1	10.11	1993
4.2	Form of Stockholders' and Registration Rights Agreement, by and among Gateway, Inc., Mr. Lap Shun (John) Hui and certain Gateway, Inc. stock recipients	8-K	2.1	February 3, 2004 (Exhibit B within Exhibit 2.1)
4.3	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 22, 2005, between Theodore W. Waitt and Gateway, Inc.	8-K	10.1	March 25, 2005
4.4	Indenture between Gateway, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (including form of 1.50% Senior Convertible Notes due 2009 and form of 2.00% Senior Convertible Notes due 2011), dated as of December 21, 2004	8-K	10.1	December 21, 2004
10.1	Tax Indemnification Agreement dated as of December 6, 1993 between Gateway, Inc., and Theodore W. Waitt and the Norman W. Waitt, Jr. S Corp. Trust.*	10-K	10.1	March 31, 1994

Exhibit		Incorporated		porated by Reference
Number	Exhibit Description	Form	Exhibit(s)	Filing Date
10.2	Indemnification Agreement dated as of December 6, 1994 between Gateway, Inc., and Theodore W. Waitt.*	10-K	10.2	March 31, 1995
10.3	Gateway, Inc. 1993 Stock Option Plan for Executives and Key Employees*	S-1	10.6	1993
10.4	Gateway, Inc. 1993 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan and Form of Option Grant Letter*	S-1	10.8	1993
10.5	Gateway, Inc. 1996 Long-Term Incentive Equity Plan, as amended and restated*	10-K	10.7	February 12, 2002
10.6	Gateway, Inc. 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated*	10-Q	10.18	August 14, 2000
10.7	Gateway, Inc 1996 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan as amended.*	10-Q	10.20	August 14, 1998
10.8	Form of Gateway, Inc. Restricted Stock Grant Notice*	10-Q	10.2	November 8, 2005
10.9	Gateway, Inc. Management Incentive Plan, as amended*	10-Q	10.10	July 24, 2001
10.10	Gateway, Inc. 1995 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended*	10-Q	10.19	August 16, 1999
10.11	Change in Control Compensation Plan, as amended*	10 - K	10.12	April 15, 2003
10.12	Employment Agreement, dated as of January 30, 2004, by and between Wayne R. Inouye and Gateway, Inc.*	10-K	10.17	February 27, 2004
10.13	Non-Competition Agreement, dated as of January 30, 2004, by and between Mr. Lap Shun (John) Hui and Gateway, Inc.	10-K	10.18	February 27, 2004
10.14	Non-Competition Agreement, dated as of January 30, 2004, by and between Mr. Wayne R. Inouye and Gateway, Inc.*	10-K	10.19	February 27, 2004
10.15	Credit Agreement dated October 30, 2004, among Gateway, Inc, Gateway Professional LLC, Gateway Manufacturing LLC, eMachines, Inc.; other Credit Parties signing the Credit Agreement; General Electric Capital Corporation; and other Lenders signing the Credit Agreement	8-K	10.1	November 2, 2004
10.16	Stock Purchase Agreement between America Online, Inc. and Gateway, Inc. dated as of November 1, 2004	8-K	10.1	November 5, 2004
10.17	Stock Transfers and Future Payments Agreement between America Online, Inc. and Gateway, Inc. dated as of November 1, 2004	8-K	10.2	November 5, 2004

	Incorporated by Reference		
Exhibit Description	Form	Exhibit(s)	Filing Date
Marketing, Development and Settlement Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2005, by and between Microsoft Corporation and Gateway, Inc.	10-Q	10.1	August 15, 2005
Letter from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to the Securities and Exchange Commission dated March 11, 2004 regarding its agreement with the statements made in this report on Form 8-K	8-K	16(a)	March 11, 2004
List of subsidiaries			Filed herewith
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP			Filed herewith
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP			Filed herewith
Powers of attorney			Included herein on the signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
Certification by CEO pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.			Filed herewith
Certification by CFO pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.			Filed herewith
Certification by CEO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.			Furnished herewith
Certification by CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.			Furnished herewith
	Marketing, Development and Settlement Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2005, by and between Microsoft Corporation and Gateway, Inc. Letter from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to the Securities and Exchange Commission dated March 11, 2004 regarding its agreement with the statements made in this report on Form 8-K List of subsidiaries Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Powers of attorney Certification by CEO pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Certification by CFO pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Certification by CEO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.	Marketing, Development and Settlement10-QAgreement, dated as of April 7, 2005, by and between Microsoft Corporation and Gateway, Inc.8-KLetter from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to the Securities and Exchange Commission dated March 11, 2004 regarding its agreement with the statements made in this report on Form 8-K8-KList of subsidiaries Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Powers of attorney8-KCertification by CEO pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.8-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.	Exhibit DescriptionFormExhibit(s)Marketing, Development and Settlement Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2005, by and between Microsoft Corporation and Gateway, Inc.10-Q10.1Letter from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to the Securities and Exchange Commission dated March 11, 2004 regarding its agreement with the statements made in this report on Form 8-K8-K16(a)List of subsidiariesConsent of Deloitte & Touche LLP Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP810-QPowers of attorneyCertification by CEO pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.10-1Certification by CEO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.10-1

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan.

Gateway will furnish upon request any exhibit described above upon payment of Gateway's reasonable expenses for furnishing such exhibit.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on March 14, 2006.

GATEWAY, INC.

By: /s/ JOHN P. GOLDSBERRY

John P. Goldsberry Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer)

By: /s/ NEAL E. WEST Neal E. West Vice President and Controller (principal accounting officer)

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints John P. Goldsberry, Michael R. Tyler and Robert M. Saman, or any one of them, his attorney-in-fact, for such person in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this report and to file the same, with exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities indicated as of March 14, 2006:

Signature	Title
/s/ RICHARD D. SNYDER Richard D. Snyder	Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ John P. Goldsberry	Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
John P. Goldsberry	(Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Neal E. West	Vice President and Controller
Neal E. West	(Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Quincy L. Allen	Director
Quincy L. Allen	
/s/ Charles G. Carey	Director
Charles G. Carey	
/s/ Janet M. Clarke	Director
Janet M. Clarke	
/s/ George H. Krauss	Director
George H. Krauss	
/s/ Douglas L. Lacey	Director
Douglas L. Lacey	
/s/ Joseph G. Parham, Jr.	Director
Joseph G. Parham, Jr.	

CERTIFICATION OF CEO PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Richard D. Snyder, Chief Executive Officer of Gateway, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Gateway, Inc. (the "registrant");

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2006

/s/ RICHARD D. SNYDER

Richard D. Snyder Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION OF CFO PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John P. Goldsberry, Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer of Gateway, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Gateway, Inc. (the "registrant");

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2006

/s/ JOHN P. GOLDSBERRY

John P. Goldsberry Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification of CEO Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), the undersigned officer of Gateway, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Gateway"), does hereby certify that:

a) The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 (the "Form 10-K") of Gateway fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

b) The information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Gateway.

Dated: March 14, 2006

By: ______/s/ RICHARD D. SNYDER

Richard D. Snyder Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification of CFO Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), the undersigned officer of Gateway, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Gateway"), does hereby certify that:

a) The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 (the "Form 10-K") of Gateway fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

b) The information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Gateway.

Dated: March 14, 2006

By: /s/ JOHN P. GOLDSBERRY

John P. Goldsberry Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Gateway Headquarters

Gateway, Inc.

7565 Irvine Center Drive Irvine, CA 92618-2930 **Telephone:** 949-471-7000

Company Information

Copies of the Gateway Annual Report and Form 10-K for the fiscal year 2005 are available to shareholders without charge. If you wish to receive these reports or other company information, please contact:

Investor Relations

Telephone: 800-846-4503 Email: investor.relations@gateway.com Web: http://www.gateway.com/ir/index.shtml

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of the shareholders of Gateway will be held at 9:00 a.m. on Wednesday, May 17, 2006 at the Westin South Coast Plaza, 686 Anton Blvd., Costa Mesa, California, 92626.

Transfer Agent

If you have questions about stock certificates, change of address, consolidation of accounts, transfer of ownership or other stock matters, please contact Gateway's transfer agent:

UMB Bank, N.A.

Securities Transfer Division P.O. Box 410064 Kansas City, MO 64141-0064 **Telephone:** 800-884-4225 **Fax:** 816-221-0438 **Email:** sec_xfer@umb.com

CEO and CFO Certifications

Gateway's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have provided all certifications required under Securities and Exchange Commission regulations with respect to the financial information and disclosures in this Annual Report. The certifications are available as exhibits to Gateway's Form 10-K and 10-Q reports. In addition, Gateway's Chief Executive Officer has filed with the New York Stock Exchange a certification that, to the best of his knowledge, Gateway is in compliance with all corporate governance listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS



Richard D. Snyder Chairman of the Board Interim CEO Gateway, Inc.



Quincy L. Allen Corporate Vice President Xerox Corporation

President Xerox Production System Group



Charles G. Carey CEO, President and Director The Direct TV Group



Janet M. Clarke President and Founder Clarke Littlefield, LLC



George H. Krauss Of Counsel Kutak Rock, LLC



Douglas L. Lacey Partner Nichols, Rise and Company, LLP



Joseph G. Parham, Jr. Senior Vice President Acuity Brands, Inc.



1-800-GATEWAY | GATEWAY.COM

Reprinted May 2006